Fen|anPublic Document Pack |oo%

CAMBRIDGESHIRE pepple
driven

Fenland District Council

AGENDA

CABINET Committee Officer: Linda Albon

Tel: 01354 622424
FRIDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2025 e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk
2.00 PM

COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL,
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH

1 To receive apologies for absence
2 Previous Minutes (Pages 3 - 4)
To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held 15 September 2025.

3 To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified

4 To receive members' declaration of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct or
any interest under the Code of Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to
be discussed at the meeting

5 Fenland Inspire! - Wisbech Park Orchard (Pages 5 - 8)

To provide information regarding the potential removal of the Wisbech Park Orchard
from the area of the old bowling green adjacent to the Pavilion.

6 Extension of the Norfolk Street Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) (Pages 9 -
36)

To extend the Norfolk Street passageway PSPO by a further 3 years.

7 Acceptance of £1.5m Pride in Place Impact Fund Allocation (Pages 37 - 46)

Fenland District Council has been awarded £1.5m from the Pride in Place Impact
Fund to support regeneration initiatives across the district. This report seeks approval

Fenland District Council  Fenland Hall ® County Road e March o Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ
Telephone: 01354 654321 o Textphone: 01354 622213

"
Email: info@fenland.gov.uk e Website: www.fenland.gov.uk X

&\ INVESTORS
%, IN PEOPLE



to accept the funding and delegate authority to the S151 Officer to enter all
necessary legal and financial arrangements to secure and manage the funding.

8 FDC Endorsement of Plan for Neighbourhoods Regeneration Plan for Wisbech
(Pages 47 - 192)

This report seeks Cabinet endorsement of the Wisbech Town Board Plan for the
Neighbourhoods Regeneration Plan.

9 Manor Leisure Centre - Fenland Inspire! Redevelopment Project Update (Pages 193
- 234)

To update Cabinet regarding progress of the Manor Leisure Centre redevelopment
project.

10 Wisbech High Street Update (Pages 235 - 236)
To provide Cabinet with a monthly update regarding the ongoing construction work at
24 High Street, Wisbech and the pre-construction design and planning work for 11-12
High Street, Wisbech.

11 Draft 6 Month Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 237 - 238)
For information purposes.

12 Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent

CONFIDENTIAL - ITEMS COMPRISING EXEMPT INFORMATION

To exclude the public (including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for
the following proposition to be moved and adopted: "that the public be excluded from the
meeting for Items which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part | of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended) as indicated."

13 Port Operations Update Report (Confidential) (Pages 239 - 286)
Thursday, 30 October 2025
Members: Councillor C Boden (Chairman), Councillor Mrs J French (Vice-Chairman), Councillor

G Christy, Councillor S Count, Councillor Miss S Hoy, Councillor S Imafidon, Councillor
Mrs D Laws, Councillor C Seaton, Councillor S Tierney and Councillor S Wallwork



Agenda Item 2

CABINET -enland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

MONDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2025 - 2.00 PM L .
Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor C Boden (Chairman), Councillor Mrs J French (Vice-Chairman), Councillor
G Christy, Councillor S Count, Councillor Miss S Hoy, Councillor S Imafidon, Councillor
Mrs D Laws, Councillor C Seaton, Councillor S Tierney and Councillor S Wallwork

CAB17/25 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The public minutes of the meetings held at 2pm and 5pm on 21 July 2025 were agreed and
signed.

CAB18/25 INVESTMENT BOARD UPDATE AND REVIEW OF THE COMMERCIAL AND
INVESTMENT STRATEGY

Members considered the Investment Board update and Review of the Commercial and Investment
Strategy report presented by Councillor Boden.

Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and AGREED to note
the report from the Investment Board and that the ongoing review of the current
Commercial and Investment Strategy as determined by the constitution and delegated to
the S151 officer is still currently deferred.

CAB19/25 REFUSE, RECYCLING AND CLEANSING HGV FLEET REPLACEMENT

Members considered the Refuse, Recycling and Cleansing HGV Fleet Replacement report
presented by Councillor Tierney.

e Councillor Mrs French expressed her support for the report, recalling a difficult time when
several refuse vehicles broke down one Christmas period. She said the fleet must be kept up to
date to prevent such an unfortunate situation occurring again.

e Councillor Hoy agreed, saying FDC provides an exemplary refuse and cleansing service which
is the best of the four authorities she has worked for.

e Councillor Boden reaffirmed the work of the service at both managerial and operative level and
agreed it is one of the better local authorities for provision of this service.

e Councillor Tierney thanked members for their support, saying the authority needs to plan for the
future. The council can get at least ten years usage out of its refuse vehicles and up to fifteen
for smaller ones. This is a vital service for Fenland, and it is not an unnecessary spending of
money.

Proposed by Councillor Tierney, seconded by Councillor Boden and AGREED to:

e recommend to Council to approve the procurement of the 4 HGV vehicles for delivery
April 2026 as part of the ongoing Fleet Replacement Plan.

e recommend to Council this vehicle and capital requirement for 2027/28 and 2028/29 and
for these requirements to be added to the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

e recommend to Council the delegation of the procurement of these vehicles to the
corporate director with responsibility for Environmental Services, through existing
procurement frameworks or mini tender as required, in consultation with the Portfolio

Page 3



Holder responsible for street sweeping, recycling and refuse collection

¢ note that the total value of required vehicles that will need to be ordered within the next
24 months is expected to be in the region of £2,560,000. The Chief Finance Officer will
determine the best value means of financing these necessary vehicles.

CAB20/25 DRAFT 6 MONTH CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Councillor Mrs French asked that Civil Parking Enforcement be added to the Forward Plan.

Councillor Boden said that Wisbech Park needs to come before Cabinet and asked that officers be
made aware of details once available so it can be added to the Plan. Also, a further meeting of
both Cabinet and Council to discuss Local Government Reorganisation needs to be arranged
before 28" November which is the deadline for local authorities to submit their final proposals to
Government.

CAB21/25 CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES

The confidential minutes of the meeting held at 2pm on 21 July 2025 were agreed and signed.

2.13 pm Chairman

Page 4



Agen
No:

Agenda Iltem 5

daltem |5 ﬁFenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date:

7 November 2025

Report Title: Fenland Inspire! - Wisbech Park Orchard

2.2

2.3

3.1
3.2

3.3

3.4

Purpose / Summary

To provide information regarding the potential removal of the Wisbech Park
Orchard from the area of the old bowling green adjacent to the Pavilion.

Key Issues and Background

The orchard was originally a project initiated by the Wisbech in Bloom Chair
and coordinated by a previous FDC Parks Manager. The trees and trellis were
maintained by the In Bloom volunteers with the support of the FDC
contractors who cut the grass pathways.

With the sad passing of the Chairman in 2023, the group continued to
maintain the area to a lesser extent, finally culminating during spring 2025
when the current Chair of Wisbech in Bloom handed back responsibility for
the orchard to FDC Open Spaces Team as the In Bloom group no longer had
the capacity to maintain either the orchard or the two large beds in the
woodland area.

Following the completion of the Pavilion, the orchard area has seen an
increase in Antisocial Behaviour (ASB), particularly in the central area where
people congregate to drink. Additionally, drug paraphernalia has also been
found in this space. Further the apples from the tree are being used as
projectiles towards the pavilion building and passing members of the public.

Recommendations
That Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

That Cabinet notes that the local In Bloom group who began the orchard
project no longer have the capacity to maintain it.

That Cabinet recognises the potential negative publicity regarding the removal
of the orchard, whilst also acknowledging the positive impact the orchard
removal will have on reducing antisocial behaviour in Wisbech Park and
enabling alternative use of the space.

That Cabinet instructs officers to remove the orchard within Wisbech Park due
to the increasing antisocial behaviour taking place and to make a donation of
fruit trees to the Wisbech Community Orchard.

Page 5



Wards Affected Wisbech Wards

Forward Plan N/A

Reference

Portfolio Holder Clir Jan French Deputy Leader of the Council and
Portfolio Holder for Parks and Open
Spaces

Report Originators Kevin Wilkins Open Spaces Contract Manager

Phil Hughes Head of Leisure Services
Contact Officers Phil Hughes Head of Leisure Services

Background Papers N/A

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES

The Wisbech Park orchard was a project initiated by the Wisbech in Bloom
and coordinated by a previous FDC Parks Manager about a decade ago to
reflect the heritage of the town with regard to orchards.

The trees and trellis have been maintained by the In Bloom volunteers for the
past decade with the support of the FDC contractors who cut the grass
pathways. More recently, with the In Bloom group decreasing in number, they
have ‘handed back’ maintenance of the orchard to FDC.

Due to the persistent anti-social behaviour resulting from the orchard’s ability
to hide people it is intended to remove the orchard. Additionally, this prime
location in the centre of the Park is under consideration for a Fenland Inspire!
project, with the orchard removal being initial facilitating work.

This work will include the removal of all trees, trellis and support wires with
reinstatement works to the bowls green area so to leave it in a seeded and
level condition and available for use in potential Fenland Inspire Projects.

Whilst the careful removal and then the replanting of the trees at the Wisbech
Community Orchard Site has been considered, the actual likelihood
transplanted trees survival is relatively low. To mitigate the removal of the
trees, it is proposed that the Council supplies locally purchased fruit tree stock
to the Wisbech Community Orchard and other community spaces as part of
the overall scheme. This approach will ensure that trees are growing
elsewhere, reducing the risk of transplanted trees failing following
considerable cost to remove and replant, and this approach will also reduce
the overall cost of this project.

Capital costs for the scheme are in the region of £10,000 to be funded from
the Fenland Inspire! programme as this forms facilitating work for the Wisbech
Park bowls green proposal for the site.

Page 6



5.2

6.2

9.2
9.3

9.4

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

With the increased ASB and Wisbech in Bloom handing responsibility of
future maintenance and stewardship of the site, it is felt that the removal
would serve the best long-term interests of the park.

It is planted on the original site of bowls green and, prior to the successful
funding application and construction of the pavilion which is adjacent, with
further projects planned for the area and the orchard no longer being

community maintained, it now presents a significant hurdle to these works.

IMPLICATIONS

It is likely that in the short term there will be negative press and social media
cover regarding this change. Community feedback will also be negative during
and following the removal even with the FDC communications team’s pre-
project information.

Whilst the Friends Group and Wisbech In Bloom are aware of the plans for
removal have been floated, FDC can expect negative feedback on social
media/press regardless of sound reasons given for its removal. The mitigation
of supplying new tree stock to the community orchard may lessen this to
some extent

CONSULTATION

Local elected Members are aware of the ASB taking place in the park and are
also committed to improving community facilities within the park.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The only alternative option is for the orchard to remain. This option would
mean continued ASB from within the orchard and no potential to use this
space for alternative, more desired, community facilities.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
No legal implications.

Financial Implications

The cost of this project will be in the region of £10,000, funded by a capital
project.

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28.

Page 7



9.5

9.6

Although there are currently many uncertainties regarding the budget for

2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant structural deficit which the
Council will need to address

Equality Implications
Not applicable.

Page 8



No:

Agenda Item 6 Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Agenda Iltem 6

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date: 7 November 2025
cor . Extension of the Norfolk Street Public Spaces Protection Order
Report Title:
(PSPO)

1 Purpose / Summary

1.1 To extend the Norfolk Street passageway PSPO by a further 3 years.
Key Issues

2.1 As per Appendix One, there is a PSPO in place which prevents access
through a passageway located between Norfolk Street and West Street in
Wisbech.

2.2  This Order expires on the 18" July 2026

2.3 PSPOs are made under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act
2014.

2.4  There is no cost to the Council in extending this Order save for Officer time
and printing costs.

2.5 A Consultation has been carried out, including formal letters to identified
statutory consultees and a wider public survey which ran between August 26"
- 14t September 2025.

2.6 A summary of the public consultation is at Appendix Two

2.7  Consultation was undertaken in accordance with legislation, and the following
were consulted:
e The Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire Constabulary (statutory)
e Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Inspector
e The Police and Crime Commissioner of Cambridgeshire (statutory)
e Cambridgeshire County Council Highway
e Wisbech Town Council
e District Ward Councillors
e Wisbech Fire and Rescue
e Businesses in and around the affected area
e Residents and landlords in and around the affected area

2.8 The above consultees were all in favour of extending the Order — a summary

can be found at Appendix Two.

Page 9



2.9 Legal advice has been received to ensure the process followed accords with
legislation.

2.10 The legislation can be found at Chapter 2 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014.

2.11 Appendix Three is the wording of the proposed Order.

2.12 Following legal advice, the wording has been altered to the proposed Order in
comparison to the original Order. This has been highlighted in yellow within
Appendix Three. This change does not affect the proposed renewal as no
changes have been made to the prohibitions or requirements.

2.13 If the Order is extended, we will have to publicise the approved extension and
notify Wisbech Town Council and Cambridgeshire County Council.

3 Recommendations

3.1 To approve the extension of the PSPO for a further 3-year period which
prevents access through a passageway located between Norfolk Street and
West Street in Wisbech.

Wards Affected Wisbech South
Forward Plan KEY/18SEPT25/01
Reference

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Susan Wallwork

Report Originator(s) Niamh Webb nwebb@fenland.gov.uk
Alan Boughen aboughen@fenland.gov.uk
Contact Officer(s) Niamh Webb
Alan Boughen
Dan Horn dhorn@fenland.gov.uk
Carol Pilson cpilson@fenland.gov.uk

Background Papers Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
(legislation.gov.uk)

Report:

4 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES

4.1  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, hereafter known as
the Act, came into effect on 20th October 2014 making a number of changes
to the law on anti-social behaviour. A key change was the introduction of
PSPOs to replace DPPOs, dog control orders and gating orders in addition to
a range of other behaviours that local authorities can now regulate in public
spaces

Page 10



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 gives power to Local
Authorities to create PSPOs if they are satisfied that activities carried on in a
public place within the authority’s area have had a detrimental effect on the
quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely that activities will be carried
on in a public place within that area and that they will have such an effect. The
second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities is, or is
likely to be persistent, unreasonable and justifies the introduction of the Order.

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) are intended to deal with a particular
nuisance or problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local
community’s qualify of life, by imposing conditions on the use of that area
which apply to everyone. They are designed to ensure the law-abiding
majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour

PSPOs can be drafted based on the specific issues being faced in a particular
public space and can include multiple restrictions and requirements in one
Order. Examples of restrictions might include:

- controlling dogs

- restricting access to an area
- misuse of substances

- tackling noise nuisance

- tackling unreasonable behaviour having a detrimental effect on the
community

Section 60(2) of the Act states: Before the time when a public spaces
protection order is due to expire, the local authority that made the order may
extend the period for which it has effect if satisfied on reasonable grounds that
doing so is necessary to prevent—

(a)occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the
order, or

(b)an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that
time.

Based on the response of the community consultation, Fenland District
Council are satisfied that the original associated anti-social behaviour, namely
litter, urination, defecation, drugs, drinking and sexual activity, has reduced
within the passageway, because of the PSPO. If the PSPO were not to be
renewed, anti-social behaviour would likely return.

A PSPO can be extended for up to 3 years. Legislation requires there to be a
review before the 3-year period expires. The outcome of the review can lead
to a renewal, amendment or removal of the existing PSPO. It is proposed that
the PSPO sought is made for a full 3-year period and with no amendments to
the restrictions.

Page 11



5.2

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

The passageway had been identified as a location for anti-social behaviour
including urination, defecation and litter, the impact of which was having a
detrimental impact upon the local community.

Following our community consultation with local businesses, residents and
landlords, and enquiries conducted with Fenland District Council Streetscene
team the PSPO was introduced in July 2023. The introduction of the PSPO
has mostly prevented the associated anti-social behaviour from continuing.
However, litter continues to be a nuisance at the gate entrance, albeit not at
the same level of severity as compared to prior to the Order coming into
place. The extension of the Order is believed necessary, as prescribed in
points (a) & (b) of Section 60(1) above, to prevent occurrence or recurrence or
an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities.

CONSULTATION
Legislation states who must and could be consulted. This is stated within S.72

of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.
Consultation was conducted with the following:

e Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire Constabulary (statutory)
e Police and Crime Commissioner (statutory)

e Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Inspector

e Wisbech Town Council

e District Ward Councillors

e Wisbech Fire and Rescue

e Cambridgeshire County Council Highways

Further evidence was provided by the Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Team

and FDC Streetscene, this can be found within Appendix Two.

Residents (and their landlords) and local businesses within the locality were
written to about the proposed extension and invited to provide their

comments.

Six local businesses were visited in person by members of staff from the
Community Safety Team to discuss the proposed renewal and seek their
views on whether they support this.

Page 12



6.6

6.7
6.8

7.2

7.3

8.1
8.2

8.3
8.4

8.5

A survey was placed on the FDC website and shared on the FDC Facebook
page from 26/09/2025 until the 14/09/2025, inviting views on the proposal.

A summary of responses can be found in Appendix Two.
Out of 43 responses, 100% supported the extension of the PSPO.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The other options are to allow the Order to expire or to extend with an
amendment.

If the Order were allowed to expire then we would likely see a return of the
associated anti-social behaviour to the passageway.

It is not felt necessary to seek an amendment to the Order based upon
consultation feedback, save for those suggested by our legal advisers.

IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The legal implications are as detailed within the main body of the

report. Fenland District Council is statutorily empowered to take the action
proposed and has fulfilled its wider obligations by undertaking a period of
consultation as well as seeking input from legal advisers at the
commencement of the renewal process of putting this proposal together for
consideration.

Financial Implications
None save for Officer’s time and printing costs for the consultation.

Equality Implications
EIA at Appendix Four

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 — 2023 signed Order (not exempt)
Appendix 1a — Map (not exempt)

Appendix 1b — Map (not exempt)

Appendix 2 — Consultation Summary (not exempt)
Appendix 3 — Draft Order (not exempt)

Appendix 4 — EIA (not exempt)

Page 13



APPENDIX 1

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL (GATING PSPO) Wisbech.
PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2023

Fenland District Council (‘the Council’) in exercise of its powers pursuant to Section 59, and
72 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’) hereby makes the
following Order (‘the Order’) :-

1. This Order shall come into operationon | "?55&% DO i‘w\ 2023 and shall have effect
for a period
of 3 years from that date.

2. This Order relates to the areas as shown hatched in red on the attached Plans in
Schedules 1 (the ‘Restricted Area’); and applies to all the land which is open to the air and to
which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without payment).For the
purposes of this paragraph, any land which is covered is to be treated as land which is “open
to the air” if it is open to the air on at least one side.

3. The effect of this Order is to impose the following prohibitions and requirements on the
Restricted Area as specified as follows:

4.1. In the Restricted Area shown in Schedule 1a and Schedule 1b:

Unless an employee of Fenland District Council or a member of the emergency services, in
either case acting within their capacity, no person is to access or attempt to access the
Restricted Area or to tamper or attempt to tamper with the gates at either end of the
Restricted Area

5. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to do anything prohibited by this
Order, or to fail to comply with a prohibition or requirement to which a person is subject to
pursuant to this Order.

6. A Constable or an ‘Authorised Person’ may issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) to anyone
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under this Order.

7. An ‘Authorised Person’ and ‘an authorised officer of the Council’ means any person
authorised in writing for the purposes of this Order by Fenland District Council (the Council).
A Constable means a Police Constable in whatever capacity including a Community Support
Officer.

8. A person found to be in breach of this Order is liable upon summary conviction to a fine
not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (currently £1000.00); or to be made subject to a
FPN

Page 14



9. “The Council is satisfied that the two conditions below have been met, in that:

(a) activities carried on in the designated area as stated below, have had a detrimental effect
on the quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely that these activities will be carried on
in the public place and that they will have such an effect.

The said activities include: Litter, urination, Defecation

(b) that the effect, or likely effect of the activities described above, is, or is likely to be, of a
persistent or continuing nature, is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities
unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by this Order

The Council believe that it is reasonable to impose the above prohibitions and requirements
in order to prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring, and to
reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence or
recurrence

10. Any interested person (an individual who lives or regularly visits or works) in the
restricted area who desires to question the validity of this Order on the grounds that the
Council had no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act has not been complied
with in relation to this Order, may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date
upon which this Order is made.

Date |% ). 2&7 5

Sealed as Deed on behalf of )
Fenland District Council the )
Common Seal being affixed in the )
presence of and signed by: )

Authorised Siinatori

Page 15



FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL (GATING PSPO) Wisbech.
PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2023

Fenland District Council (‘the Council’) in exercise of its powers pursuant to Section 59, and
72 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’) hereby makes the
following Order (‘the Order’) :-

3 2T
1. This Order shall come into operationon * & ! f:;)‘u\“\, 2023 and shall have effect
for a period
of 3 years from that date.

2. This Order relates to the areas as shown hatched in red on the attached Plans in
Schedules 1 (the ‘Restricted Area’); and applies to all the land which is open to the air and to
which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without payment).For the
purposes of this paragraph, any land which is covered is to be treated as land which is “open
to the air” if it is open to the air on at least one side.

3. The effect of this Order is to impose the following prohibitions and requirements on the
Restricted Area as specified as follows:

4.1. In the Restricted Area shown in Schedule 1a and Schedule 1b:

Unless an employee of Fenland District Council or a member of the emergency services, in
either case acting within their capacity, no person is to access or attempt to access the
Restricted Area or to tamper or attempt to tamper with the gates at either end of the
Restricted Area

5. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to do anything prohibited by this
Order, or to fail to comply with a prohibition or requirement to which a person is subject to
pursuant to this Order.

6. A Constable or an ‘Authorised Person’ may issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) to anyone
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under this Order.

7. An ‘Authorised Person’ and ‘an authorised officer of the Council’ means any person
authorised in writing for the purposes of this Order by Fenland District Council (the Council).
A Constable means a Police Constable in whatever capacity including a Community Support
Officer.

8. A person found to be in breach of this Order is liable upon summary conviction to a fine
not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (currently £1000.00); or to be made subject to a
FPN

Page 16



9. “The Council is satisfied that the two conditions below have been met, in that:

(a) activities carried on in the designated area as stated below, have had a detrimental effect
on the quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely that these activities will be carried on
in the public place and that they will have such an effect.

The said activities include: Litter, urination, Defecation

(b) that the effect, or likely effect of the activities described above, is, or is likely to be, of a
persistent or continuing nature, is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities
unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by this Order

The Council believe that it is reasonable to impose the above prohibitions and requirements
in order to prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring, and to
reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence or
recurrence

10. Any interested person (an individual who lives or regularly visits or works) in the
restricted area who desires to question the validity of this Order on the grounds that the
Council had no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act has not been complied
with in relation to this Order, may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date
upon which this Order is made.

Date |%- 7 2025

Sealed as Deed on behalf of )
Fenland District Council the )
Common Seal being affixed in the )
presence of and signed by: )

Authorised Signatory

Page 17



© Crown Copyright and database "
rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 10023778 Norfolk Street/West Street, Wisbech

Created on: 03/08/2022 Scale = 1:200

Fenland Disfrlgr,%un”il
Page 1




\ R2L5)

Trinity Methodist

-
-

-~ o pe B

ncil

49

3l

Fenlang Di
ray

bechA

IS

Norfolk Street/West Street, W
Scale = 1:500

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 10023778
Created on: 03/08/2022




APPENDIX 1A

2 \
-

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Created on: 03/08/2022

Norfolk Street/West Street, Wisbech

Scale = 1:200

Fenland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 20




Trinity Methodist
Church

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Created on: 03/08/2022

Norfolk Street/West Street, Wisbech
Scale = 1:500

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 21




APPENDIX 2

Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces

CONSULTEE

Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

WAY
RESPONSED

COMMENTS

Chief Constable for Email Supports Not renewing the PSPO would
ICambridgeshire exacerbate current problems and
Constabulary undo the positive impact the order
has had for local residents and
(statutory) )
businesses.
Wisbech Email Supports Removal of the PSPO will undoubtedly
Neighbourhood (NPT) have a negative impact locally.
Inspector
Police and Crime Email Supports The extension of the order will provide
Commissioner an effective tool in preventing anti-
social behaviour and criminal activity
(statutory) A . -
in the area. | see this is a positive step
for the community and the Police
ICCC Highways Email Supports Has no objection to the renewal
The 3 District Email Supports Each of the three District Councillors
Councillors for the for the Ward are in support of renewal.
\Ward
Wisbech Town Email Supports The council voted unanimously to
Council support renewal of this PSPO.
Local Business In Person Supports It has been much better since the
installation
Local Business In Person Supports Didn’t understand why anyone would
want it to be opened again
Landlord for local Letter Supports No comments made other than to
resident support
Landlord for local Letter Supports No comments made other than to
resident support

Appendix 2

Page 22



Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

Local Business In Person Supports Feels safer since the closure of the
passageway.

Local Business In Person Supports It would make issues return if
removed

Local Business In Person Supports Happy itis not being used anymore

Local Business In Person Supports It used to be used as a toilet, now this
doesn’t happen anymore.

Further evidence was provided by the Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Team and the
Fenland District Council Streetscene team. They were not statutory consultees but
provided evidence.

Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Team provided the following data which was searched
using the relevant Postcode of which the passageway is situated within.

Year ASB Incidents All Incidents Alcohol Marker | Drugs Marker
(July = July)
2021 - 2022 16 141 12 2
2022 - 2023 9 103 13 4
2023 -2024 15 148 7 9
2024 - 2025 8 106 5 8

A limitation of this data is that the Police were unable to isolate the data specifically to
the passageway, but rather the Postcode areas around it. As the Passageway is a very
small area in comparison with the whole Postal code areas searched, it is difficult to
clearly define in data terms the exact impact the PSPO has had. The Fenland NPT
inspector does support for the renewal and commented that ‘Removal of the PSPO will
undoubtedly have a negative impact locally.

The Streetscene team provided that no Fixed Penalty Notices have been issued by
themselves for the Norfolk Street PSPO.

In August 2025 letters were sent out to 20 addresses in the local geographical area.
These were previously identified as a mixture of residents, property landlords and

Appendix 2

Page 23




Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

nearby businesses who could be affected by the proposal. We provided an explanation
that we were starting the renewal process of the PSPO and asked for comments on
whether they supported a potential renewal. We also provided a physical copy of the
guestionnaire which was due to go out to the public online. We asked recipients to
respond within 21 days by either using the self-addressed envelope, emailing the
Community Safety team’s shared inbox, or calling the Fenland District Council landline.
2 official responses were received from 2 property landlords, who were in support of the
renewal, this is referenced in the above table.

As part of the consultation process, we produced and circulated an online survey
through the Fenland District Council website, and social media pages. The survey was
live between the 26" of August 2025 and the 14" of September 2025.

43 individuals completed the survey, with 100% supporting the renewal of the PSPO.
The results of this are shown below, including an opportunity for comments to be made.

Q1 1. In what capacity do you wish to respond to this consultation?

Answered: 43 Skipped: 0

As a local
resident
As a local
business

As alandlord
{in the
immediate ar...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% B60% TR BO% 90% 100%

Q2 2. What is your postcode?

Answered: 43  Skipped: 0

Appendix 2

Page 24



Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

All answers were postcodes.

Q3 3. Which age band best describes you?

Answered: 43  Skipped: 0

Under 18
18-24
25-34
35-44
45-54
55-64

65+

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%  60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Q4 4. How far do you agree or disagree with the proposed extension to
the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) limiting access to the
passageway?

Answered: 43  Skipped: 0

s"cm!ly o _
Agree I

Meither agree
nor disagree

Disagree
Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%  60% T0% 80%  90% 100%

Appendix 2

Page 25



Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

Q5 5. Are you aware that the Order was put in place due to anti-social
behaviour associated with the passage?

Answered: 42  Skipped: 1

m -

0% W% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% TO%  80%  90% 100%

Q6 6. Have you experienced any issues in relation to anti-social
behaviour in relation to the passage since the Order became effective?

Answered: 43 Skipped: 0

- -
ph_

% 10% 20% 30% 40% S50% 60% 0% BO% 90% 100%

Appendix 2

Page 26



Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

Q7 7. If the Order was not renewed and the gates removed, which of the
following do you believe may apply

Answered: 43  Skipped: 0

There would be
a positive
benefit to t...

The problems
with
anti-social...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%  90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESFPONSES

There would be a positive benefit to the community to allow unrestricted access to the passage 0.00% o
The problems with anti-social behaviour as identified in the Order would start again to the detriment of the area 100.00% 43
TOTAL 43

Q8 8. Do you support the renewal of the Order to prevent anti-social
behaviour?

Answered: 43  Skipped: 0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%  50% 60%  70% B80% 90% 100%

Q9 9. Please provide any other relevant comments to assist the Council
in determining whether to extend the Order:

Answered: 18  Skipped: 25

We received 18 comments. Some comments reflected on the safety concerns if the
PSPO was not renewed. One person explained they had seen how the passageway had

Appendix 2

Page 27



Norfolk Street / West Street Passage - Public Spaces
Protection Order

Community Consultation 2025

been used for Anti-Social Behaviour in the past and cannot see why the order should
not be renewed.

There was desire for other areas of the town to be covered by the legislation. The
Community Safety Team will consider this in full in due course.

Appendix 2

Page 28



APPENDIX 3

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL (GATING PSPO) Wisbech.
PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2026

Fenland District Council (‘the Council’) in exercise of its powers pursuant to Section 59, and
Section 72 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’) hereby
makes the following Order (‘the Order’):-

1. This Order shall come into operation on the 18th of July 2026 and shall have effect for a
period of 3 years from that date.

2. This Order relates to the areas as shown hatched in red on the attached Plans in
Schedules 1a and 1b (the ‘Restricted Area’); and applies to all that said land which is open to
the air and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without
payment).For the purposes of this paragraph, any land which is covered is to be treated as
land which is “open to the air” if it is open to the air on at least one side.

3. The effect of this Order is to impose the following prohibitions and requirements on the
Restricted Area as specified as follows:

In the Restricted Area shown in Schedule 1a and Schedule 1b:

Unless an employee of Fenland District Council or a member of the emergency
services, in either case acting within their capacity, no person is to access or attempt
to access the Restricted Area or to tamper or attempt to tamper with the gates at
either end of the Restricted Area

4. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to do anything prohibited by this
Order, or to fail to comply with a prohibition or requirement to which a person is subject to
pursuant to this Order.

5. A person found to be in breach of this Order is liable upon summary conviction to a fine
not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (currently £1000.00); or to be made subject to a
FPN

6. A Constable or an ‘Authorised Person’ may issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) to anyone
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under this Order.

7. An ‘Authorised Person’ means any person authorised in writing for the purposes of this
Order by Fenland District Council (the Council).

A Constable means a Police Constable in whatever capacity including a Community Support
Officer.

8. “The Council makes this Order being satisfied on reasonable grounds that the two
conditions below have been met, in that without these controls the activities carried on or
likely to be carried on in the Restricted Area:

Page 29



(a) will have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality.

(b) that the effect, or likely effect of the activities described above, is, or is likely to be, of a
persistent or continuing nature, is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities
unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by this Order

The Council believe that it is reasonable to impose the above prohibitions and requirements
in order to prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring, and to
reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence or
recurrence

The Council has had particular regard to the rights of freedom of expression and freedom of
assembly set out in articles 10 and 11 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

10. Any interested person (an individual who lives or regularly visits or works in the restricted
area) who desires to question the validity of this Order on the grounds that the Council had
no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act has not been complied with in relation
to this Order, may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date upon which this
Order is made.

When an application is made, the High Court can decide to suspend the operation of the

Order pending the Court’s decision in part or in totality. The High Court has the ability to
uphold the Order, quash it or vary it.

Date
Sealed as Deed on behalf of )
Fenland District Council the )

Common Seal being affixed in the )
presence of and signed by: )

Authorised Signatory

Page 30



SCHEDULE 1A

Page 31



SCHEDULE 1B

Page 32



e¢ abed

APPENDIX 4

Assessing Equality — The Equality Act 2010
Customer Impact Assessment — Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO’s)

Name and brief description of policy being analysed
Briefly summarise the policy including any key information such as aims, context etc; note timescales and milestones for new policies; use plain language — NO JARGON;
refer to other documents if required

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, hereafter known as the Act, came into effect on 20th October 2014 making a number of changes to the law on
anti-social behaviour. A key change was the introduction of PSPO's to replace Designated Public Places Orders (DPPQO’s), dog control orders and gating orders in addition
to a range of other behaviours that local authorities can now regulate in public spaces.

The Act has introduced simpler, more effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour that provide better protection for victims and communities. This includes the
introduction of Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO).

Councils will be responsible for making the new PSPO although enforcement powers will be much broader.

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO's) are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify
of life, by imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. They are designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe
from anti-social behaviour.
PSPO's are drafted based on the specific issues being faced in a particular public space, and can include multiple restrictions and requirements in one order. Examples of
restrictions might include:

e Controlling the use of dogs;
Restricting access to an area;
Misuse of substances;
Tackling noise nuisance; or
Unreasonable behaviour having a detrimental effect on the community.

A PSPO can be made where the council is satisfied, after conducting the test, that the activity or activities, carried on in a public place, it proposes to restrict:
e Have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality;
e s, oris likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;
e Is, oris likely to be, unreasonable; and
o Justifies the restrictions imposed.

A PSPO can be used to restrict access to an area where the test has been met.




7€ abed

Assessing Equality — The Equality Act 2010

Information used for customer analysis

The following bodies were consulted:

e Chief of Police

Police and Crime Commissioner
Wisbech Neighbourhood Policing Inspector
Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways)
Wisbech Town Council

The Wards District Councillors

We also sought the opinion of the Fenland District Council (FDC) Streetscene team.

All consultees were in favour of extending the Order.

A Public Consultation was carried out between the 26/08/2025 and the 14/09/2025, this included letters sent to residents/businesses in the locality, Community Safety
Officers visiting businesses in the locality, and a public online survey. The public online survey saw 43 responses, with 100% supporting extending the Order.

Details of actions or explanations if

Is action | actions are not possible
C.OUId May . possible
partlculz_;lrly Neutral at_iversely Explanations or Please note details of any actions to be
benefit impact required? | placed in your Service Plan
Race O X O The use of PSPO'’s is responding to the N
linked behaviours that are either being
Sex 0 X 0 requested to be stopped or conducted N
within the specified areas and not linked
Gender reassignment indivi ’ isabili
g 0 X M taoggn individual’s race, sex, disability or N
Disability '
X O N
= In this case the use of PSPO is to
Age O X N reduce ASB by restricting the access to N
s I an ASB hotspot
exual orientation
O X O N
Religion or belief
g O X O N




G¢ abed

Assessing Equality — The Equality Act 2010

Pregnancy & maternity 0 X o N
Marri & civil part hi
arriage & civil partnership 0 X N
[ ——
H Right
uman Rights O X 0 N
Socio Economic X
Ul L] N
Multiple/ Cross Cuttin
p g O X ] N

Outcome(s) of customer analysis

a) Will the policy/ procedure impact on the whole population of Fenland and/ or identified groups within the population; negative 0 neutral 0O positive X

No major change needed X Adjust the policy [ Adverse impact but continue [ Stop and remove / reconsider policy [J

Arrangements for future monitoring:
Note when analysis will be reviewed; include any equality indicators and performance against those indicators

At the time of reviewing this document the PSPO is subject of a legal requirement to review every three years. Should there be any change in the current PSPO areas
and/or restrictions this document will be subject further review. At present it is felt the PSPO has had a positive effect in reducing ASB in the area (As confirmed by the
consultee and public consultation) and therefore it is felt a PSPO has been and continues to be an effective measure in combating this.

ElA’s are subject of an annual review.

Details of any data/ Research used (both FDC & Partners):

Fenland District Council — Streetscene
Police data

Fenland Community Safety Partnership
Community Feedback

Completed by:

Name: Niamh Webb
Position: Community Safety and Projects Officer
22/09/2025




9¢ abed

a  100%
" people
driven

Fenland District Council

Assessing Equality — The Equality Act 2010

Approved by (manager signature): - 09/10/2025

Date published:

Details of any Committee approved by (if applicable):

Date endorsed by Members if applicable:




No:

Agenda Item 7 Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Agenda Item 7

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date: 7 November 2025
Report Title: Acceptance of £1.5m Pride in Place Impact Fund Allocation

1 Purpose / Summary

1.1 Fenland District Council has been awarded £1.5 million from the Pride in
Place Impact Fund to support regeneration initiatives across the district.

1.2  This report seeks approval to accept the funding and delegate authority to the
Section 151 Officer to enter into all necessary legal and financial
arrangements to secure and manage the funding, including the MOU with
Government.

Key Issues

2.1 The Pride in Place Impact Fund is a government initiative aimed at enhancing
local pride, improving public spaces, and supporting community-led
regeneration.

2.2 Acceptance of the funding will enable delivery of strategic priorities aligned
with the Council’s corporate objectives.

2.3 Delegation to the Section 151 Officer to sign the MOU and accept the funding
ensures timely and compliant management of the funding in relation to the
funding offer.

2.4  The MOU must be signed and returned to government by COP November 7.

3 Recommendations

3.1 Cabinet is asked to:

Approve the acceptance of the £1.5 million Pride in Place Impact Fund allocation

for FY 25/26 and 26/27 awarded to Fenland District Council.

e Delegate authority to the Section 151 Officer to enter into all relevant legal and
financial arrangements necessary to bring the decision into effect and manage
the funding in accordance with grant conditions.

Page 37



Wards Affected All

Forward Plan KEY/020CT25/02
Reference
Portfolio Holder(s) Chris Boden - Finance

Report Originator(s) Matt Wright — Highstreet Programme Manager
Contact Officer(s) Matt Wright — Highstreet Programme Manager

Background Papers Pride in Place Offer Letter to FDC
Pride in Place MOU

Report:

1 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES

1.1 The Pride in Place Impact Fund supports local authorities in delivering
projects that improve public spaces, foster community pride, and stimulate
local economic activity.

1.2  The Pride in Place Impact Fund has three objectives:

a. Community spaces: creating, extending, improving or refurbishing existing
community facilities and enabling community organisations to take control or
ownership of underused but valued local assets.

b. Public spaces: enhancing the physical environment in public spaces -
examples of initiatives include new or improved green spaces or public
squares, improved outdoor play, sports and leisure spaces, installing street
furniture, public art or wayfinding.

c. High street and town centre revitalisation: making these areas more
attractive and welcoming places where people congregate and which
encourage economic activity. Examples of initiatives that could be funded are
shop frontage improvements, adaptations that bring premises back into use,
streetscape improvements, public art, trails and wayfinding, and creating or
improving the infrastructure for regular markets.

It is also noted that when deciding upon projects to deliver, Local Authorities
should work in collaboration with MPs and other stakeholders to identify the

interventions that will deliver the most benefits to local residents and breathe
new life into the areas in which they live.

1.3 A working group to discuss proposals has been set up for 24" October and
the subsequent project proposals will be brought before Cabinet for approval.

1.4  Fenland District Council has been awarded £1.5 million to deliver a
programme of initiatives aligned with these aims. These payments will be
made as two split payments; £750,000 in November 2025 upon receipt of the
signed MOU and £750,000 in April 2026.

Page 38



1.5

1.6

2.1

2.2

5.2
5.3

54

5.5

Local authorities are not required to submit a proposal or plan setting out how
they intend to use their Pride in Place Impact Fund allocation for MHCLG
approval.

Acceptance of the funding will enable the Council to progress delivery of
projects in line with its regeneration strategy and the objectives of the fund.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

Acceptance of the funding aligns with the Council’s corporate priorities around
regeneration, community engagement, and economic development.

Delegating authority to the Section 151 Officer ensures that the funding can
be managed efficiently and in compliance with all relevant financial and legal
requirements.

CONSULTATION
N/A

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The alternative option of not accepting the funding was considered but
rejected, as it would result in a missed opportunity to deliver significant
regeneration benefits for the district.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications

Legal Services will support the Section 151 Officer in entering into the
necessary funding agreements as required.

Financial Implications

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28.

Although there are currently many uncertainties regarding the budget for
2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant structural deficit which the
Council will need to address

Equality Implications
N/A

Page 39



5.6

Any Other Relevant Implications

Environmental sustainability and accessibility will be considered in the design
and delivery of funded projects.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Pride in Place Offer Letter to FDC
Appendix 2 - Pride in Place MOU

Page 40



OFFICIAL APPENDIX 1

Ministry of Housing, Communities &
Local Government
4th Floor,
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

Email: pipifenquiries@communities.gov.uk

6 October 2025
By Email

Dear Colleague,
Pride in Place Impact Fund: Fenland District Council

On behalf of the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local
Government (the Secretary of State), | am writing to confirm that, the Secretary of
State has allocated funding for 2025/2026 as set out in the Grant Determination. The
annual breakdown is shown in the table below.

Capital Allocation | Total Allocation
2025/2026 2025/26

£750,000 £750,000

Pride in Place Impact Fund MoU

Funding for 2025/2026 will be paid following agreement of your Pride in Place Impact
Fund Memorandum of Understanding (MoU). Please return a signed copy as soon
as possible to the above email address.

Funding from the Pride in Place Impact Fund is to be used solely in line with the
Prospectus and is subject to compliance with the terms of the MoU.

Other

Local Authorities are reminded that they are responsible for ensuring expenditure is
spent in accordance with all applicable legal requirements. This includes, for
example, subsidy control and public procurement law. Where Local Authorities pass
the grant to organisations that are not Contracting Authorities, they should ensure
that procurements achieve value for money.

Local Authorities are also reminded of their statutory obligations under the Public
Sector Equality Duty as set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

OFFICIAL Page 41



OFFICIAL

On behalf of the Secretary of State, officials will review progress on a regular basis
as set out in the Pride in Place Impact Fund Prospectus.

If you have any queries regarding this letter, please contact the Pride in Place Impact
Fund team at the above email address.

| and my colleagues look forward to working with you to deliver this investment and
seeing the positive impact it will make on communities, businesses and individuals
across the country.

Yours sincerely,

David Wright
Deputy Director: Local Government Finance

OFFICIAL Page 42



OFFICIAL APPENDIX 2

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Between

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
-and-

Fenland District Council
1. Purpose

1.1. This Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) sets out the terms that will apply to the
relationship between the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government (the Secretary of State) and Fenland District Council (the Local
Authority) regarding the administration and delivery of the Pride in Place Impact
Fund (the Fund).

1.2. This MoU relates to the allocation set out in the Fund Prospectus

1.3. This MoU will be for the period September 2025 to March 2027. Changes will be
made only where signatories deem it necessary.

1.4. The MoU sets out the conditions and expectations for the Fund.

1.5. This MoU is not intended to create legal or binding obligations. It describes the
understanding between both parties for the use of funding specified in section 3 of
this agreement.

2. Background

2.1.This MoU covers the funding commitments from the Secretary of State and the
delivery, financial expenditure, agreed milestones, reporting and evaluation,
communications and branding expectations between the Parties and the steps the
Secretary of State could take in the event of underperformance if required.

2.2.The Secretary of State has published guidance on the delivery of the Fund in
2025-27 in the Prospectus. The Secretary of State will notify the Local Authority of
any changes to the Prospectus and, if necessary, provide guidance on how
changes are to be managed.

3. Purpose of the Funding

3.1.The allocation to the Local Authority is set out in the Prospectus.

3.2.The funding from the Fund is being provided to deliver activity in line with the
Prospectus.

OFFICIAL
Page 43



OFFICIAL

4. Reporting

4.1The Local Authority will provide reporting on the Fund as set out in the Prospectus.

5.

Financial Arrangements

5.1.The agreed funds will be issued to the Local Authority as grant payments under

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

Section 50 of the United Kingdom Internal Markets Act 2020 (‘UKIM’).

Details of the allocation will be confirmed in grant determinations and will reflect
the published capital allocated for 2025-26 and 2026-27.

The Local Authority will receive a payment of 100% of the 2025-26 funding on
agreeing this MoU.

The 2026-2027 allocation will be paid in the period April - June 2026, subject to
submission of a satisfactory monitoring report in February 2026 as set out in the
Prospectus.

Capital grant funding, as set out in grant determinations, may only be used for
capital expenditure.

If the Secretary of State has concerns around future spending plans based on the
experience of local delivery to date, or wider financial issues or governance
affecting delivery, then the Secretary of State may pay in instalments, withhold or
recover funding.

No funding will be provided for activity prior to the date of this MoU.

If the Local Authority has not committed all grant funding at the 31 March 2027,
any uncommitted funding as at 31 March 2027 must be repaid to the Secretary of
State.

If funding reported as committed as at 31 March 2027 is not spent in full the Local
Authority will notify the Secretary of State and repay the unspent amount to the
Secretary of State.

5.10. The Local Authority accepts responsibility for meeting any costs over and above

the Secretary of State’s contribution, agreed in the annual grant determination.
This includes potential cost overruns and the underwriting of any funding
contributions expected from third parties.

6. Branding and Communication

6.1.The Secretary of State will provide the Local Authority with guidance on the

Branding and Communication associated with the Fund in due course.

OFFICIAL
Page 44



OFFICIAL

6.2. The Parties agree to adhere to the guidance and any updates subsequently
released by the Secretary of State or HMG on communications linked to the Fund.

6.3.The Local Authority should publish information regarding the delivery of the Fund in
its area. e.g. by publishing a summary of the approved investments.

7. Evaluation

7.1 The Local Authority will support any evaluation of the Fund through capturing and
providing relevant monitoring data and engaging as appropriate with MHCLG or its
contractors.

8. Assurance

8.1.Funding will be managed within the finance governance framework adopted by local
authorities and the existing local authority accountability and assurance regime,
under the oversight of the Local Authority’s chief financial officer - Section 151/
Section 95 officer.

8.2.The Local Authority is expected to have the necessary governance and assurance
arrangements in place and that all legal and other statutory obligations and
consents will be adhered to.

8.3.As set out in the Prospectus the Local Authority is responsible for applying
management controls that:

mitigate the risk of fraud;

ensure funding has been used in accordance with UK subsidy control
legislation;

ensure that any procurement undertaken by a Contracting Authority
funded by the Fund has complied with public procurement rules;
ensure compliance with its statutory obligations under the Public Sector
Equality Duty; and

ensure that any personal data obtained in connection with the Fund’s
activities is handled in compliance with data protection legislation.

8.4. The Local Authority will respond directly to questions addressing the local delivery
of the Fund and cooperate with the Secretary of State in any inquiries regarding
the delivery of the Fund.

9. Programme Changes

9.1. The Local Authority will notify the Secretary of State of any proposed changes to
its local programme through routine monitoring returns. The Local Authority does

OFFICIAL
Page 45



OFFICIAL

not need approval from the Secretary of State to make changes to its local
programme.

10. Compliance with the MoU

10.1. The Parties to this MoU are responsible for ensuring that they have the necessary
systems and appropriate resources in place within their respective organisations to
comply fully with the requirements of this MoU.

11. Changes to the MoU

11.1.The arrangements under this MoU will be kept under review. Amendments to this
MoU may only be made upon written agreement between the Parties.

12.Resolution of Disputes

12.1. Any dispute that may arise as to the interpretation or application of this MoU will
be settled by consultation between the parties.

Signed on Behalf of the Local Authority (by Chief Executive / Chief Financial
Officer):

X

Name:
Job Title:

Date:

Signed on Behalf of Secretary of State:
Name: David Wright
Job Title: Deputy Director: Local Government Finance

Date: 29 September 2025

OFFICIAL
Page 46



No:

Agenda Item 8 Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Agenda Iltem 8

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date:

Report Title:

7 November 2025

FDC Endorsement of Plan for Neighbourhoods Regeneration
Plan for Wisbech

Cover sheet:

1
1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.2

2.3

Purpose / Summary

This report seeks Cabinet endorsement of the Wisbech Town Board Plan for
Neighbourhoods Regeneration Plan, which has been developed and
provisionally approved by the Wisbech Town Board. The Regeneration Plan
forms the submission of the Town Board to government to unlock
£20,000,000 of endowment style funding across the next ten years from 2026
onwards for revenue and capital projects in Wisbech.

FDC has representation on the board via its membership and also acts as the
accountable body for the funding, monitoring defrayal and managing
governance of the funds in line with procurement and finance principles of the
Authority. FDC is responsible for submission of the document on behalf of the
Town Board.

The Plan represents the evolution of the previous strategic framework for the
Long-Term Plan for Towns, aligning with national priorities for regeneration
and local place-making. There is also an expectation that following the
submission, the scheme will be rebranded again in line with the new Pride in
Place brand from government.

Cabinet is being asked, as a partner of the Town Board, to endorse the Plan
for submission to government by 28 November 2025, in accordance with the
requirements of the Plan for Neighbourhood programme.

The Plan includes a draft 4-year investment plan, outlining proposed projects
for delivery. This strategy remains flexible to accommodate changing local
circumstances and priorities and projects can change as The Board move
through the ten year delivery phase.

Key Issues

The Pride in Place programme is a government initiative aimed at revitalising
towns through targeted investment in infrastructure, public realm, community
assets, and economic development.

The Wisbech Town Board has led the development of the Regeneration Plan,
drawing upon local knowledge, previous consultations and ongoing planned
consultation. This Regeneration Plan has been aligned with the national
priorities for the Plan for Neighbourhoods programme.

Endorsement by Cabinet is required to demonstrate local authority support
and partnership commitment, which is a prerequisite for submission to
government.

Page 47



2.4

The document has been endorsed by the Local MP which is also a
prerequisite for submission.

3 Recommendations
That Cabinet:

3.1 Endorses the Wisbech Town Board Pride in Place Regeneration Plan for
submission to government by 28 November 2025.

3.2  Delegate authority to the High Street Project Manager, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder based upon recommendations of the Town Board, to make
any necessary amendments to the Plan prior to submission, should local
circumstances or ongoing consultation outcomes change.

3.3  Authorises officers to enter into all relevant legal and financial arrangements
to bring the Plan into effect, subject to future Cabinet/Officer approvals as
required.

Wards Affected Wisbech Wards

Forward Plan KEY/28AUG25/01

Reference

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllir Samantha Hoy - Portfolio Holder for Town Board

Report Originator(s) Matt Wright, Highstreets Programme Manager

Simon Machen, Corporate Growth and Regeneration
Advisor

Contact Officer(s) Matt Wright

Page 48



Background Papers Plan For Neighbourhoods Prospectus

Wisbech Neighbourhood Board Regeneration Plan and 4
Year Investment Plan

2023 Highstreets Task Force report -
High Streets Task Force report 2023.pdf

| Love Wisbech Report 2019 - Microsoft Word - Wisbech
Public Engagement Summary Final Draft

Wisbech Growing Fenland report -
Wisbech Growing Fenland report.pdf

Wisbech 2020 Vision - Wisbech 2020 Vision - Fenland
District Council

Wisbech Zencity Consultation 2025 -
Plan for Neighbourhoods survey July 2025.pdf

Report:
1 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES

1.1 The Plan for Neighbourhoods programme is designed to support towns in
delivering regeneration that reflects local priorities in line with Government
priority outcome areas. The fund focuses on 3 key outcome areas:

1. Thriving Places
This objective focuses on physical regeneration and placemaking. It includes:

Revitalising high streets and public spaces to make them more attractive, accessible,
and functional.

Improving the safety and security of the town and the perception of its residents.
Improving local infrastructure, such as transport links, parks, and community facilities.
Encouraging investment in underused or derelict land and buildings.

Supporting sustainable development that aligns with local character and needs.

Page 49


https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22530/High-Street-Task-Force-Wisbech/pdf/High_Streets_Task_Force_report_2023.pdf?m=1759139848303
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22531/I-Love-Wisbech-report-2019/pdf/I_Love_Wisbech_consultation_findings_2019.pdf?m=1759141214273
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22531/I-Love-Wisbech-report-2019/pdf/I_Love_Wisbech_consultation_findings_2019.pdf?m=1759141214273
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22532/Wisbech-Growing-Fenland-report/pdf/Wisbech_Growing_Fenland_report.pdf?m=1759141711890
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/wisbech2020vision
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/wisbech2020vision
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22585/Plan-for-Neighbourhoods-survey-July-2025/pdf/Plan_for_Neighbourhoods_survey_July_2025.pdf?m=1760612123600

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.1

2.2

2. Stronger Communities

This objective is about social infrastructure and community resilience. It aims to:

Strengthen local networks and support services (e.g. youth centres, libraries,
community hubs, leisure centres).

Support voluntary and community sector organisations to deliver services and activities.

Foster social cohesion by encouraging collaboration between residents, businesses,
and service providers.

3. Taking Back Control

This objective is about local empowerment and governance. It includes:

Establishing Neighbourhood Boards that include residents, businesses, and local
leaders.

Giving communities decision-making power over how regeneration funding is spent.

The Regeneration Plan aims to address these above objectives through a
range of projects across the next decade, with initial projects (contained within
the 4-year investment plan) principally aimed at physical and security-based
capital and revenue-based investments.

Officers can confirm that the project contained within the 4-year investment
plan are all covered within the government’s “on menu” interventions and do
not require further business cases, meaning in principal that they align with
these objectives.

The 4-year investment plan contained within the Regeneration Plan outlines a
road map programme for the initial delivery of circa £8,000,000 of spend
across a range of interventions.

Submission of the endorsed Plan to government by 28 November 2025 is
required to secure funding and support for implementation.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

Endorsing the Plan demonstrates the Council’s commitment to partnership
working and local regeneration, aligning with corporate priorities around
economic growth, community wellbeing, and sustainable development.

The Council, as a partner and accountable body responsible for submission is
required to endorse the plan, ahead of submission.

Page 50



3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

5.1
5.2

CONSULTATION

Consultation on the endorsement of the Regeneration Plan has been made
with the relevant FDC stakeholders including the Portfolio holder for the
Wisbech Town Board whom has been sighted on the document.

Several rounds of public consultation over the past several years have been
undertaken to inform the report.

These include:

Love Wisbech Report 2019
Wisbech Growing Fenland report
Wisbech 2020 Vision

Wisbech Zencity Consultation 2025

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Not endorsing the Plan would risk losing access to government funding and
undermine the Council’s role as a key partner in local regeneration and as a
partner of the Town Board. This option is not recommended.

IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
Fenland District Council's role is to support and enable Wisbech Town Board
to develop and deliver the plan.

The Town Board itself is recognised as the "decision-making forum," as stated
in the Government guidance.

It is the district council's responsibility to:

e work closely with Wisbech Town Board to develop and embed appropriate
processes and controls for funding

e develop mechanisms that will empower it in realising its role and driving
forward a community-led vision for change

o facilitate the development of plans and delivery of them while recognising
the role of the Neighbourhood Board as decision-making forum.

e The district council is the accountable body for the funds with responsibility
for compliance with legal responsibilities and ensuring the public funds are
distributed fairly and effectively according to accepted principles that
promote trust and good governance.

e The role of accountable body also ensures that funds are spent
transparently and in line with procurement regulations. Fenland District
Council ensures that a governance process is documented for each
decision actioned by the town board.

Page 51


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-neighbourhood-boards-and-place-boundaries/plan-for-neighbourhoods-governance-and-boundary-guidance

5.3
54

5.5

5.6

Financial Implications

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28.

Although there are currently many uncertainties regarding the budget for
2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant structural deficit which the
Council will need to address.

Equality Implications

N/A — Equality considerations will be addressed at project level during
implementation.

APPENDICES

A) Plan for Neighbourhoods Prospectus
B) Wisbech Neighbourhood Board Regeneration Plan and 4 Year Investment
Plan

C) 2023 Highstreets Task Force report
D) | Love Wisbech Report 2019

E) Wisbech Growing Fenland report
F) Wisbech Zencity Consultation 2025
G) Endorsement from MP’s Office

Page 52



APPENDIX A

i GOV-UK

Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

Guidance
Plan for Neighbourhoods:
prospectus

Updated 16 June 2025

Contents

Fund summary
Foreword from the Deputy Prime Minister
Introduction

Eligible local authorities
Our approach

Funding profile

Timeline

Fund objectives
Neighbourhood Boards
Regeneration Plans
Community engagement

Next steps

Page 53



OGL

© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9
4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission
from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-
neighbourhoods-prospectus-and-tools/plan-for-neighbourhoods-prospectus

Page 54



Fund summary

Purpose: A £1.5 billion programme to invest in 75 areas over the next
decade — a long-term strategy to fix the foundations of those places most

left behind.
Type of fund: Un-competed.

Eligibility: 75 local authorities and communities across the UK.

Funding available: Up to £20 million for each place over a 10-year
period.

Important dates:

22 April 2025: Neighbourhood Boards confirm finalised membership and
any proposals to alter their place boundaries.

Spring 2025 to winter 2025: Neighbourhood Boards submit their
Regeneration Plan to MHCLG for assessment and approval.

From April 2026: Programme delivery funding released to local authorities,
and delivery phase begins.

Foreword from the Deputy Prime Minister

Across the country this government is delivering our Plan for Change with a
relentless focus on economic growth to raise living standards. The impact of
14 years of decline has not been felt equally across the country with too many
neighbourhoods starved of the investment and reform they deserve. The result
has been worsening deprivation, making the path to good growth all the more
difficult in those places. Through the new Plan for Neighbourhoods, we are
laying the foundations to make sure that nowhere is left behind in this decade
of national renewal, and that everywhere has a role to play in our national
prosperity.

Our country has all the raw ingredients to ignite growth. There’s untapped
talent and potential in every town, city, village and estate. But we also have
people without enough to get by, and places and public services which have

Page 55



been hollowed out. Opportunities are not shared out evenly and it’s tough to
make the most of the ones that are there. Barriers to better living standards
have been put up, not taken down. People feel divided and disempowered,

perceptions which are made worse by deprivation that for too long has been
tackled with sticking plaster politics.

Communities have come up with their own grass-roots solutions. Opening
foodbanks and warm-banks, shopping local to back high street jobs, and
raising support through trade unions, charities and civil society bodies.
Building strong connections so people have each other to rely on when times
get tough. Heartening and impressive though these efforts are, the
government has been missing in action for 14 years, leaving communities left
behind and forgotten, left to fend for themselves. That’s why this new
government’s driving purpose is delivering growth and raising living standards
everywhere. This is why we are now investing up to £1.5 billion through this
programme.

Our new Plan for Neighbourhoods is part of this government’s plan to ensure
that nowhere is left behind. It will help revitalise local areas and fight
deprivation at root cause by zeroing in on 3 goals: thriving places, stronger
communities, and taking back control.

No more sticking plasters; no more short-term fixes — rather, a 10-year plan
that unlocks the potential of the places people call home. John Prescott's New
Deal for Communities delivered transformational change, providing the stability
of long-term funding, backed by the support of central government, to
empower local people to take ownership for driving the renewal of their
neighbourhood. Our Plan for Neighbourhoods takes this as inspiration,
learning the lessons to tackle the opportunities and challenges presented to us
today. It goes hand in hand with everything this government is delivering to
rebuild our country: building new, safer social housing for the future, making
work pay and ending the ‘Whitehall knows best’ approach by empowering local
leaders to strengthen communities.

We know what works. Local change is best driven by those with the biggest
stake. The Burnley Together project has seen a community grocer, cookery
school and book exchange open in the former Lancashire mill town. In
Hendon, the ‘Back on the Map’ residents’ group has spent 10 years buying
and refurbishing 120 of Sunderland’s run-down homes and shops, alongside a
package of community services to tackle poverty. In Yorkshire, the Live Well
Wakefield group has helped 93% of clients improve health outcomes through
early interventions and social prescribing.

Together, this government will work in partnership with people on the ground
and local authorities to deliver in every corner of the country.

Page 56



Angela Rayner MP, Deputy Prime Minister

Introduction

The government is committed to rebuilding the UK and driving growth
everywhere. The renewal required is more than just physical infrastructure, but
also about repairing fractured communities, bringing people back together and
ensuring people see a visible improvement in their communities. This is
essential for restoring trust in government and sense of pride in place,
ensuring people can meet their full potential. The evidence is clear that those
places with stronger social capital have higher educational attainment
(https://demos.co.uk/research/social-capital-2025-the-hidden-wealth-of-nations/), lower
crime and faster economic growth.

To fix the foundations of those places most left behind, we need a long-term

strategy to regenerate, underpinned by plans that address demographic shifts
and cultural change.

No one knows the priorities of the community better than those who live and
work there, which is why our Plan for Neighbourhoods will empower local
people to take back control of their future with a long-term, flexible funding pot
of up to £20 million of funding and support over the next 10 years.

Eligible local authorities

75 places across England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland have been
selected to receive funding through this programme via 2 published
methodologies: methodology for first tranche
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/long-term-plan-for-towns-towns-selection-
methodology-note) and methodology for second tranche
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/extension-to-long-term-plan-for-towns-place-selection-
methodology). The metrics used for selection included:

indices of multiple deprivation

population size

healthy life expectancy

Gross Value Added per hour worked

Page 57



o skill level (NVQ level 3+ in England and Wales and above SCQF level 4+ in

Scotland) — this metric was not used in Northern Ireland

The following list includes eligible local authorities for the Plan for
Neighbourhoods, ordered alphabetically. The region or county is determined
by International Territorial Levels (ITLs) 1 and 2

(https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/ukgeographies/eurostat).

Place

Accrington

Arbroath

Ashton-under-Lyne
Barnsley
Barry (Vale of

Glamorgan)

Bedworth

Bexhill-on-Sea

Bilston
(Wolverhampton)

Blyth
(Northumberland)

Boston
Burnley
Canvey Island
Carlton

Castleford

Local authority

Hyndburn Borough Council
Angus Council

Tameside Metropolitan Borough
Council

Barnsley Council

Vale of Glamorgan Council
Nuneaton and Bedworth
Borough Council

Rother District Council

City Of Wolverhampton Council

Northumberland County Council

Boston Borough Council
Burnley Council

Castle Point Borough Council
Gedling Borough Council

Wakefield Council

Region or
county

North West
Eastern Scotland
North West
Yorkshire and The
Humber

South East Wales

West Midlands

South East

West Midlands

North East

East Midlands
North West
East

East Midlands

Yorkshire and The
Humber

Page 58



Place

Chadderton
Chesterfield
Clacton-on-Sea
Clifton (Nottingham)

Clydebank

Coatbridge

Coleraine

Cwmbran
Darlaston
Darlington

Darwen

Derry~Londonderry

Dewsbury

Doncaster

Dudley (Dudley)

Dumfries

Eastbourne

Local authority

Oldham Council

Chesterfield Borough Council
Tendring District Council
Nottingham City Council

West Dunbartonshire Council
North Lanarkshire Council
Causeway Coast and Glens
Borough Council

Torfaen County Borough Council
Walsall Council

Darlington Borough Council

Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council

Derry City and Strabane District
Council
Kirklees Council

City of Doncaster Council

Dudley Council

Dumfries and Galloway Council

Eastbourne Council

Region or
county

North West
East Midlands
East

East Midlands

West Central
Scotland

West Central
Scotland

Northern Ireland

South East Wales
West Midlands
North East

North West
Northern Ireland
Yorkshire and The

Humber

Yorkshire and The
Humber

West Midlands

Southern
Scotland

South East

Page 59



Place

Elgin

Eston

Farnworth

Great Yarmouth

Greenock

Grimsby

Harlow
Hartlepool
Hastings
Heywood

Irvine

Jarrow

Keighley

Kilmarnock

King’s Lynn

Kirkby

Kirkby-in-Ashfield

Local authority

Moray Council

Redcar and Cleveland Borough
Council

Bolton Council

Great Yarmouth Borough
Council

Inverclyde Council

North East Lincolnshire Council

Harlow Council

Hartlepool Borough Council
Hastings Borough Councll
Rochdale Borough Council

North Ayrshire Council

South Tyneside Council

Bradford Council

East Ayrshire Council

Borough Council of King’'s Lynn
and West Norfolk

Knowsley Council

Ashfield District Council

Region or
county

Highlands and
Islands

North East

North West
East

West Central
Scotland

Yorkshire and The
Humber

East

North East
South East
North West

Southern
Scotland

North East

Yorkshire and The
Humber

Southern
Scotland

East

North West

East Midlands

Page 60



Place

Leigh (Wigan)
Mansfield

Merthyr Tydfil

Nelson (Pendle)

Newark-on-Trent

Newton-le-Willows

Orkney Islands
(Kirkwall)

Peterhead

Ramsgate
Rawtenstall
Rhyl

Rotherham

Royal Sutton Coldfield

Runcorn
Ryde

Scarborough

Scunthorpe

Local authority

Wigan Council

Mansfield District Council

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough

Council
Pendle Borough Council

Newark and Sherwood
District Council

St Helens Borough Council

Orkney Islands Council

Aberdeenshire Council

Thanet District Council
Rossendale Borough Council
Denbighshire County Council

Rotherham Metropolitan
Borough Council

Royal Sutton Coldfield Town
Council

Halton Borough Council
Isle of Wight Council

North Yorkshire Council

North Lincolnshire Council

Region or
county

North West
East Midlands

South East Wales

North West

East Midlands

North West

Highlands and
Islands

North Eastern
Scotland

South East
North West
North Wales

Yorkshire and The
Humber

West Midlands

North West
South East

Yorkshire and The
Humber

Yorkshire and The
Humber

Page 61



Place

Skegness
Smethwick
Spalding
Spennymoor
Thetford
Torquay
Washington
Wisbech
Worksop

Wrexham

Our approach

Local authority

East Lindsey District Council
Sandwell Council

South Holland District Council
Durham County Council
Breckland Council

Torbay Council

Sunderland City Council
Fenland District Council
Bassetlaw District Council

Wrexham County Borough
Council

Region or
county

East Midlands
West Midlands
East Midlands
North East
East

South West
North East
East

East Midlands

North Wales

The Plan for Neighbourhoods will drive growth over the long-term, a clean
break from the competitive pots and sticking plaster cash of the past. The
programme provides a new blueprint to bring communities together, allocating
funding to improve living standards and give people in the 75 recipient
locations more of a stake in their future.

To deliver this, the government will support the establishment of new
Neighbourhood Boards, putting power in the hands of local people to address
deprivation and regenerate their local area. Each board will, in partnership with
their local authority, develop a ‘Regeneration Plan’, setting out its vision for the
next decade alongside a more detailed ‘Investment Plan’ for the first 4 years of

the programme.

This is about more than places simply having a plan, it is backed up by serious
investment to turn that plan into action: prioritising funding into some of our

Page 62



most left-behind communities to make everyday changes to build a fairer
future for everyone. Many of those anchor institutions that tie communities
together, like community centres, youth clubs, sports grounds and cultural
venues, are gone. This programme gives communities the opportunity to bring
those back to drive social capital and kickstart growth. We have an economy
and society that works for some and not others. 49 of the 58 English towns are
in the top 20% most deprived built up areas in the country. This programme
focusses on those places that have been left behind for too long, which
deserve to feel the benefits of investment in their future.

Across the UK, 53% of people feel it is important they can influence decisions
affecting their local area, but just 27% feel able to do so. The number of adults
involved in civic participation has fallen from 41% in 2020 to 34% in 2022, with
those from poorest backgrounds and places the least likely to participate. This
programme seeks to change that, giving people control over their local area,
and confidence that their needs are being met.

Fostering stronger, more well-connected communities, where people trust
each other and feel a common identity improves resilience, cohesion and
safety, tackling economic and social marginalisation. This is true at an
individual level and for a community as a whole, research
(https://demos.co.uk/research/social-capital-2025-the-hidden-wealth-of-nations/) has
shown that improved social connections will improve economic outcomes for
individual children and reduce crime across a community. Research
(https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/publications/valuing-wealth-building-prosperity/)
is clear that trust in communities and institutions are both the cause and result
of high productivity and higher wellbeing. By establishing good governance
and greater social trust, this programme could trigger a virtuous feedback loop
of higher productivity. A 10% increase in social trust can lead to up to 1.5%
increase in productivity.

We need thriving places that support strong, inclusive, local growth, putting
money into working people’s pocket. This programme will aim to raise living
standards, reduce social exclusion, spread opportunities for young people,
improve health and wellbeing, build stronger and more cohesive communities
and reduce crime and anti-social behaviour in some of the most left-behind
areas in the country.

We will provide communities with the resources and capacity to deliver on this,
to offer support where it is needed and shift central government’s role from one
of delivery management to delivery support. Experience suggests more can be
achieved when government takes a more proactive, supporting role and
further information on this will be provided shortly. This will also reduce the
need for towns to procure support individually and from third parties,

Page 63



supporting the government’s commitment to curb public sector use of
consultants.

Learning from previous programmes

For the last 60 years, successive governments have tried to tackle community
tensions and inequalities and improve outcomes in areas facing the biggest
challenges.

The programmes have often been overly centralised, not recognising the
unique approach needed by each place, and have not addressed how to bring
people together, counter deprivation and support people to regenerate their
local area. Too often decisions taken have driven a wedge between people
and places. This has resulted in growing discontent with top-down decision-
making that is out of touch with local priorities.

Whilst recent programmes such as Towns Deals and the Towns Fund sought
to support communities and put local people at the centre of decision-making,
polling (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/community-life-survey-202324-
annual-publication/community-life-survey-202324-background-and-headline-
findings#headline-findings) shows that only 11% of people believe their area has
got better to live in over the last 2 years, and 29% say that it has got worse.
People feel like there are more tensions between immigrants and ethnic
groups in society now, than in recent years. It is therefore essential that this
programme draws lessons from what worked best in these previous
programmes.

The New Deal for Communities, launched in 1998 across 39 locations around
England and which later became part of the National Strategy for
Neighbourhood Renewal, was designed to close the gaps between acutely
deprived areas and the rest of the country, focusing on 3 ‘place’ related
outcomes and 3 ‘people’ related outcomes.

The ‘place’ related outcomes included:

e Crime
e community

¢ housing and the physical environment
Whilst the ‘people’ related outcomes focussed on:

e education

Page 64



e health

e worklessness

The independent evaluation of the New Deal for Communities
(https://extra.shu.ac.uk/ndc/downloads/general/A%20final%20assessment.pdf) found
that ‘in many respects, these neighbourhoods [were] transformed’ over the 10
years the programme ran and its successes are still being felt today. Between
2002 and 2008, communities in receipt of funding saw improvement in 32 out
of 36 core indicators, including crime reduction, education and health, and a
closing of the gap with the rest of the country. In some areas, the value for
money for the programme was rated at 5 times higher than the government’s
investment.

There are 3 core pillars of the New Deal for Communities that contributed to its
success.

1. Community empowerment and collaboration:

By encouraging local residents to take an active role in the decision-making in
their communities, the scheme fostered improved social capital in each place.
Bringing together local people with the government agencies, businesses and
organisations that deliver change fostered relationships that lasted beyond the
scheme’s lifetime.

2. Long-termism:

By delivering funding over a 10-year period, the programme ensured that
communities could focus on long-term solutions that built a pipeline of jobs and
sustained change to local areas, rather than quick fixes. The length of the
programme supported entrenched improvement in communities’ capacity and
capability to advocate for themselves and drive change. Beyond certainty over
funding, this also enabled a long-term shared vision for place, helping to
maximise strategic alignment and avoid fragmented investments both within
this programme and other sources.

3. Holistic outcomes:

By taking an outcome-based approach, the programme enabled each place to
address problems holistically. Communities could find solutions that addressed
multiple themes: housing, education, health and employment.

Our Plan for Neighbourhoods emulates and builds on these principles of the
New Deal for Communities.

Funding profile

Page 65



Each community will receive funding and support totalling up to £20 million.
The funding will be split 75% capital and 25% revenue, to the following profile:

Grant 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2
type to to to to to to to to tc
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2

Total 200 382 256 432 432 432 432 437 4
revenue
funding

Revenue 200 150 - - - - - - -
funding
(capacity)
Revenue 232 256 432 432 432 432 437 4
funding

(grants)

Capital 360 1,736 1,605 1,605 1,605 1,605 1,605 1
funding

(grants)

Total 19,537

Note: For revenue capacity, £250,000 was provided over the 2023 to 2024 and
2024 to 2025 financial years.

Delivery funding will be released from the beginning of the 2026 to 2027
financial year, affording communities the time and space to embed the
necessary governance structures, grow their presence within the local area
and build local capacity and capability to be ready to hit the ground running. To
facilitate this, an additional £200,000 of capacity funding will be released at the
start of the 2025 to 2026 financial year to all recipient local authorities. This
builds on the previous £250,000 grants provided to local authorities to
establish Neighbourhood Boards and begin community engagement as part of
the previous administration’s Long-Term Plan for Towns programme.

Local authorities should consult Neighbourhood Boards on their preference for
using this money, which could include:

o establishing and running the Neighbourhood Board, including any process
to establish the board as a charity, community interest company, or other

Page 66



bottom-up organisational model, to sustain long-term investment

e performing community engagement, which could include passporting money
directly to voluntary and community sector groups to assist with
engagement

o developing Regeneration Plans

e securing advice and expertise for Neighbourhood Boards for the technical
elements of plan development and delivery, noting that support is available
from the department and the guidance to curb public sector use of
consultants

» ensuring capital and infrastructure interventions can hit the ground running,
for example, by kickstarting the planning application process, securing
architectural plans and obtaining legal advice, or any other activity that
councils and boards consider will progress their plans

The accompanying governance and boundary guidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-neighbourhood-
boards-and-place-boundaries/plan-for-neighbourhoods-governance-and-boundary-
guidance) sets out more detail on the funding and spending rules — and
additional information will follow in supplementary guidance to be published
shortly. Communities are granted flexibilities with the spend, including the
ability to borrow against what is a guaranteed revenue stream and roll
underspends into later years of the programme.

Neighbourhood Boards should consider how best to use their funding to crowd
in other investment and match funding, from other private and public sources.

We will confirm in due course detail of the additional support provided by
MHCLG in the development and delivery of plans.

Timeline

February to April 2025:

o Neighbourhood Boards and local authorities receive a tailored data pack
detailing metrics across the 3 strategic objectives, and polling on local
sentiment around investment priorities for their area

Page 67



e Neighbourhood Boards to confirm finalised membership and any proposals
to alter the ‘default’ area boundary for spending in their community to
MHCLG by Tuesday 22 April 2025

Spring 2025:
e MHCLG to review membership and boundary proposals and confirm to

places whether acceptable

o Further guidance on fund delivery, tailored policy toolkits for Scotland, Wales
and Northern Ireland, Regeneration Plan submission, assessment and

approval to be published
e MHCLG issues 2025 to 2026 capacity funding payment to all places

Spring 2025 to winter 2025:

e Neighbourhood Boards submit their Regeneration Plan to MHCLG for
assessment and approval

From April 2026:

e First programme delivery funding payment to be made to lead local
authorities, commencement of delivery phase

e MHCLG issues 2026 to 2027 capacity funding payment to all places

Fund objectives

The Plan for Neighbourhoods has at its core a partnership between the
Neighbourhood Board and local government, supported by the UK
Government. This partnership will drive growth by improving the physical and
social infrastructure of their community and deliver tangible improvements to
the everyday lives of these communities. To deliver the greatest impact, we

Page 68



encourage boards to focus the funding and interventions into those
neighbourhoods and communities within their boundaries that have the
greatest need.

The board, working with the local authority, is responsible for producing a 10-
year Regeneration Plan for their area, setting out the activity that will be
pursued to achieve the 3 strategic objectives of this programme:

e thriving places
e stronger communities

e taking back control

By making progress on each of these objectives, local areas will drive forward
the government’s long-term missions.

Thriving places

People take immense pride in their local areas but too many of our high streets
and estates have become neglected and left behind. Town centres and
neighbourhoods must evolve and regenerate to better reflect the needs and
habits of their community, and residents should have a greater say in how
they’re designed.

Every part of the UK deserves to have vibrant neighbourhoods and
communities with busy high streets, a good range of local amenities, and high-
quality physical infrastructure.

We also want the UK to be a country with world-class public services that work
for everyone from the NHS and social care to schools, children’s and youth
services.

Take healthcare for example. The most disadvantaged places are most likely
to experience the worst health outcomes — according to the Office for National
Statistics in 2018 to 2020, women in the most deprived areas of England can
expect to live 20 years fewer in good health compared to women in the least
deprived areas
(https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthine
qualities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2018t020
20#:~:text=In%202018%20t0%202020%2C%20male,deprived%20areas%20(70.7 %20

years).).

Page 69



Places should be able to design public services that are accessible,
responsive, and tailored to local need. Investing in our young people’s futures
and in preventative measures now will ease pressure on services over the
longer-term.

Case study: integration and co-location of health services

The Community Diagnostic Centre at The Glass Works in Barnsley,
supported by Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council in partnership with
Barnsley, the NHS and the Integrated Care Board, has significantly
enhanced healthcare accessibility while contributing to the towns
economic and social regeneration.

Opened in 2022, the centre has delivered over 100,000 diagnostic
appointments, reducing waiting times for tests and screenings and cutting
the backlog of appointments.

Strategically located in the town centre, it exemplifies a ‘health on the high
street approach’, integrating healthcare into community spaces to improve
access and reduce inequalities. Its proximity to public transport has
minimised missed appointments, leading to a 22% increase in attendance
for mammograms and a 24% reduction in ‘did not attend’ rates. By using
retail units, the initiative aligns with national recommendations to use high
street spaces for health-promoting services, attracting an additional 55,000
visits to the town centre, supporting local businesses.

This is an example for public sector innovation and partnership driving
improved health outcomes and economic growth, improving patient care
and fostering a greater sense of community.

Stronger communities

Resilience in some of the most disadvantaged communities has been eroded
over time, and at its most extreme has opened up the space for the type of
disengagement and division that fuelled the violent disorder seen during
summer 2024. Recently polling (https://www.ipsos.com/en-uk/three-four-say-britain-
divided-public-say-problems-are-less-serious-than-us) has found that 76% of
Britons believe ‘the UK feels divided’ and fewer than half of Britons think of
themselves as a member of a community, or part of a local group. We want to
empower boards to tackle the root causes, rebuild relationships, and restore a

Page 70



collective sense of belonging to their community, bringing people together so
they can feel proud of their area and safe in their neighbourhood.

Tackling this division will have a direct, positive impact on growth. Improving
social capital is a virtuous circle across many areas of public life. For example,
where parents know each other, children skipping school is noticed and
addressed more often, improving education outcomes and future earning
potential. If the UK improved social trust to Nordic levels (an increase of
around 30%), research (https://demos.co.uk/research/social-capital-2025-the-hidden-
wealth-of-nations/) shows this could generate growth of £100 billion a year.

Case study: a community centre in Sheffield

Zest is a community centre located in Upperthorpe, Sheffield, where
people can access leisure and swimming facilities, a volunteer-led library
with computers, work and training advice, health and wellbeing services,
early years services and youth clubs. The non-leisure facilities are largely
free at the point of use, with the option to make ‘pay-what-you-can’
donations for some services, for example, meals at the Foodworks café,
which served 6,000 hot meals last year.

Beyond facilities, Zest also delivers community outreach, support and
guidance services, running a support line where residents can receive
personalised information and guidance, either in person or over the phone,
alongside employment advice, support for vulnerable adults and those with
mental health problems and access to foodbank vouchers.

The holiday activities and food (HAF) project, one of Zest’s programmes,
supported holiday activities but in the Malin Bridge and Loxley area only
30% of eligible children were attending. By partnering with the local school
and building on existing trust networks, they increased attendance by
400%, including families that were previously disengaged from school.
This highlights the power of trust and collaboration in strengthening
community ties.

Between 2023 and 2024, Zest's health and well-being services supported
over 1,300 people, and their youth programmes engaged 213 young
people, helping them build confidence and life skills. With a 50% increase
in volunteering last year, Zest is helping to bridge the gap between the
community and wider services, fostering a sense of belonging and
relieving pressures on external resources to create a more cohesive and
resilient community.

Page 71



Taking back control

Talent is spread equally but opportunity is not. People want to be empowered
and in control of their lives, to have a say over the future of their community.
But this can feel a distant prospect when you are living payslip to payslip or
stuck on a waiting list. The life chances of a child born in the North East today
should not be so drastically different as to someone born in London.

We want to make sure children have the best start in life and that adults can
live the life they want to. Whether that’s accessing the skills required for
emerging job markets as we transition to net zero or supporting the thousands
of would-be entrepreneurs through their first steps into self-employment.

We will empower people to enter the workplace, workers to progress, and
businesses to grow. This will in turn help kickstart local economic growth.

Empowered people will also have more of a say in how their local area is
shaped, a central component of this programme and this government’s vision
for communities.

Case study: tackling employment challenges in Grimsby

In Grimsby, a community hub called Centre4 established the Ethical
Recruitment Agency to address employment challenges in North East
Lincolnshire.

They invest in training, temporary and permanent job placements, and
supporting community initiatives aimed at local residents who struggle to
find work through traditional means. This not only strengthens the local
economy but also promotes social cohesion. Any profits are reinvested into
enhancing local skills and personal development, alongside funding
various community projects. As a not-for-profit organisation, the Ethical
Recruitment Agency ensures that businesses benefit from dedicated and
engaged staff through a tailored recruitment approach.

Its “Proud to Care” programme specifically helps people access
opportunities in the care sector throughout North East Lincolnshire,
providing practical support throughout the recruitment process. To ease the
financial and logistical burden on employers, the agency covers the costs
associated with recruitment and training and temporarily subsidises wages
for the first 12 weeks of employment. This support system alleviates some
of the challenges faced by local businesses, while simultaneously fostering
workforce development within the community.

Page 72



Case study: Coleraine Neighbourhood Renewal Partnership, Northern
Ireland

In Coleraine, the Neighbourhood Renewal Partnership (NRP) Board are
working to address the inequalities that result from deprivation. It does so
by making a long-term commitment to communities, working together to
jointly identify the best means to resolve the underlying causes of poverty.
The Partnership draws members from local communities, voluntary
groups, elected representatives, businesses, and public sector
organisations. One project delivered by the NRP was the West Bann
Regeneration project. This brings together and coordinate services that
meet health, education and training needs in the local community. An early
years programme, including creches, provides families with the support
they need to engage with other services or employment. The project also
provided low-cost business units and facilities for the use of the
community. By bringing different services, the project better allows West
Bann residents to pursue different opportunities.

Our Plan for Neighbourhoods is pursuing a broader set of strategic objectives
than seen in the previous administration’s Long-Term Plan for Towns. We want
to empower boards to think about the challenges and opportunities their
communities face in a more holistic way, learning lessons from the New Deal
for Communities, with the scope to invest across a wider range of policy areas
without needing to tie their activity back to just one rigid investment ‘theme.’

Neighbourhood Boards

Neighbourhood Boards put local people at the centre of defining their town’s
future, with responsibility for developing their Regeneration Plan — in
partnership with the local authority - to deliver the strategic objectives of the
programme. They should bring together residents, local businesses,
grassroots campaigners, workplace representatives, faith, and community
leaders and those with a deep connection to their area. In consultation with
their community, the board should generate a vision for the future of their area
and set out a pathway to deliver that over the course of the 10-year
programme (and beyond), considering opportunities to attract and combine
new and existing private, public, and philanthropic funding streams.

We know that many communities will have existing board and governance
structures already in place, most obviously “Town Boards’ established to
deliver the previous administration’s Long-Term Plan for Towns programme.
Significant work went into setting these up, appointing independent chairs and

Page 73



curating an appropriate membership of engaged and involved local
stakeholders. We are clear that we do not want to undo work already
undertaken.

All 75 boards must confirm their proposed chair, membership and
boundary (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-
neighbourhood-boards-and-place-boundaries/plan-for-neighbourhoods-
governance-and-boundary-guidance#confirm) by 23:59pm on 22 April 2025.

The accompanying governance and boundary guidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-neighbourhood-
boards-and-place-boundaries/plan-for-neighbourhoods-governance-and-boundary-
guidance) focuses on:

e accountable bodies and Neighbourhood Board roles and responsibilities
e governance structure requirements for Neighbourhood Boards

o the process and timelines to confirm their Neighbourhood Board
arrangements and boundary to MHCLG

e geographical boundaries for places in receipt of funding

o the associated MHCLG review and approval process

Neighbourhood boards in Scotland, Wales and Northern
Ireland

The government has also committed to resetting relations with the devolved
governments and close collaboration within communities and with wider
government will make boards stronger and more effective.

In Scotland, Neighbourhood Boards should consider the policy objectives of
the Scottish Government’s Regeneration Strategy
(https://www.gov.scot/publications/achieving-sustainable-future-regeneration-
strategy/documents/), which sets out Scotland’s commitment to support the
regeneration of the most disadvantaged urban and fragile rural communities
and how the interventions delivered can complement Scotland’s Town Centre
First Principle and Town Centre Action Plan. We recommend that
Neighbourhood Boards have early conversations with their respective MHCLG
contact and the Scottish Government Regeneration Unit to consider
opportunities to align objectives and maximise funding opportunities.

Page 74



In Wales, boards should consider how their Regeneration Plan interplays with
the objectives of the Welsh Government’s Programme for Government, The
Well-being of Future Generations, the Transforming Towns programme, the
Future Wales planning framework, and other relevant programmes and
strategies.

In Northern Ireland, boards should consider how their Regeneration Plan
interplays with the objectives of the Northern Ireland Executive’s Programme
for Government (https://www.northernireland.gov.uk/publications/programme-
government-2024-2027-our-plan-doing-what-matters-most-documents), alongside
other existing strategies and local development plans such as Council
Community Plans and Local Development Plans.

Regeneration Plans

Places can now submit their Regeneration Plan (https://apply.access-
funding.communities.gov.uk/funding-round/pfn/rp) to MHCLG. The deadline for
submitting plans is 28 November 2025 at midday.

Read the full guidance on Regeneration Plans
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-regeneration-
plan-guidance), including a 10-year vision content checklist and information
about how places can submit their plan.

Neighbourhood Boards must work with local people and the local authority to
draft a Regeneration Plan. We know the challenges in places vary, and that it
is the people living and working in these areas who are best placed to identify
these challenges and inform the solutions. Boards should work in partnership
with their respective local authority and, if relevant, ensure their Mayoral
Combined Authority have been consulted on the plan.

The plan should outline the community’s overarching vision for change over
the next decade to deliver the strategic objectives of the programme,
developed through grassroots engagement to reflect local people’s priorities.

As part of the Regeneration Plan, boards will need to provide a more detailed
investment plan for the first 4-year investment period cycle, which will include
the interventions the board would like to pursue over the period and how that
activity delivers across the 3 strategic objectives of the programme.

Page 75



We know places have worked hard to engage their communities and develop
their ‘Long-Term Plan’ for the previous administration’s Long-Term Plan for
Towns. That progress is not for nothing and should not be undone, nor should
places undo their governance arrangements. Communities should feel
empowered to build and adapt their existing plans - our reforms seek to build
on and improve the previous programme with a new set of strategic objectives
that are aligned to this government’s plan to kickstart growth, to be delivered
by a broader range of policy interventions. We believe this will give
communities greater flexibility as to how and what they can deliver, without
ripping up what has already been done.

Neighbourhood Boards will want the opportunity to iterate their proposals in
response to community feedback, and establishing good governance and trust
within the community takes time to build. Rebuilding capability and confidence
within communities that decades of inequality, austerity and deprivation have
eroded will not happen overnight. A core learning
(https://extra.shu.ac.uk/ndc/downloads/general/A%20final%20assessment.pdf) from
the New Deal for Communities programme was importance of including a
‘year-zero’ in all regeneration schemes, to ensure better outcomes at the end
of a decade of investment. This means setting aside time to ensure that the
foundations of the programme are secure, including employing the right
people, selecting effective management systems, and establishing processes
for community involvement.

That is why we have confirmed a further capacity payment of £200,000 in the
2025 to 2026 financial year. Recognising the differing levels of local capacity
and development work required across the 75 communities, MHCLG will
provide a wide window for Neighbourhood Boards to submit their
Regeneration Plan to us.

Pre-approved interventions and list of powers

The Plan for Neighbourhoods represents a break from the competitive bidding
process and micromanaging of previous regeneration funds. Instead, this is a
model whereby Neighbourhood Boards are provided with a list of pre-
approved interventions (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-
neighbourhoods-prospectus-and-tools/plan-for-neighbourhoods-pre-approved-
interventions) and given the autonomy such that, if that activity can be
evidenced as a clear priority of the community, it can be pursued without the
need to provide a lengthy business case. MHCLG analysts have assessed all
interventions listed and consider them to have a strong case for investment,
value for money and benefit-to-cost ratio.

Page 76



The activities listed range from eye-catching new developments to the bread-
and-butter issues raised by people on the doorstep. To give boards as much
flexibility as to how and what they can deliver we have more than doubled the
number of interventions, providing examples where possible to indicate ideas
for spend while empowering the community to come up with their own
grassroots solutions. Unlike the previous administration’s Long-Term Plan for
Towns programme, the interventions listed are not explicitly tied to one theme
— instead, we are giving boards the flexibility to consider how the interventions
they wish to pursue can apply to any or all of the strategic objectives of the
programme: thriving places, stronger communities and taking back control.
Neighbourhood Boards do not need to explicitly link each intervention back to
just one specific objective.

Similarly, this list is not exhaustive. We encourage Neighbourhood Boards to
think innovatively and creatively about how to deliver the strategic objectives of
the programme. Where activities fall outside the scope of the pre-approved
interventions but the board, based on their community engagement, believes
they are better placed to meet local needs, the board should seek to pursue
these. This would require a business case to be agreed with MHCLG.

We are also providing an updated list of powers
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-neighbourhoods-prospectus-and-
tools/plan-for-neighbourhoods-list-of-powers) (or ‘policy toolkit’), which outlines
existing powers available to communities and local authorities in England (and,
in some instances, Wales).

We will separately publish similar toolkits for Scotland, Wales and Northern
Ireland, following consultation with the devolved governments.

We want to give boards and communities the tools and information they need
to make informed decisions, empowering local people to have ownership over
the future of their neighbourhood and local area. This is not about
micromanaging, this is real devolution — the transfer of power and investment
to where it belongs.

Community engagement

Undertaking meaningful engagement with the local community is a central
pillar of the Plan for Neighbourhoods. Building trust and empowering the local
community requires consistency, dedication and time, and evidence that
people’s priorities have been acted upon.

Page 77



When it comes to communities having more influence over their area, it is
important to ensure this is not dominated by those with the sharpest elbows.
We are providing the time, space and funding to avoid under-resourced and
generic consultation, to ensure Neighbourhood Boards hear from everybody,
and include those from marginalised or deprived communities who typically
may struggle to make their voices heard. These underserved groups include
those whose socioeconomic circumstances, language or culture mean that
they struggle to access ‘usual’ methods of engagement. Examples of this
might be those experiencing homelessness, without access to the internet,
who do not speak English or the elderly.

Community engagement should be iterative, so that people understand how
their priorities are reflected in the plan. It should happen at regular intervals
throughout the course of the programme, as the needs and priorities of
communities evolve, and reverting to previously engaged groups to set out
progress made, how their concerns and priorities were accounted for and
enable the board to be held accountable for their delivery. Neighbourhood
Boards should build on existing community engagement structures by
mapping social infrastructure already present in their community and drawing
on that expertise.

Case study: community-led regeneration

Co-operatives UK led the £1.455 million Community Economic
Development (CED) programme, which empowered 71 communities in
England to create locally driven economic plans. Through partnerships
with groups like Locality and the New Economics Foundation, Co-
operatives UK provided grants and technical support, helping communities
develop sustainable, cooperative-led strategies. Unlike traditional top-
down approaches focused on economic growth, CED empowered
residents to shape their economies by generating wealth and jobs that stay
within their communities.

Safe Regeneration in Bootle, Sefton joined the CED programme with
ambitions to extend beyond their existing business incubation hub, aiming
to significantly increase their impact and activities to benefit the broader
economy. Their projects include:

e acquiring a derelict pub - purchasing from the brewery to create guest
accommodation, a music venue and a gastro pub

o partnering with the Canal and River Trust to revitalise the nearby canal
towpath, both to boost foot traffic and strengthen the local economy

This model of community-led, asset-based development allowed Safe
Regeneration to drive sustainable economic growth tailored to local needs.

Page 78



Case study: improving community outcomes across Wales

Building Communities Trust (BCT) is a third sector advocacy and umbrella
organisation operating across Wales. Its core programme, Invest Local,
aims to strengthen vulnerable Welsh communities by empowering its
residents through community-led regeneration. Invest Local provides up to
£1 million for a 10- year period, and the funding allocation is entirely
community-driven as residents are given the opportunity to identify goals
and develop activities that will bring positive change to their communities.
An officer from BCT is assigned to each place to provide support, help
build capacity, and act as an enabler.

Since 2016, Invest Local has helped improve community outcomes in 13
places across Wales. For example, in Trowbridge and St Mellons,
residents used some of the funding to create a pantry. During the COVID-
19 pandemic, the pantry proved an invaluable asset that made the
community more resilient by providing an array of support services.

More than 60 volunteers worked around the clock to:

e purchase and deliver goods to households
o take calls on the helpline
e provide moral support

e help vulnerable individuals in-person when necessary (almost 300
residents were supported in these ways)

o create and deliver more than 350 ‘activity packs’ to support the
wellbeing of children and young people occupied during lockdown

» provide tailored assistance to vulnerable households facing various
challenges such as bereavement or a risk of homelessness

Best practice for community engagement

As Local Trust notes, ‘a one-size fits all strategy’ will not work; however, we
have set out some best practice that Neighbourhood Boards may wish to
consider when planning community engagement.

Focus on those less likely to be heard:

The Plan for Neighbourhoods will be most effective if boards engage those
who are not usually engaged in decision-making. At its heart, this programme

Page 79



aims to address deprivation, so consider how you can best engage those who
may not usually feel listened to.

Identify local assets:

Use local assets to build on existing strengths, and work with community
groups who have existing relationships and expertise in community
development to design engagement and ensure sufficient reach. Consider
using allocated capacity funding to invest in these organisations to support
engagement.

Make time for meaningful engagement:

When planning community engagement, ensure that enough time is allocated
to allow for meaningful engagement with all sections of the community.

Actively listen to the local community:

Be comfortable in straying from a list of pre-determined questions. Let
conversations flow organically and recognise when people aren’t agreeing with
diagnoses or preferred solutions - let different groups direct the course of the
conversation.

Use your community to identify priorities:

This helps to ensure the plans are co-created with the community from the
start.

Case study: Stranraer place plan

Stranraer was chosen as one of the places to be included in the
Borderlands Growth Deal Place programme. As part of this, the town
required a place plan to identify projects and investments. Many partners
and members of the public felt that they had previously been ‘consulted to
death’ with limited outputs, so the Stranraer Development Trust worked
with a group of six community partners to broaden reach and build
ownership.

They created a ‘town team’ that drew broadly from stakeholders and
sectors in the community to develop the plan. When engaging the public,
they also looked widely, building connections with through local activists
and organisations. They undertook an inclusive 6-month consultation,
meeting people ‘where they’re at’ in schools, existing group activities and
clubs and on the street, rather than insisting local people come to
scheduled events. This resulted in a 5-strand approach with collaborative

Page 80



decision-making and public voting to identify priority projects. 6 strategic
projects are now moving into design for implementation starting in 2025 to
2026.

Target areas where engagement has been weakest:

Use your knowledge of where engagement has typically been weakest, and
which groups might have been underrepresented in the past. Leverage
relationships with community groups to establish how engagement could be
improved to overcome barriers such as income, ethnicity, age, disability and
language.

Be creative and present:

Go into the community. Hold engagement events in the spaces where people
and communities meet, for example, the local high-street, youth clubs, pubs,
schools and community centres. Maximise the opportunity to get the view from
a broad set of residents that may not attend consultation events.

Use a participatory approach:

Encourage the community to participate in decision-making processes, such
as participatory budgeting. This can act as a hook to engage residents, helping
to identify local solutions and bring forward innovative ideas. Local authorities
may be able to help advise on other tools they have used in the past.

Delegate roles to community groups:

Identify where ownership of the planning and delivery of Regeneration Plans
can be given to community groups, facilitating improved local capability by
bringing these groups into the planning and delivery process. Consider how
partners of the Neighbourhood Boards, such as community organisations, can
have a clear role in the process to drive interest in the programme. This could
also include devolving budgets and delivery to community groups for
neighbourhood priorities.

Case study: co-operation at the grassroots

Members of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) are
encouraged to suggest projects where they can work with other members
to find cooperative policy solutions to the challenges facing local
government. The CCIN work programme is divided into larger projects
called Policy Labs, and smaller projects called Policy Prototypes.

Page 81



Between 2019 and 2021, 4 councils worked together on a Policy Lab
project to explore co-operative models for improving community
engagement and delivering better local outcomes. The councils involved
were:

e Burntwood Town Council
e North Herts District Council
o Stevenage Borough Council

e Sunderland City Council

Each council, despite differences in size and resources, adopted
neighbourhood-level strategies to enhance services.

Burntwood focuses on empowering community groups to deliver services,
while North Herts created a food network during the pandemic to ensure
equitable food access. Stevenage implemented a Co-operative
Neighbourhood Programme for collaborative decision-making, and
Sunderland transformed an abandoned golf course into a community park
through local engagement.

These models highlight how councils can collaborate with communities for
more effective and efficient service delivery.

Case study: resident-led transformation in Lawrence Weston
The Ambition Lawrence Weston (ALW) initiative, based on a post-war
housing estate in north-west Bristol, is a community-driven project
supported by funding from Big Local and local partnerships.

Through a community development plan and a neighbourhood
development plan, residents influenced policies such as ensuring that 50%
of new housing is allocated to local families. ALW facilitates a community
network of over 45 organisations, fostering collaboration on impactful
projects such as a solar farm powering 1,000 homes and a planned wind
turbine. These efforts have attracted over £5.5 million in investment,
significantly boosting the local economy, and transformed the area through
new infrastructure, improved transport links, enhanced facilities for young
people and support for local businesses. By circulating wealth locally and
empowering residents, ALW has created a stronger, more self-reliant
community with lasting benefits.

Ensure continued accountability through ongoing engagement
opportunities:

Page 82



Make sure your community stays informed of developments during key
milestones through email, press release, exhibition or in-person events.

Next steps

Placing communities at the heart of the regeneration process has defined
previous successful government initiatives, including John Prescott’s New Deal
for Communities. By consistently investing time in good conversations with
residents, leaders built trust and social capital within communities to ensure
funding was spent on things that mattered to locals.

The Plan for Neighbourhoods provides the funding and support to build trust,
drive growth and release the potential of 75 areas. Through the introduction of
Community Right to Buy and further initiatives to support high streets and
communities, we will see local leaders take back control, neighbourhoods
revitalised, and communities strengthened up and down the country.

OGL

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated © Crown copyright

Page 83



APPENDIX B

Wisbech Regeneration
Plan

Wisbech Town Board

30 September 2025

Page 84



Wisbech Regeneration Plan Wisbech Town Board

Contents

1. IMEFOAUCTION ettt ettt st et e b e s b s e bbbt st e bbbt e b eae st e e b beae b e st e b e st sbenenes 3
2. LOCAI CONEEXT ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et e b et e bt e be b s bbb e st ebeehe e b e b es b b et et eaeebeebebe s eneaee 4
3. TAIZEE AT ..ottt et st et se e sheeb e e bt e bt e bt bt e et e s Rt e st e e b e e R e e s Rt e beenr e b sae e e nees 6
4. ViSION TOF The FULUTIE ...ttt s sttt b bt b bt ae b b et ebe et sbebe e enenee 7
5. SErategiCc Case fOr ChANEE.....ciiiiriiieirie ettt st sttt ettt ste st se e e e e e s et aebesbe st e e ssesessesensassenseneas 9
6. Alignment with other Programmes and INVESTMENTS ......ccccvueeiriireeierninieiriee s 24
7. Match Funding and Leveraged INVESTMENT.......ccvcirriiirineieeerierct st eter et s bee et sestesesesaeseees 31
8. Community and Stakeholder ENGagemeENnT........ccccvcciiiviiieininiiniieeesienieeseseiessesessessesessessessessessssessens 32
9. GOVEINIANCE ..ouiiiiitiiiiieiee sttt e bbbt eb bbb bbb e st s b s e ab e b she s b e b et s ebsebteaseabasbsenbeanes 36
10. AASSUTANCE....cuiiiiiiiiii ittt sat bt sa e she s heebseab e e bt ebs e bbb bbbt e ab b 38
30 September 2025 Page 2

Page 85



1. Introduction

1.1 The Wisbech Regeneration Plan outlines our community’s ambitions and proposals for transforming
Wisbech into a place that we can be even more proud of. It builds on a keen understanding of what
people want for the future, and of how we can shape the town to create new and better opportunities
for everybody. It includes a four-year investment plan designed to speedily address existing concerns,
and a wider ten-year strategy which will change how our residents and businesses live and work.

1.2 The Regeneration Plan is based on a series of comprehensive consultations with all parts of our
community and explains how we will use the £20m Neighbourhood Plan to change our town. Our work
has also been guided by our Town Vision, which reflects the aspirations of people who live, work and
visit in Wisbech.

By 2035, Wisbech will emerge as a rejuvenated and vibrant town, celebrated for its safety,
community and outstanding heritage. Our vision is to drive a comprehensive regeneration effort
using historic and geographic assets such as parks, the river and the Town Centre. We aspire to
create a dynamic environment where residents and visitors alike enjoy an enhanced quality of
life and a renewed sense of community.

Wisbech will harness its rich heritage as a foundation for growth, integrating thoughtful design
and development to revitalise public spaces, improve infrastructure, and boost local businesses.
Our goal is to transform Wisbech into a more attractive and functional town, with modern
facilities and improved connectivity that put Wisbech on the map. This will create jobs and skills
for young people, and ensure everyone will share in our new prosperity.

Success will be measured through tracking the impacts of our regeneration efforts, including
visible improvements in infrastructure and public spaces, increased economic activity, a surge in
local and visitor engagement, and a reduction in anti-social behaviour. Indicators of progress
will include rising property values, expanded business opportunities, positive feedback from the
community and a reduction in crime statistics. Increased foot traffic in revitalised areas will
reflect our success in creating a town that meets the needs of its residents while attracting new
visitors.

By 2035, Wisbech will be a thriving, well-integrated town that proudly celebrates its heritage and
embraces a future of growth and opportunity.

1.3 The Regeneration Plan follows the proscribed format laid out my MHCLG, and is arranged as follows:

Local Context

Target Area

Vision for the Future

Strategic Case for Change

Alignment with other Programmes and Investments
Match Funding and Leveraged Investment
Community and Stakeholder Engagement
Governance

Assurance

30 September 2025 Page 3

Page 86



2. Local Context

2.1 Located between Peterborough, Cambridge and Kings Lynn, ten miles north of March, Wisbech is the
largest market town in the Fens, with a population of approximately 31,500. The town is an inland port
located on the River Nene, which has long played an important role as a trading centre serving a wide
rural catchment.

Figure 1 Wisbech Location

Source: Fenland District Council, Wisbech Masterplan 2022

2.2 In the absence of another city nearby the town is an important local centre offering retail, leisure and
healthcare services to the area. The town draws commuters in from the surroundings, with key sources
of employment including food processing industries, as well as manufacturing, logistics and storage.
Wisbech suffers from poor connectivity due to issues with lack of public transport provision and
inadequate road links. Itis one of the largest towns in the country without a train station and has limited
cycle infrastructure. Key arterial routes such as the A47 running east to west are predominantly single
carriageway and are prone to closure and heavy traffic. The lack of connection to the wider region and
beyond limits commuting opportunities and growth.

2.3 Wisbech has fantastic attributives to celebrate and build from including:

— A collection of some of the most impressive Heritage Assets in the county
— A fantastic community that has proved resilient and proud through multiple generations

— A central focus for the wider region across the Fens that has remained relevant since its origins

30 September 2025 Page 4

Page 87



24 Like many towns there remains some challenges to overcome to reach the Town's potential. The
Agricultural Industry is in constant need of change to suit modern methods of food production, and the
change of industry demands have resulted in an increase in poverty rates within the area. There is a
real skills deficit in the workforce, not helped by a lack of quality training provision. And like many town
centres across the UK, the retail market has significantly changed leaving voids in the once busy high
street. Wisbech has not been immune to these forces and the retail and cultural offer has somewhat
deteriorated.

30 September 2025 Page 5

Page 88



Target Area

3.1 The target area for the Regeneration Plan is unaltered from the boundaries suggested by MHCLG. The
area includes the built-up town centre, surrounding residential areas and employment land extending
to the A47. It excludes Leverington and other surrounding villages.

3.2 We can confirm that all priority schemes in the 4-year Investment plan and 10-year vision are
contained within these boundaries.

Figure 2 Town Board Operating Area
: ol \ | T T
l o\ | 5 " Rokewood Ltd Xl W _k__'“ ’,W
/ | | g Whiel Fiekd
) | { i reat | it E N roft s f;
{ | i Field 8 | /
- Gorefield Rogy ! | =
Gorefield.— 4 - :“
L &
everington vk
&. AT
2 0 Gyt
B1169 y
i
Grange Farm i /
Barrett's f
Bridge: / o g
: | ) Say b
B1169 t ‘I( sbecrl “aﬁbo°‘l ] R Al
& = R 3 A1101 - ‘J' Lé?
“ENursen il §
| y { F
Fens Falconry / Dave Parfin A1101: < : / i
Car Sales 3 \ A4T
B1166 ¥ Crown Thomas - =4 b,
SunsetRooms ? ? [ ECIZ:‘;::. A = =
WisbechiStharyL_/
son & By g
k : N &
ring A &
= o oAl L 3
; VERESe — ) 110Y Emneth
A7 . 2 \ Church Read Playing Field
4 A Emnethi— 3
, 5 % £ EIm A ¥
: I’p Wisbech, = \ &
Q025 05 1 Kilometers i 5 \ Solar Farm \ 4
Source: Generated from MHCLG data.
30 September 2025 Page 6

Page 89



4. \Vision for the Future

Our Vision for Wisbech

By 2035, Wisbech will emerge as a rejuvenated and vibrant town, returning to its status as a prosperous
anchor in the Fens - celebrated for its safety, community and outstanding heritage.

Our vision is to drive a comprehensive regeneration effort utilising historic and geographic assets such
as parks, the river and the Town Centre. We aspire to create a dynamic environment where residents
and visitors alike enjoy an enhanced quality of life and a renewed sense of community.

Wisbech will harness its rich heritage as a foundation for growth, integrating thoughtful urban planning
and development to revitalise public spaces, improve infrastructure, and boost local businesses. Our
goal is to transform Wisbech into a more attractive and functional town, with modern facilities and
improved connectivity that put Wisbech on the map. The town will be driven by an ambitious Town
Board which will seek investment into the town at every opportunity. This will create jobs and skills for
young people, and ensure everyone will share in our new prosperity.

Success will be measured through monitoring of improvements in infrastructure and public spaces,
increased economic activity, a surge in public engagement, and a reduction in anti-social behaviour.

Indicators of progress will include rising property values, expanded business opportunities, positive
feedback from the community and a reduction in crime statistics. Increased foot traffic in revitalised
areas will reflect our success in creating a town that meets the needs of its residents while attracting
new visitors.

By 2035, Wisbech will be a thriving, well-integrated town that proudly celebrates its heritage and
embraces a future of growth and opportunity.

4.1 Our Vision Statement reflects the priorities and aspirations of local people. Success will be measured
through monitoring of improvements in infrastructure and public spaces, increased economic activity,
a surge in public engagement, and a reduction in anti-social behaviour. Indicators of progress will
include rising property values, expanded business opportunities, positive feedback from the
community and a reduction in crime statistics. Increased foot traffic in revitalised areas will reflect our
success in creating a town that meets the needs of its residents while attracting new visitors.

4.2 By 2034, Wisbech will be a thriving, well-integrated town that proudly celebrates its heritage and
embraces a future of growth and opportunity.

4.3 Our priorities for change are built on the following principles and ambitions:

— Making the most of what makes Wisbech great

— Tackling negative perceptions and barriers to people using the town centre
— Enhancing outcomes and opportunities for young people

— Improving Wisbech's profile regionally and nationally

— Making it easier for residents to choose sustainable and inclusive travel options

30 September 2025 Page 7

Page 90



Table 1 Town Vision Ambitions and Aspirations

Goal Description

Making the most of what makes Maximising the value of heritage, tourism, open spaces, and
Wisbech great supporting its active community.

Improving the town centre environment, including vacant sites,
better amenities and cleanliness. Improving feelings of security
and combatting antisocial behaviour, including improved

Tackling negative perceptions and
barriers to people using the town

centre o -

activities and opportunities for young people.
Enhancing outcomes and Developing community sport and leisure facilities to promote
opportunities for young people active communities and reduce youth offending.
Improving Wisbech's profile Re-establishing Wisbech as a cultural centre and visitor
regionally and nationally destination.

Making it easier for residents to
choose sustainable and inclusive
travel options

Improving bus and cycle infrastructure, accessibility for the
disabled, helping the town centre to become more inclusive.

Source: Wisbech Masterplan

30 September 2025 Page 8

Page 91



5.1

5.2

53

54

Strategic Case for Change

Key Challenges in Wisbech

The evidence provided by the MHCLG clearly describes a town with a strong case for change. In almost
all indicators, the town lags behind the national average. Yet there are also great opportunities for
Wisbech. As shown by MHCLG’s Index of Priority Places, the district of Fenland is a Tier 2 local
authority and is ranked the 124th most in need of investment out of 309 local authorities in England.
In terms of accessibility and travel, the area is severely disadvantaged, being the 71st most
disadvantaged in the country.

Within Fenland, Wisbech faces a number of more specific challenges. Community consultation and
independent assessment reveals a weight of negative perceptions about the town, often focused on a
run-down town centre beset by anti-social behaviour. Despite this, Wisbech has much to celebrate and
build from, including significant cultural and heritage assets, and resilient and active local communities.

Some of the key challenges faced by Wisbech are:
— Ingrained economic disadvantage: Low and slow economic growth, contribution and

deprivation.

— Adeclining town centre and challenging viability: Unable to capitalise on its historic and
cultural assets.

— Lack of opportunities for residents and young people: Unemployment is high, access to
training and higher paid jobs is limited.

— Susceptibility to crime and poor social trust.

— Arelatively isolated economy.

INGRAINED ECONOMIC DISADVANTGE

Fenland has among the lowest productivity and GVA levels in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Combined Authority (CPCA) and East of England region. GVA per filled job is just £56,675 in 2023, as
opposed to the East of England average of £69,151, and the English average of £74,814". The gap
between Fenland and the rest of the country has also been widening in the last 10 years to 2023.

T GVA per filled jobs data estimated using GVA data for 2023 (current prices) and employment data obtained from the
Business Register and Employment Survey (2023) both available from the Office for National Statistics.

30 September 2025 Page 9

Page 92



Figure 3 GVA Change 2013-2023
170
e fFenland — e=—East of England — e=England
160
150
140
130

120

110

100
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
90

Source: ONS (2025), 2013-2023

5.5 Deprivation in Fenland is widespread, but particularly acute in Wisbech. 24% of workers in Fenland earn
below the living wage, which is 4% higher than the East of England, and the national average (ONS,
Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (2020). Health (9 out of 12 Fenland neighbourhoods are in the
20% most deprived wards) and skills outcomes are particularly poor in the area.

Figure 4 Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2019

M ot g "
Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019
[ 1 (Most Deprived)
I 2
3

Wisbech Road

aue s2dod
;i ﬁ?}:

ST

Ringers Lane

N o v e

8
K]
I 10 (Least Deprived)
[] Wisbech LSOA Best-Fit Geography

The sy

&
b2
&U‘\w K>
G? )
’/D
By

T \\\ Holly End
v 2 S
§ S N

& & .

& & N

Q,
/ The Stitch, Needham Bang %’e/{ Road
. N
Source: MHCLG (2019), Indices of Multiple Deprivation
30 September 2025 Page 10

Page 93



5.6

5.7

5.8

Survey results highlight that residents feel the local area is ‘left behind’ compared to the rest of the
country. 63% respondents stated that they feel their area has been very left behind compared to the
rest of the country.

Figure 5 Perceptions of Local Community

1 12% 22%

B | think my local areais much better off than the rest of thecountry Ml | think my local area is somewhat better off than the rest of the country Ithink my area is similar to the rest of the country
I think my areais somewhat left behind BN 1think my area is very left behind

Source: Zencity (2025), ‘Wisbech Survey Results’

A DECLINING TOWN CENTRE AND CHALLENGING VIABILITY

Wisbech has proven many times in its history that it has all the ingredients to ensure financial and
cultural strengths can be sustainable on a local level. But the town is performing poorly in relation to
other centres in Fenland and the wider East of England area. The Place Index suggests a Fenland wide
vacancy rate of just 6%, the position in Wisbech is much worse:

— In Wisbech Town Centre there are approximately 259 retail outlets. There are 57 retail units
vacant (22%) in Wisbech, which is higher than the national average and considerably higher than
the estimates used in the MHCLG Index of Priority Places.

— On the basis of total floorspace, 27.8% of total floorspace is vacant compared to a national
average of 16.1%.

— Rental value in Wisbech is consistently (19%) lower than Fenland and the East of England for both
office and retail.

Despite this, the town centre has many assets, such as a recently upgraded marketplace and many
buildings of significant historic merit. These assets are currently not being capitalised upon, and as such
vital opportunities to increase footfall in the town centre are being missed. Insights from Zencity
highlight that, among respondents who are proud to live in their local area, the top reasons they are
proud are "because of the green and natural spaces here" (73%) and "because of the culture heritage
and history of the local area" (46%). Supporting and enhancing these characteristics of the area will be
an important consideration for the Regeneration Plan.

30 September 2025 Page 11

Page 94



LACK OF OPPORTUNITIES FOR RESIDENTS AND YOUNG PEOPLE

5.9 Unemployment is higher than the national average, and unemployment rates are higher than the East
of England, and England by around 2%. Fenland has a higher rate of people working at occupational
level 1 (18.3%) than nationally (9.2%) and lower rates at levels 3 and 4.

Figure 6 Socioeconomic Indicators

Wisbech
Low Skill Employment

Vational Average

Wisbech
House Prices

X

Average Earnings

]

Fenland Fenland Fenland
B oy ’ e
319 11 15

On Social forneed  for opportunity

Mobility Index  in Arts Council England ranking

Source: ONS, Social Mobility Index, Arts Council England.

5.10 Atthe same time the Social Mobility Index ranks Fenland 319th out of 324 local authorities. In terms of
the House Price Affordability, which is a measure of house prices relative to the residents' earnings,
house prices are currently 7.4x higher than average resident earnings in Fenland.

5.11  This picture is exacerbated by a lack of visible or accessible skills training, sporting and creative
opportunities available to residents. In 2021 Arts Council England identified Fenland as a Priority Place
for intervention in the arts, placing it 11th out of 319 Local Authority Districts in England in terms of
‘Need'. This was despite the area's relatively high presence of community groups and cultural
partnerships, placing it 15th out of 319 districts for ‘Opportunity’.

5.12  Furthermore, survey insights from Zencity highlight concerns from residents about the local area for
children and young people. These are lower than average results across the survey questions.

30 September 2025 Page 12

Page 95



Figure 7 Children and Young People (% agree)

A Averageacross75towns

@ Wisbech
: . . % 38%
My local areais a good place to bring up children °. A -
L , , L 14% 36% '
There are activities for childrenin my local area = A -
Children that live inmy local area have a good 14% A36%
quality of life
1 1
Childrenthat liveinmylocalareahave 7% A30%
opportunities available to them
Itis easy for childrento getinvolvedin crime 53%A .69%
orjoingangsinmy local area
1 1 1 | 1
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Zencity (2025), ‘Wisbech Survey Results’

SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CRIME AND POOR SOCIAL TRUST
5.13 The economic and social factors described above leave Wisbech communities more vulnerable to crime
and exploitation than in most of the country.

5.14 The Fenland district is the second smallest in terms of population in Cambridgeshire but hosts
disproportionately large populations of individuals potentially vulnerable to victimisation by or
participation in serious organised crime, notably: foreign migrant and temporary workers, the
unemployed or underemployed, the economically deprived, and looked-after children.

5.15 A 2020 study of child criminal exploitation showed Wisbech had a particularly high concentration of
under 18s affected by crime harm, including the Waterlees and Clarkson wards. Medworth ward is one
of seven long-term high harm wards in the county that collectively generate 20% of all harm in
Cambridgeshire?. This is further reinforced by the Zencity data, highlighting that 'It is easy for children
to get involved in crime or join gangs in my local area' more than the average across the 75 Plan for
Neighbourhood towns (+17%)3.

5.16  Looking at detailed crime reports, Wisbech has a recorded crime rate of 124.2 reported crimes per
1,000 people, as shown in Table 2. This is higher than the recorded crime rate in Fenland (78.4) and
England (76.7). When looking at the breakdown of reported crime, violence and sexual offences has the
highest prevalence, with 44.7 reported crimes per 1,000 people which is higher than the average rates
for Fenland (34.8) and England (32.3).

2 Fenland Community Safety Partnership.
3 Zencity (2025) Plan for Neighbourhood Survey Results: Wisbech, July 2025. Survey carried between 9™ of April to the 26" of May 2025.

30 September 2025 Page 13

Page 96



Table 2 Crime Statistics in Wisbech, Fenland and England

General Crime and Social Indicators

Indicator Wisbech Fenland England
Recorded crime rate per 1,000 population (2022) 124.2 78.4 76.7
Anti-social behaviour per 1,000 population (2024) 19.9 13.9 14.8
Social trust (%) (2023) -15% -8% -3%
Crime Type Wisbech Fenland England
Bicycle theft 0.9 0.7 0.9
Burglary 6.2 3.5 3.9
Criminal damage and arson 12.1 8.4 7.1
Drugs 3.9 2.1 2.8
Other crime 2.5 28 2.0
Other theft 14.4 7.3 6.9
Possession of weapons 1.8 1.2 0.9
Public order 6.3 4.6 6.6
Robbery 0.9 0.5 1.3
Shoplifting 12.6 6.1 7.9
Theft from the person 0.9 0.5 2.3
Vehicle crime 8.6 5.0 5.7
Violence and sexual offences 44.7 34.8 32.3

Note: Rates were calculated using 2022 mid-year population estimates due to data availability.
Source: MHCLG (2025) Wisbech - local data profile pack

5.17  Antisocial behaviour is an issue regularly cited in community and stakeholder engagement, including
the recent engagement workshop with the High Streets Task Force. This is backed up by analytical work
by Cambridgeshire Constabulary, which has identified a number of ‘hot-spots’ within Wisbech town
centre. Their analysis shows that whilst Fenland District as a whole has a high proportion of properties
categorised as ‘Comfortable Communities’, these parts of Wisbech town centre are predominantly
categorised as ‘Urban Adversity'.

30 September 2025 Page 14

Page 97



Figure 8 Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Hotspots in Wisbech Town Centre

""4\ ' ‘.(\V(s ‘a. *
Source: Cambridgeshire Constabulary.

5.18 Net social trust is defined as the estimated proportion of people who say they generally trust others
minus the proportion of people who say that you cannot be too careful when dealing with people.
According to Onward (2023), Wisbech has a social trust score of -15%, which is significantly lower than
the Fenland average of -8% and England average of -3%, showing that there is a lower level of social
trust within Wisbech than national levels. More deprived Middle Layer Super Output Areas (MSOAs)are
likely to have lower levels of social trust than less deprived MSOAs in Wisbech.

5.19  Tackling crime is the highest priority area residents would like to see improvements in, with 53% of
residents indicating this when asked to identify areas for improvement in Wisbech as outlined through
an online survey carried by Zencity (2025)%, see Figure 9. Tackling anti-social behaviour is the second
most indicated answers, with 52% of responses highlighting the need. Overall, safety concerns are a
key challenge for residents - with 55% of respondents indicating that safety is one of the main reasons
they are not proud to live in Wisbech. Approximately 58% of responders consider the area to be run
down.

4 Zencity (2025) Plan for Neighbourhood Survey Results: Wisbech, July 2025. Survey carried between 9™ of April to the 26 of May 2025.

30 September 2025 Page 15

Page 98



Figure 9 Areas Requiring Improvement

Tackling crime - 53%
Anti-social behaviour - 52%

Attractiveness of the town centre - 32%
Range of shops and services (e.g. banks, barbers 32%
etc.)
Cleanliness of streets - 27%

Public transport - 19%
Public services - 15%
Lack of housing - 13%
Cultural creative and arts events and spaces - 12%
Youth and family services - 8%

Sports facilities - 6%
Access to skills (e.g. provision of training and 5%
development)
Digital connectivity 3%

Green spaces (e.g. parks, community gardens) - 2%
No improvements needed + 1%
Other - 11%

Source: Zencity (2025), ‘Wisbech Survey Results’

A RELATIVELY ISOLATED ECONOMY

5.20  Wisbech suffers from poor transport connectivity. The fact that the A47 is single carriageway for much
of its journey east and west from Wisbech makes it unsafe and slow. Cycle infrastructure to connect
the town to other places is poor. All of the above means that it is difficult to work in any of the East of
England’s primary employment centres - Peterborough, Cambridge, and Norwich - while living in
Wisbech. The economic impacts of this are clear.

5.21  Within Wisbech there are low levels of professional employment, meaning that many who want to move
on in their career feel they need to leave the town. This takes people and resources away. It is also a
missed opportunity to bring more money in to flow around the town, which would help the high street
immensely.

Figure 10 Impacts of Poor Transport Connectivity

Difficult to

Poor roads travel to work
. Poor cycle o
leading to ; opportunities
infrastructure .
slow transport in
. to . .

connectivity to neighbouring

surrounding primary

Negative
impacts on
fole]
economy,
employment
and
investment

Residents
leave Wisbech

for career

surrounding progression

areas
areas. employment

centres

5.22  Whilst these major regional transport links undoubtedly need improving, this is considered beyond the
reach of the Plan for Neighbourhoods funding and should be pursued through a wider programme of
regional investment.

30 September 2025 Page 16

Page 99



Figure 11 Transport Links in Wisbech

.= ==

+“ Circa30 S
. i dr N
s min drive, 2 A148
\
r' King's Lypn
k ’ \l
’
Circa 1 hr 30 min drive
\ Xiip ' AN101 56 miles
\
. .
LN
N | Norwich
. i
-
el

Circa 40 mins
To Kings Cross |
via train

Bury St
1 Edmnds

Under 2 hrs drive to : .
Stanstead Airport Transport Links surrounding Wisbech

Priorities for Change

5.23  The Town Board's vision is underpinned by an extensive and ongoing programme of consultation,

carried out over the last 8 years. Throughout this period, opinion has been sought directly from local
people (for example, the comprehensive | Love Wisbech and Wisbech 2020 consultation programmes),

as well as from expert advisers in regeneration and placemaking (for example, the High Streets Task
Force, the Growing Fenland Wisbech Masterplan and an Independent Economic Commission).

5.24  Through this period, key issues raised by local people include:

Improving the town centre to encourage greater usage, including improved cleanliness,

addressing derelict or vacant sites, exploiting the town’s heritage assets and encouraging a better
mix of town centre retail/leisure/cultural uses.

Addressing antisocial behaviour and feelings of safety and security in the town centre through
more visible policing, CCTV and other security measures.

Improving the range and availability of facilities and activities for young people, including sport,
leisure and cultural opportunities.

Strengthening the cultural and heritage offer in the town centre and building a stronger identity
and brand for the town around this.

30 September 2025 Page 17

Page 100



— Forming place management partnerships to improve the attractiveness of key areas within the
town, and tackle ASB, including Town Marshals and more targeted policing.

Alignment with Objectives

525 The links between identified areas of community need, the Plan for Neighbourhoods intervention
themes and the proposed interventions are displayed below.

Figure 12 Actions and Alignment

Security Improvements

« Deliver security improvements by enhancing
CCTV coverage and street lighting.

« Increase security presence to deter anti-social
behaviour.

Project Shortlist

* Provision of CCTV in key parts of town centre.

* Provision of uniformed street wardens in key
parts of town centre.

» Safeguarding and redevelopment of Wisbech

Town Centre Facilities Investments
« Deliver inclusive and accessible facilities.

. Enhaqce the provision of indoor public and + Regeneration, high streets and heritage Corn Exchange for community use.
amenityspacesdstchiasifoedicotli/zallery + Housing * Leisure centre enhancement projects.
/events space. o . . )

- . . + Work, productivity and skills + Castle visitor centre café.
« Improve the condition of derelict buildings. 7 X
+ Cohesion * 11-12 high street redevelopment.
. + Health and wellbein; . i

Tourism Offer g General business grant. .

: : : : : + Transport * General town centre public realm.

+ Provide tourist and heritage information < Saf d . T ET S
points and improve visibility online. arety ‘?" Seculity ) - P i ) .

» Enhance the Cultural Quarter centred on + Education and opportunity lverside |mprovemejn S . §
Wisbech Castle & Museum. + NBIU scheme (small industrial units

supported by revenue to deliver

« Sport the night-time economy by improving )

the hotel and restaurant offer.
Community Cohesion & Inclusivity

« Create opportunities for young people.

« Deliver cultural activities that promote
community cohesion.

Areas of Intervention

5.26  The Town Board has shortlisted the following projects, which all constitute pre-approved
interventions under the 16" June 2025 Guidance issued by MHCLG.

5.27  This listincludes three major capital projects, which will prioritised by the Town Board following an
initial stage of due diligence.

30 September 2025 Page 18

Page 101



Table 3 Shortlisted Interventions

PROPOSED
INTERVENTION

TIME PERIOD

PRE-APPROVED
INTERVENTION CATEGORY

DESCRIPTION

PROVISION OF CCTV IN
KEY PARTS OF TOWN
CENTRE

PROVISION OF
UNIFORMED STREET
WARDENS IN KEY PARTS
OF TOWN CENTRE

GENERAL BUSINESS
GRANT

SAFEGUARDING AND
REDEVELOPMENT OF
WISBECH CORN
EXCHANGE FOR
COMMUNITY USE

LEISURE CENTRE
ENHANCMENT PROJECTS

CASTLE VISITOR CENTRE
CAFE

30 September 2025

4 Year Investment
Plan and ongoing

4 Year Investment
Plan and ongoing

4-year Investment
Plan horizon

4 Year Investment
Plan

Safety & Security - design &
oversight of built and landscaped
environment to design-out crime
and encourage positive behaviour

Safety & Security - policing
interventions to target crime
prevention in specific locations

Work, productivity and skills:
Developing and expanding local
business support and networks
for smaller businesses and social
enterprises

Regeneration, high streets &
heritage: better accessibility for
disabled people

Cohesion: Investment in capacity
building and infrastructure
support for local civic society,
youth and community groups.

<<<<<<<<<<AND/OR>>>>>>>>>>

4 Year Investment
Plan

Health and well-being: funding
for local sport and activity
facilities, to foster community
engagement and connection.

<<<<<<<<<<AND/OR>>>>>>>>>>

4 Year Investment
Plan

Regeneration, High Street &
Heritage: Enhanced support for
arts, cultural, heritage activities,
projects and facilities and historic
institution that make-up the local
cultural offer.

<<<<<<<<<<AND/OR>>>>>>>>>>

Mixture of initial
capital funding and
ongoing revenue
funding support

Revenue funding

General Business
Grant available for
application to the
Town Board.

Capital project, likely
to extend beyond 4-
year investment plan
horizon

Enhancement of
facilities to improve
health and wellbeing
access. To allow more
community focused
activities above and
beyond the current
health facilities.

Improvements to the
Wisbech Castle café
and hub to celebrate
local heritage.

Page 19

Page 102



PROPOSED
INTERVENTION

TIME PERIOD

PRE-APPROVED
INTERVENTION CATEGORY

DESCRIPTION

SAFEGUARDING AND
DEVELOPMENT OF KEY
SITES IN THE TOWN
CENTRE

4-year Investment
Plan horizon

Regeneration, high streets and
heritage: funding for
improvements to town centres,
neighbourhoods and high street,
including capital spend and
running costs

Restoration and
redevelopment of
historic High Street
properties. Potential
for mixed-use space
including retail and
housing.

TOWN CENTRE PUBLIC
REALM IMPROVEMENTS

RIVERSIDE
IMPROVEMENTS

NBIU SCHEME (SMALL
INDUSTRIAL UNITS
SUPPORTED BY REVENUE
TO DELIVER
APPRENTICESHIPS)

Outside 4-year
Investment Plan
horizon

Outside 4-year
Investment Plan
horizon

Outside 4-year
Investment Plan
horizon

Regeneration, high streets &
heritage: public realm
improvements

Regeneration, high streets &
heritage: public realm
improvements

Work, productivity and skills:
developing and expanding
existing business support and
networks for smaller businesses

Upgrades to public
spaces to enhance the
town’s appearance
and usability. Includes
improved hoarding to
uplift visual appeal
and safety.

Revitalisation of the
riverside area to boost
leisure and tourism.
Focus on landscaping,
seating, and
pedestrian access.

Note: Most projects fit into multiple categories for pre-approved interventions, only the most relevant has been

suggested for each project.

5.28 Table 4 displays how these proposals match against the Neighbourhood Fund objectives:

Table 4 Alignment with Funding Objectives

PROPOSED INTERVENTION

ALIGNMENT AGAINT FUNDING

OBJECTIVES

NOTES

Provision of CCTV in key parts of town
centre

Provision of uniformed street wardens
in key parts of town centre

Safeguarding and redevelopment of
Wisbech corn exchange for community

use

Leisure centre enhancement projects

30 September 2025

Thriving Places / Stronger
Communities

Thriving Places / Stronger
Communities

Thriving Places/Stronger

Communities

Thriving Places/Stronger
Communities

Build community cohesion
through increasing safety

Build community cohesion
through increasing safety

Redevelopment of

Community space and key
regeneration site

Page 20

Page 103



PROPOSED INTERVENTION ALIGNMENT AGAINT FUNDING NOTES
OBJECTIVES

Castle visitor centre café Thriving Places

Safeguarding and development of key Thriving Places
sites in the Town Centre

General business grant Taking Back Control/Thriving Places  Business grant to support
training and relayed activities

General town centre public realm Thriving Places

improvements

Riverside improvements Thriving Places

NBIU scheme (small industrial units Taking Back Control Skill focused intervention

supported by revenue to deliver
apprenticeships)

Regeneration Plan Outcomes

5.29  The proposed interventions are expected to give rise to a range of positive outcomes. These are
outlined in Table 6.

30 September 2025 Page 21

Page 104



Table 5 Spending Outcomes

PROPOSED
INTERVENTION

LONG TERM OUTCOMES FOR WISBECH

Provision of CCTV in key
parts of town centre

Provision of uniformed
street wardens in key parts
of town centre

Safeguarding and
redevelopment of Wisbech
corn exchange for
community use

Leisure centre
enhancement projects

Castle visitor centre café

Safeguarding and
development of key sites in
the Town Centre

General business grant

General town centre public
realm improvements

Riverside improvements

NBIU scheme (small
industrial units supported
by revenue to deliver
apprenticeships)

30 September 2025

Improved perception of safety, supporting increased footfall and
confidence in town centre use.

Greater sense of security for residents, particularly vulnerable groups.
Attracts businesses and visitors by creating a safer environment,
supporting evening economy.

Enhanced place management and crime deterrence, as well as
providing reassurance for residents and building confidence in the
local area.

Improved business outcomes by reducing antisocial behaviour and
encouraging longer dwell time in the town centre.

Restoration of historic asset will engender pride in place and improve
perceptions of place as the Corn Exchange as a highly visible and
prominent location on the River Nene.

Potential to repurpose for community use by civic, youth, cultural and
charitable organisations will foster inclusion and participation,
creating opportunities for social enterprises and events-based
economy, supporting jobs and skills.

Improvements to facilities will encourage users to engage in physical
activity, tackling health inequalities. Improved access to sport and
wellbeing activities improves the range of activities for young people
and families in the area, retaining activity and spend in the area.

Investment in Wisbech Castle will improve the asset for use by visitors
and the local community, increasing pride in place as one of the
town’s most prominent attractions. This should also increase local
spend and act as a gathering place for the community.

Delivery of new commercial space in currently derelict site on the high
street. Overcome negative perceptions associated with a derelict
building in primary shopping area and introducing a new activity onto
the high street, supporting employment and spend.

General business grant will support business start-ups and SME
growth in the area by providing access to funding with broader
parameters than commercial lenders.

Enhancements to the town centre environment will provide
improvements to the streetscape, offering more usable, welcoming
and attractive spaces for daily use and events. This should support
dwell time and local retail and hospitality.

Enhance the riverside area as an attractive and welcoming part of the
town centre - improving the connection between the central
shopping area and the amenity offered by the waterway.

Intervention will support bringing underused land and premises back
into use for new and existing businesses. This will be enhanced by the
provision of revenue spend to create apprenticeship roles -
improving pathways into work through apprenticeships and skills
training for young people.

Page 22

Page 105



Intended Use of Powers

5.30 Table 7 shows the Neighbourhoods Board's current view on the nature of the powers that they may
wish to exercise - in conjunction with Fenland District Council (or its legacy body).

Table 6 Intended Use of Powers

POWER INTENDED USE

REGENERATION & HIGH STREET Likely to explore relevant powers in relation to improvement of the
built environment in the town centre.

HOUSING Possible minimal use of powers to promote reuse of derelict buildings

WORK, PRODUCTIVITY & SKILLS Powers largely irrelevant for Town Board priorities

COHESION Limited use, perhaps around Co-operative Placemaking

HEALTH AND WELLBEING Limited use around design of public realm

TRANSPORT Powers largely irrelevant for Town Board priorities

SAFETY AND SECURITY Likely to explore in some detail given the community focus on crime
reduction

EDUCATION AND OPPORTUNITY Will consider role of Town Board in the delivery of the Young Futures
Programme to reduce the risk of crime, and where there is work
ongoing in the 75 communities Town Boards should consider what
role they could play as part of that

30 September 2025 Page 23

Page 106



6. Alignment with other Programmes and Investments

Planned Investments

6.1 There are a range of recently delivered schemes and planned investments proceeding in Wisbech that
the Regeneration Plan will complement and enhance.

6.2 Recent investments include:

— Recently reopened Castle attraction in the heart of the town
— Recently renovated Museum (2022)

— Recently redeveloped Market Place (opened June 2022)
6.3 Investments underway include:

— 24 High Street
— Wisbech Park
— National Lottery Heritage Fund high street improvement project

— Nene Waterfront redevelopment

24 HIGH STREET
6.4 Fenland District Council has procured a construction company to develop the empty site at 24 High
Street that has stood empty as a ‘missing tooth’in the High Street for more than 40 years.

6.5 The new building will consist of a small ground floor shop unit, and 7 flats over three stories above. The
building has been designed to complement the historic High Street. The original completion date was
October 2024, with that now more likely to be March 2025, due to difficulties encountered during the
build.

6.6 Funding for this project is predominantly from Fenland DC, National Lottery Heritage Fund, with CPCA
contributing £250k from a housing fund as the flats will be rented as affordable units.

WISBECH PARK

6.7 The proposals for Wisbech park are for an outdoor electricity supply which will facilitate/generate
additional use of Wisbech Park. The electricity supply will support the organisation of leisure,
recreation, sports and other community activities (such as targeted youth work and health and
wellbeing-related activity); the annual Armed Forces Day event and the annual WisBEACH Rock Festival
(delivered by Wisbech Town Council). This will support community cohesion and integration and a
“sense of place” for local people.

6.8 The provision of an electricity supply would prevent the need to use generators (which are costly to
hire and run, use fossil fuel, are noisy and produce fumes and odour).

6.9 As the owner of Wisbech Park, Fenland District Council (FDC) would undertake the procurement
exercise on behalf of Wisbech Town Council. Although the proposed electricity supply would be the
responsibility of Wisbech Town Council, which would be its primary user, the council will make it
available to local community groups and bodies to support activities and events delivered in the park.

6.10  The financial requirement for this investment c. £25,000. Funding will be relocated from the Wisbech
Shop Watch Radio Scheme underspent following the cancellation of the scheme.

30 September 2025 Page 24

Page 107



WISBECH HIGH STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

6.11  National Lottery Heritage Fund supported Wisbech High Streetimprovement project, awarding a £1.9m
grant to support the restoration of several buildings on the High Street, bring new uses back into empty
properties and transform the derelict sites at number 11-12 and 24.

6.12  Eligible works under the grant conditions included repairs to roofs, chimneys, leadwork, downpipes,
gutters, parapets, stonework, brickwork and repointing. The project also supported traditional repair
of windows, doors and external joinery, including historic shopfronts, with all repairs undertaken using
traditional materials replicating original patterns and details. The buildings were selected having been
identified previously as High Priority.

6.13  Alongside the High Street building improvements, a series of heritage-related activities for local
community learning and participation were organised. The project delivered activities agreed under the
Activity Plan over 4 years. These included traditional construction skills training, archaeological
investigation, photography, exhibitions and open days as well as close involvement with community
groups and schools to promote heritage learning.

NENE WATERFRONT REDEVELOPMENT

6.14 A major residential development is due to commence ground works in Spring 2026 at Nene Parade.
The first phase of the scheme, originally promoted by Fenland Future Ltd, a subsidiary of the council,
will provide a care home up to 70 apartments with amenity space and communal space.

6.15 The development will provide safe, comfortable, and independent living for older residents while
offering access to tailored care and support services, to meet a growing need for adaptable
accommodation within Wisbech, ensuring that residents can maintain their independence in a secure
and supportive environment. It will also support the creation of 25 local jobs.

6.16 A planning application has been submitted in June 2025 with a decision expected in autumn 2025. The
proposals would make use of existing brownfield land, contributing to the regeneration and
rejuvenation of the Nene waterfront.

Masterplans for Wisbech

WISBECH MASTERPLAN 2022
6.17  The Wisbech Masterplan sets out the long-term spatial vision for Wisbech that responds to local needs,
builds upon the town'’s core strengths, and positions it for investment and as a visitor destination.

6.18 It sets out key ambitions for to drive change in the town through:

— Improved connectivity and pedestrian links

— Enhancement of key streets and public realm

— Extending the town centre to Nene waterfront

— Celebration of historical assets of Wisbech

— Making Wisbech an attractive visitor destination

— Creation of new community and civic facilities

— New leisure, entertainment and hospitality venues
— Arange of new quality housing for diverse needs

6.19  The masterplan covers an area of approximately 40 hectares, focusing on the core town centre, and
seeks to address challenges such as low wages, housing issues, and a deteriorating retail and cultural
offer. Key objectives include renewed town centre focus, improved connectivity, street greening &
public realm, enhancement, reconnecting to the waterfront, celebrating heritage assets, new
community services, innovation & educational facilities & new housing in the centre.

30 September 2025 Page 25

Page 108



6.20 The document sets out a vision for the future of Wisbech which includes the provision of a safe and
welcoming environment to attract all sectors and provide opportunities that can be delivered in a
relatively short timescale in order to satisfy the demand, both current and anticipated. The Masterplan
identifies a way in which the town centre will be attractive to business owners looking to expand or
locate in the area and provide the opportunities for leisure operators to bring in additional investment
to boost the town.

GROWING FENLAND: WISBECH MARKET TOWN

6.21  The Growing Fenland: Wisbech Market Town report is a response to CPCA’s plans for Market Town
Masterplans. These are being brought forward across the district. The report brings forward a set of
strategy proposals for the whole district, which will help tackle challenges around health and education.
The role that Wisbech plays in contributing to these is recognised, with Wisbech’'s educational
deprivation being highlighted as a big challenge, as well as Health outcomes in Wisbech.

6.22  This Plan is based on master-planning work completed for the town of Wisbech and creates credibly
linkages between the projects selected and ongoing, recently completed, and work planned to
commence imminently within the town centre. The Plan links the recently reopened Castle attraction
in the heart of the town and the recently renovated Museum (2022), with the recently redeveloped
Market Place (opened June 2022), the ongoing National Lottery Heritage Fund supported Wisbech High
Street improvement project (due to complete in March 2023, value £1.23m), through to Nene
Waterfront where a major mixed-use development is due to commence ground works shortly.

Relevant Strategy and Policy

National Strategy and Policy

PLAN FOR CHANGE
6.23  Published at the end of 2024, the Government's Plan for Change sets out the overarching vision of
“national renewal” that the Government aims to deliver on during this Parliament. It outlines key
national missions to set the direction of change for the next decade, reflecting five overarching
priorities:
Kickstart economic growth
2. Build an NHS fit for the future
3. Safer streets
4. Break down the barriers to opportunity
5. Make Britain a clean energy superpower

6.24  The Government commits to providing long-term policy certainty and economic stability that will
ensure a resilient economy built on secure borders and national security. Hence, economic growth is
the priority mission of the Government. To achieve that, the Plan for Change sets out key milestones
to progress during this Government's tenure and deliver on the five strategic objectives:

— Raise living standards in every part of the United Kingdom and deliver the highest sustained growth
in the G7.

— Build 1.5 million homes in England and fast-track planning decisions on at least 150 major economic
infrastructure projects.

— End hospital backlogs to meet the NHS standard of 92% of patients in England waiting no longer
than 18 weeks for treatment.

— Employ 13,000 additional officers, police and community support officers and special constables in
neighbourhood roles in England and Wales.

30 September 2025 Page 26

Page 109



— Give children the best startin life and aim to achieve a record 75% of five-year olds in England ready
to learn when they start school.

— Secure home-grown energy, protecting billpayers, and putting the country on track to at least 95%
clean power by 2030, while accelerating the UK to net zero agenda.

6.25 To ensure these objectives are met, the Government is increasing investment and reforming the
economy to prioritise stability and prosperity across the UK. Higher public and private investment are
expected to support infrastructure delivery, regional growth, trade, innovation and net zero to create
new economic opportunities. The devolution of powers from Whitehall to local authorities and regions
is seen as key to achieving that by giving more power to local decision makers.

INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY

6.26  The Industrial Strategy Green Paper, published in November 2024, sets out the Government's 20-year
plan to deliver economic growth for the UK, building on the country’s unique strengths and untapped
potential - which would enable further development and growth of world-leading sectors.

6.27  The Strategy focuses on tackling barriers to growth in the highest potential growth-driving sectors and
places, creating the right conditions for increased investment, high-quality jobs and ensuring tangible
impact in communities across the UK. Its goal is to capture a greater share of internationally mobile
investment in strategic sectors and spur domestic businesses to boost their investment and scale up
their growth, seen as an essential step in achieving, sustainable, inclusive and resilient growth.

6.28 The Industrial Strategy identified eight growth-driving sectors that offer the highest growth
opportunities for the economics and businesses: Advanced Manufacturing, Clean Energy Industries,
Creative Industries, Defence, Digital and Technologies, Financial Services, Life Sciences, and
Professional and Business Services. Investment and development in these sectors will be prioritised
and barriers to growth will be addressed.

6.29 A core objective of the Industrial Strategy is unleashing the full potential of cities and regions. Efforts
will be concentrated on places with the greatest potential for our growth sectors: city regions, high-
potential clusters, and strategic industrial sites. Devolution and establishing Mayoral Combined
Authorities is seen as a key to ensuring a successful delivery. Existing partnership with devolved
governments will also support the considerable sectoral strengths of Scotland, Wales, and Northern
Ireland.

Regional and Subregional Strategy and Policy

CAMBRIDGE AND PETERBOROUGH STRATEGIC SPATIAL FRAMEWORK (NON-STATUTORY)

6.30 The Strategic Spatial Framework Phase One defines the immediate priorities for sustainable growth
and includes actions they will take to support the sustainable delivery of over 100,000 quality new
homes and more than 90,000 additional jobs.

6.31  The Combined Authority supports the implementation of the local plans to help meet the Frameworks
ambitions. Fenlands Local Plan as an example, seeks to contribute 11,000 homes and 7,200 jobs during
the plan period to 2031, with Wisbech being a major contributor (3,350). Through sustainable growth
the plan seeks to address current health inequalities, community deprivation, lack of affordable
housing, low skills, and educational attainment.

CPCA INDEPENDENT ECONOMIC REVIEW

6.32 The Review sets out 14 recommendations to drawn out the actions which, if taken, can secure a
prosperous future for the area. The recommendations cover wider economic ambitions and
placemaking ambitions consistent with the Wisbech ambition.

30 September 2025 Page 27

Page 110



6.33  Fenland has been selected by Arts Council England as a Priority Place. Joint work between Fenland
Council, Arts Council and a local strategic creative group is anticipated to raise the profile of creative
and cultural assets in Wisbech in 2023 and 2024 as part of a joint Shared Prosperity Fund and Arts
Council grant.

Local Strategy and Policy

FENLAND DRAFT LOCAL PLAN 2021-2040, 2022

6.34  Fenland District Council is in the process of updating its Local Plan (2014). A draft version of the new
Local Plan was published in 2022. The Draft Plan sets out the emerging policies and proposals for
growth and regeneration, and the proposed sites to deliver the growth. It sets out the vision for the
district to 2040:

“By 2040 all settlements, big and small, will be attractive and prosperous places to live, set within our
unique and protected Fens landscape. They will benefit from economic growth and inward investment.
Between 2021 and 2040, Fenland will grow by approximately 10,500 new homes and 18,000 new jobs,
meeting the needs of all communities. Growth will be focussed on our four market towns, but villoges will
not be left behind, with appropriate levels of development being permitted to ensure they remain thriving
local communities. The district will attract new business, jobs and investment, whilst also supporting
existing businesses and encouraging them to expand, helping to boost productivity. Rural communities and
the rural economy will be supported. Growth in homes and jobs will be closely linked, with new
infrastructure such as schools, roads, health facilities and open space provision planned and provided at
the same time as the new buildings. The natural and historic environments, and their assets, will be
conserved and enhanced, and high-quality agricultural land will be protected, with new development taking
into account the surroundings of the area in which it would be situated. Through growth, current issues
such as health inequalities, community deprivation, infrastructure deficit and low skills, will be tackled and
addressed. Growth will attract investment, businesses and new residents to the district.”

6.35 Part B of the draft Local Plan outlines the spatial strategy for the district to:

— Deliver 10,525 new homes by 2040.

— Create 18,000 jobs, through the allocation of 215 hectares of employment land between 2021 and
2040.

— Promote sustainable development, regeneration, and improved quality of life.
— Support economic growth and attract investment.
— Ensure compliance with national policies, including Biodiversity Net Gain.
6.36  As the district's largest population centre in Fenlands, Wisbech is key to achieving these goals and
delivering on the vision. Policy LP3 notes that employment growth strategy will be principally focused

on the market towns, including Wisbech and includes three Established Employment Areas which are
critical to the local economy.

6.37  Policies LP35: Regeneration of Wisbech enables the implementation of development which
contributes to the regeneration of Wisbech by:

— Allocating strategic sites for regeneration, particularly the Nene Waterfront area, which is
identified as a key location for mixed-use development including housing, employment, and
leisure.

— Encouraging investment in infrastructure, public spaces, and transport links to improve
connectivity and attractiveness.

30 September 2025 Page 28

Page 111



— Supporting residential and commercial development that aligns with the town'’s heritage and
urban character.

— Promoting environmental enhancements, such as flood resilience and biodiversity improvements,
especially in areas prone to flooding.

— Aligning with the Wisbech Masterplan, which outlines long-term ambitions for economic growth,
town centre revitalisation, and improved quality of life.

FENLAND ECONOMIC GROWTH STRATEGIC REFRESH 2025-2028, 2024

6.38  The Economic Growth Strategic Refresh 2025-2028 builds upon Fenland District Council’s long-term
Economic Development Strategy (2012-2031) and follows the first refresh (2022-2025). It aims to
ensure that the Council continues to support and enable economic growth across the district, adapting
to changing national and global contexts such as Brexit, the COVID-19 pandemic, climate change, and
a new UK government.

6.39  The strategy is structured around five core themes from the original Economic Development Strategy:

— Enterprise: Supporting start-ups and entrepreneurship, including access to grants and business
advice.

— Workforce Development: Improving skills, raising aspirations, and aligning education with
employer needs.

— Business Retention & Growth: Helping existing businesses expand and remain competitive.

— Inward Investment: Attracting new businesses to Fenland, especially in key sectors like food
production, engineering, and renewables.

6.40 The Refresh also responds to external challenges and opportunities. It acknowledges the impact of
Brexit on trade, the shift toward service-based exports, and the need for sustainable economic
strategies. Therefore, it reflects five key action areas for the council:

1. Growing businesses: Through engagement with existing local businesses the Council will target the
support that is available to help enable each business to grow and assist them to overcome any
barriers to growth or to develop opportunities. This will include ensuring that businesses are aware
of and supported in applying for any grant funding support for which they are eligible.

2. More business start-ups: Help ensure that the support is in place to help enable local people to
start a business and to stay in business including where possible the availability of grant funding.

3. Attract new businesses: Help attract new businesses into the district from supermarkets and fast-
food brands to businesses seeking a first UK base. The Council will proactively engage with targeted
new business opportunities to ascertain each businesses plans and location requirements.

4. Available workforce: Help ensure both the supply of and skills of the available workforce are
appropriate for the Fenland marketplace, as well as offering young people improved aspirations,
increased wage levels and alternative career paths. Represent businesses skills requirements into
the development of skills support funding and development of relevant courses.

5. Available serviced land and premises: Acquiring technical and specialist support to bring forward
employment sites and premises to include infrastructure, highway, and market/commercial
assessments. To bring together these and other similar requirements into an “Commercial
Investment Land and Property Database” for Fenland.

30 September 2025 Page 29

Page 112



LOCAL ECONOMIC RECOVERY STRATEGY (LERS), 2021
6.41  The LERS aims to be a leading contributor both to the UK's recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and
to its future global success. The recovery phases and objectives are set out as follows:

1. Response (2021) - helping people and businesses manage the impact of the pandemic
2. Recovery and Rebound (2021-2023) - reopening of the economy
3. Renewal and Future Growth (2023 onwards):

e Help people at risk of unemployment by accelerating retraining and upskilling
e Build back faster by accelerating start-ups, scale ups and set ups
e Build back better and greener by accelerating high tech jobs and cluster growth, focussing on

green, digital, and net zero technologies.

Page 30

Page 113

30 September 2025



7. Match Funding and Leveraged Investment

7.1 The Plan for Neighbourhoods will help the Neighbourhoods Board in bidding for further match funding
from several providers. External funders often offer funding out with the condition of match funding
being available to enhance the investments in to the town. Plan for Neighbourhoods funding will act as
this match allowing the board to leverage even more investment into the town, over and above the
£20,000,000 already committed.

7.2 Examples of funders and other partners that we would look to engage with to assist in delivering
projects in line with our key themes are:
— National Lottery Heritage Fund
— National Lottery grants
— Historic England
— Arts Council England
— Sport England
— Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority
— Cambridgeshire County Council
— Homes England
— Infrastructure partners
— Anglian Water / UKPN / Gas / Fibre optic service suppliers
— Larger local and regional businesses and employers such as Nestle and Purina
— Cambridgeshire Constabulary
— Police & Crime Commissioner

— National Highways

30 September 2025 Page 31

Page 114



8. Community and Stakeholder Engagement

The Town Board

8.1 Engagement with the local community begins with the membership of the Town Board itself. The
Board is made up of several key partners across Wisbech, Fenland and the Wider Cambridgeshire
area. With a focus on local knowledge and experience at the heart of the Board, the Board is made up
of a private sector Chair, local political leaders, local community leaders and local business leaders.
The Board is distinct from the local authority, and any district council officers attending meetings are
not afforded voting rights.

8.2 The Town Board’s vision is underpinned by an extensive and ongoing programme of consultation and
engagement, carried out over the last 8 years, and is reinforced by a strong commitment to further
consultation as part of the Plan for Neighbourhoods.

8.3 Throughout this period, opinion has been sought directly from local people (for example, the
comprehensive | Love Wisbech and Wisbech 2020 consultation programmes), as well as from expert
advisers in regeneration and placemaking (for example, the High Streets Task Force, the Growing
Fenland Wisbech Masterplan and an Independent Economic Commission).

Public Engagement

8.4 The following consultation programmes have focussed on identifying broad challenges and
opportunities for the town:

| LOVE WISBECH

— A comprehensive consultation exercise undertaken in 2019 by Hunts Forum for Cambridgeshire
County Council Business Intelligence Service, with the aim of conducting a community
conversation with those who live, work and invest in the town of Wisbech.

— Consultation included in-person surveys in the town centre, online surveys and a series of
community workshops. Consultation themes were broad, asking respondents what they love
about Wisbech, how they would make it better, and what they thought could be done. This was a
partnership project, including many community organisations, such as Care Network
Cambridgeshire, Blackfield Creatives CIC, the Ferry Project and the Rosminin Centre.

— Many responses focussed on tackling antisocial behaviour and improving the attractiveness of the
Town Centre.

WISBECH 2020

— An online survey carried out in Autumn 2016, this consultation asked residents broad questions
about how they feel about Wisbech, and the proposed vision for 2020. Heritage, countryside and
open spaces were seen as the town’s main assets, whilst transport links, run-down buildings and
policing were regularly identified as key challenges. The responses to the broad consultation
questions show a very strong alignment with the Long-Term Plan for Towns menu of Themes and
Interventions.

8.5 More specific consultation programmes have focussed on specific themes, areas or projects,
including Wisbech Park Community Hub, the creativity and culture strategy, accessibility,
development in East Wisbech

30 September 2025 Page 32

Page 115



WISBECH PARK COMMUNITY HUB

— Carried out in Summer 2021, this consultation survey asked residents about what facilities they
felt would most improve Wisbech Park. The most commonly suggested facilities included security
measures such as CCTV and lighting, more inclusive facilities (e.g. changing places, baby
changing), equipment to improve the active opportunities for young people, community garden/
allotments, and tourist/heritage information.

BROAD HORIZONS - A CREATIVITY AND CULTURE STRATEGY FOR FENLAND

— An online consultation from Spring 2021, Broad Horizons focussed on the themes of Connections,
Communication, Empowerment and Inspiration to respond to the changing population and
improve community cohesion. Whilst there was some scepticism about deliverability at the time
of the consultation, there was also clear support for a renewed focus on cultural activities in the
town.

WISBECH ACCESS STRATEGY

— Carried out in Winter 2017, this consultation sought feedback on the draft Access Strategy. There
was general acceptance and agreement of the need for transport improvements, although there
was a clear lack of support for any road infrastructure that might restrict a potential future rail
link to the town.

EAST WISBECH DEVELOPMENT

— An extended consultation exercise completing in Spring 2018, including surveys and visioning
workshops. This included both broad questions about how Wisbech could be improved, as well as
specific points about a proposed new residential development. Preferred improvements to the
town included green infrastructure and open space for biodiversity, formal and informal
recreation, traffic management to promote people priority, facilities for young people, and better
street lighting to improve safety.

Expert Input

8.6 In addition to the open public engagement exercises summarised above, Wisbech has also
undertaken a number of consultations with place-based regeneration specialists, each of which has
drawn in stakeholders from the community to frame the proposals:

HIGH STREETS TASK FORCE

— A specialist consultation exercise in Spring 2023, run by the High Streets Task Force, and including
a series of visits, stakeholder workshops and reports. The exercise identified high architectural
merit, high quality market square and good parking provision as key strengths, hindered by image
problems that prevent the town from attracting potential visitors. A branding and
communications strategy, and a town marshal system to combat anti-social behaviour were key
recommendations.

GROWING FENLAND - WISBECH TOWN MASTERPLAN

— Astrategic consultation-based masterplan by regeneration specialists Metro Dynamics, developed
between 2018 and 2020, exploring the future of Wisbech. The masterplan identified the wealth of
heritage assets, strong outdoor market and full calendar of cultural events and community
organisations. It recommended interventions to address the lack of evening/nighttime economy,
poor health and education outcomes, and the poor transport links to regional employment
centres. Specific recommendations included improving the attractiveness of gateway sites, repair
of derelict buildings, creating indoor public space such as a covered market, consolidating a
strong cultural quarter around the Wisbech Castle, improving policing in the town centre, and
improved physical wayfinding and online visibility of the town's attractions.

30 September 2025 Page 33

Page 116



8.7 Alongside the completed consultation exercises above, ongoing active engagement includes:

— Fenland Community Safety Partnership

— Cinnamon Network

Other Insights

8.8 The Regeneration Plan emphasis and focus has also been informed by input from MHCLG. Insights
from Zencity were collected for Wisbech from the 9th of April to the 26th of May 2025. 127
respondents from Wisbech were digitally recruited through social media, mobile apps and survey
panels. These insights have been included in the case for change and key messages are outlined
below:

— Satisfaction with local area: Most respondents in Wisbech are not satisfied with their local area
as a place to live (52%), think it has greatly declined in the last 12 months (45%) and expect the
area to get worse to live in 2 years from now (64%).

— Pride in local area: Most respondents in Wisbech are not proud to live in their local area (58%),
the top reasons are "the area is run down" (58%) and "safety concerns" (55%). Of those who are
proud to live in the arega, it is “because of the green and natural spaces here" (73%) and "because
of the culture heritage and history of the local area" (46%).

— Perceptions of local area features: In Wisbech, residents rated all features less positively than
residents across the 75 Plan for Neighbourhood towns. The biggest gaps were for 'Ease of getting
around by public transportation' (-30%) and 'Availability of green and other attractive public
spaces' (-29%).

— Improving local area: In Wisbech, the top areas residents would like to see improvements in are
Tackling crime (53%) and anti-social behaviour (52%). In Wisbech, residents identified street
drinking or drunken behaviour (54%) and drugs or evidence of drugs (50%) as the most pressing
problems in their area.

— Perceptions of children and young people: In Wisbech, residents agreed with the statement 'lt
is easy for children to get involved in crime or join gangs in my local area' more than the average
across the 75 Plan for Neighbourhood towns (+17%), but agreed with the statement 'My local area
is a good place to bring up children' less (-28%).

— Perceptions of local community: In Wisbech, most respondents trust a few people in their local
area (37%) for this question. Most respondents in Wisbech think that their area has been very left
behind in comparison to the rest of the country (63%) in comparison to the rest of the country.

Ongoing Plans for Consultation
8.9 The Board is committed to undertaking ongoing consultation throughout the plan period.

— Town Wardens are tasked with recording interactions and reporting to the board on a quarterly
basis. These will be a vital “ear to the ground” for the Board, regarding day-to-day happenings in
the town.

— There will be individual project consultations as they come forward

— Annual general consultation is planned to be undertaken. There will be a consistent set of
questions to track sentiment. This consultation will be held in person and online - staffed by
council officers supporting the Town Board/ Town Wardens and Town Board members.

30 September 2025 Page 34

Page 117



TOWN BOARD WEBSITE
8.10  The Town Board is underway with developing an online presence for the Town Board which is distinct
and separate from Fenland District Council. This will display:

— The long-term strategy for regenerating your local area.

— The neighbourhood's vision for the future.

— Aclear plan for how the Town Board will deliver change over the next decade.

— Adetailed investment and delivery plan for the first investment period.

— All relevant Town Board documentation (minutes, agendas, upcoming meetings and membership)
8.11  To maximise value for the community, it is also being developed to create a comprehensive tourism

and community platform to serve residents, visitors and local businesses. This will include additional
features such as:

— Business and attraction directories - each business and attraction should have its own individual
page, including logo, name contact details, business information and map.

— Latest news and upcoming events - Blog-style latest news area for general community and
tourism updates., categories and archive functionality, news items shareable on social media.

— Visitor information pages and social media integration - “getting here” and “directions” page with
transport options.

— Accommodation listings — each listing should have a detail page for places to stay, searchable by
name and location utilising map functionality, including images, contact details, links to book, and
Google Maps integration.

— Adedicated Town Board section with polling capabilities, surveys and updates - The dedicated
page about the Town Board and its work will include news updates specific to the Town Board
(distinct from the main news feed), ability to run polls/surveys on Town Board initiatives, Board
member page, similar to business directory utilising individual pages with name, photo and
information about the member.

8.12  This will be supported by a managed social media presence to increase community engagement,
promoting local events, businesses, and attractions, and growing awareness of the Visit Wisbech
website and wider tourism offer.

30 September 2025 Page 35

Page 118



9. Governance

9.1 The Wisbech Town Board is made up of key partners across Wisbech, Fenland and the Wider
Cambridgeshire area.

9.2 Fenland District Council (FDC) shall act as the accountable body and FDC's governance and financial
procedures will apply when developing and delivering Town Board recommended projects and
initiatives.

9.3 Advice, Board management and administrative support to the Board will be provided by professional
Fenland District Council officers. FDC officers may also attend Board meetings, although they do not
have voting rights.

94 Responsibilities of the Board:

1) To work together to shape and manage the investment of the Plan for Neighbourhoods funding
for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government through the development of a
10-year Vision document and the development of a 4-year Investment Plan.

2) To explore new ways of working to maximise the impact of resource deployment within core
organisations to address the priorities for the community identified in the Vision document.

3) To seek to add social value to the Wisbech Plan for Neighbourhoods project by considering wider
socioeconomic, environmental and health impacts through the Vision document and the 4-year
Investment Plan.

4) To work together to deliver a collaborative approach towards strategic interventions which
improve the long-term opportunities for the community.

5) To explore and progress opportunities to deliver against the Vision for Wisbech town.

6) To provide support and advice to the accountable body (Fenland District Council) in developing
and managing the Vision plans in accordance with Government requirements

7) To explore and maximise synergy of the Vision with other projects that are already underway or
planned within the town.

8) To maintain strategic oversight of the Vision document.

9) To approve the 4-year Investment Plan and monitor delivery performance against that Plan.

10) To ensure that the project team has sufficient resource, knowledge and capacity available to
deliver the objectives of the Delivery Plan.

11) To ensure the necessary liaison arrangements are in place to maximise capacity and resources
across a range of potential partners within the town and regionally and nationally, and to work
collaboratively to deliver the shared objectives of the Vision.

12) To ensure the views of the community are represented and considered through the development
of the 10-year Vision and 4-year delivery plan and communicated effectively to the local
community through the development of a communications plan.

9.5 The Wisbech Town Board has adopted a code of conduct setting out the expected behaviours required
of Board Members, acknowledging that they each have a responsibility to represent the ambition of
the Vision for Wisbech and are also agreeing to work constructively with Fenland District Council's
delivery officers and partner organisations to develop and deliver the Vision and associated three-year
delivery plan as stipulated by the MHCLG.

9.6 Full details of the Town Board's members, roles, responsibilities and code of conduct are published on
the Town Board website: https://www.fenland.gov.uk/ Wisbech Town Board, including conflict of
interests, registration of gifts, complaints and removal of board members.

30 September 2025 Page 36

Page 119



9.7 Board Member Standards When acting in a Board Member capacity, members must be committed to
behaving in a manner that is consistent with the Nolan principles (The Seven Principles of Public Life)
to achieve best outcomes for residents and to maintain public confidence in the actions of the Board.

Nolan Principles

— Selflessness: Members of the Board should act solely in terms of the public interest.

— Integrity: Members of the Board must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
outside individuals or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their
work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or material benefits for
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and
relationships.

— Objectivity: Members of the Board must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

— Accountability: Members of the Board are accountable for their decisions and actions to the
public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

— Openness: Members of the Board should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful
reasons for so doing.

— Honesty: Members of the Board should be truthful.

— Leadership: Members of the Board should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.
They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge
poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

9.8 The Town Board maintains robust control, including the need to understand the interdependencies of
the different work streams of the project and areas of potential risk.

9.9 Decision making will follow the approach laid out in the Green Book and in guidance on producing
Better Business Cases. Investment decisions will consider strategic, economic, financial, commercial
and management related issues, with an emphasis on value for money and an alignment with the aims
of the Town Vision. The process for approving investment decisions is outlined below:

Figure 13 Process for Selecting Interventions

High level

Project Initial Detailed due Final

due
diligence

Eligibility Assessment diligence approval

30 September 2025 Page 37

Page 120



10. Assurance

10.1  Fenland District Council, as the accountable body, is experienced at running capital projects across a
partnership. This is the approach that is successfully taking place for the March Future High Street Fund
project. A project board of senior officers including, when necessary, the Council's Section 151 officer
and legal representative, works with officers from multiple agencies (such as the County Council's
Highways Major Infrastructure Team). Fenland District Council has put in place effective governance
structures for the delivery of the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) project for the town of March. A similar
approach would be developed for the Wisbech projects ensuring that the Town Board remain the
primary decision-making forum.

10.2 A Monitoring & Evaluation framework will be developed that will ensure that the MHCLG requirements
for Level 1 and Level 2 evaluation are met and that there is a strategy for ensuring that lessons learned
are well embedded in future policy and practice.

10.3  The different levels of evaluation that can take place (adapted from NESTA Standards of evidence) are
set out below:

— Level 1: You can describe what you do and why it matters: logically, coherently and convincingly.
— Level 2: You capture data that shows positive change, but you cannot confirm you caused this.

— Level 3: You can demonstrate causality using a control or comparison group.

10.4  Counterfactual impact evaluation methods are not considered feasible given the scale and nature of
the intervention and the extended time period likely for impacts to materialise.

Figure 14 Evaluation Process

Outcomes*r* Description of Benefit

Assumptions surrounding

Outputs** Proposed benefit

Inputs & AS sessment Dependencies
Activities* St a g es f or
Evaluation
Alignment of Method of Measuring
Key Data Themes Benefit
Party or Work Stream Overall Value of Benefit
Responsible for Achieving
Benefit

Overall Cost of Benefit

10.5 Delivery of M&E will be led by the Programme Manager, supported by the Project Team. They will
develop monitoring systems and a framework for contractors to report on progress against milestones.
Monitoring data will be collated in a data tool to enable consistent tracking against milestones and
targets. The localised impacts will also be evident in official statistical data, particularly from ONS, which

30 September 2025 Page 38

Page 121



will be used to provide further context and demonstrate the wider impacts this development has on
the town.

10.6  Fenland DC has the governance structures in place to monitor and evaluate this project. The council
has experience in supporting and coordinating developments such as this one.

30 September 2025 Page 39

Page 122



’ﬂj! g/]’--ﬁé% i =
{#L  Unlocking Your Place
. Potential — Report and

lk’s\

' Feedback

[ ;
1 O WPQ
~ e

Wisbech town centre

Page 123



HIGH
STREETS
TA
FORCE

Table of Contents

About the visit and this rePOrt.........ccceiiiieiiiiir e reeee s s rene s s renesessrenessssrenassssnenes 2
LTAVEEY o T=Tol o T 4 =T =4 1 3 TP 3
4Rs Framework and our method ............eeeeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiieiieeiis... 4
Applying the 4R’s to WISDBECh .........o e renee s s ene s s sene s s ssenasssseenasasnnenes 5
FiShDONE ANAIYSIS ..ccuuieeiiiieiiiiiiiiicierirer et e eree e reetereasesensesenssesenserensessassssnsssenssssansssensesensasnnnes 6
Diagnosis of main barriers to transformation........ccccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinicn e 7
RECOMMENAAtIONS ... ... s s s 9
High Streets Task Force Product Prescription ........ccccciiiieiiiiiiniiiiienieiiienieniieneniiesesieenesnennenes 10
Appendix 1 — List of town attendees........ccuuciieiuiiiiiiiiiriieccerereceereneseereneseeerenessssenesssssenssasssenes 12

High Streets Task Force | 1

Page 124



About the visit and this report

The High Streets Task Force visited Wisbech town centre on 14" March 2023 to undertake
an Unlocking Your Place Potential diagnostic visit. Chris Gregory was the High Streets Task
Force Expert undertaking the visit.

The attendees representing Wisbech can be found in Appendix 1.

The purpose of the visit was to diagnose the main barrier to your transformation. In other
words, what problem, if not resolved now, will make it difficult for the town to change. To
do this the Expert wanted to understand more about the challenges facing the town, your
plans for transformation, meet key stakeholders, ask questions and tour the town.

As a result of the diagnostic process, the Expert has identified the need for stronger
branding and promotion for the town, as well as the implementation of place
management, as the joint main barriers to transformation in Wisbech.

The rest of this report identifies the strengths of the town, the main barriers to
transformation the Expert found, as well as clear recommendations which partners can
action now to accelerate the transformation process. The report ends with a list of High
Streets Task Force Products that the Expert has prescribed.

On behalf of the High Streets Task Force, may | take this opportunity to thank attendees
who gave up their time to attend the meeting, and who contributed to a frank and positive
discussion. Thank you to Jo Blackmore for organising the session and to those that led, and
contributed to, an informative and well-planned town tour.

From reading the feedback from the visit, and this report, | can see you have a lot going for
you in Wisbech —and many strengths both in the town and in your people. The High Streets
Task Force is here to help you build on those strengths, and | hope you find it useful.

s

Matt Colledge

High Streets Task Force Project Director

High Streets Task Force | 2

Page 125



HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

Wisbech — Strengths

v Good sized town centre containing many buildings of high architectural merit
v" Large market square, which includes considerable space for activation

v Range of ornate metal archways throughout the town centre

v Good and free car parking provision

v" Significant potential for further improvements

Wisbech is a town with a number of strengths and, in many regards, is very well positioned
to move forwards in both the short and medium term. The town centre core features a
number of historic buildings and independent businesses, although the town is not
considered to be fulfilling its potential in attracting visitor numbers and has been stymied in
recent years by image problems. In summary, whilst the town has a number of key
strengths, it is considered to require extra focus to increase overall vitality.

High Streets Task Force | 3

Page 126



HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

4Rs Framework and our method

The aim of the Unlocking Your Place Potential workshop is for our High Streets Task Force
Experts to identify the key barriers to the improvement of your high street and recommend
an appropriate strategic response. To enable our experts to do this in an evidence-based
way, the High Streets Task Force uses the ‘4Rs Framework’.

Research has identified 237 factors that impact on the success of the high street. However,
it is too overwhelming to think of all these at once, so we have developed the ‘4 Rs’
framework to provide some structure to the incredibly complex practice of place
transformation. Without a framework, it is easy to be drawn into so much detail that you
cannot see the big picture.

When you simplify the process of renewal, the reasons why so many regeneration plans do
not result in the changes people expect fall into 4 categories:

. The problems facing the centre were not accurately identified

. The plans were good but not enough changed

. The place changed but people’s perceptions didn’t

. There were fundamental issues with governance or the spatial layout of the place

We looked at these problems and identified 4 strategies to address them, repositioning,
reinventing, rebranding, and restructuring. So, the framework distinguishes between the
processes of analysis and decision making (repositioning), effecting change (reinventing),
communication (rebranding) and governance/spatial planning (restructuring). More detail
on each of the ‘4R’s’ is set out below.

Reposition: knowing your town, using relevant
data and information to develop a collaborative,
inspiring vision that achieves change DI]I] I]
Repositioning Reinventing
Reinvent: activate and animate the town, diversify its
attractions. Multifunctional places offer different
things to draw in footfall and spend

Rebrand: establish an identity and sense of place that Rebranding
can engender pride, commitment and attachment
and communicate this across the whole community Th

4Rs

of renewal

Figure 1: The 4R’s Framework

High Streets Task Force | 4

Page 127



HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

Applying the 4R’s to Wisbech

Although the town exhibits many strengths, we also identified a number of challenges and
have grouped these using the 4R’s framework, as outlined below.

Repositioning Reinventing

Wisbech has recently produced a There is a good existing programme
masterplan and so this area is not of animation and activation in
considered to be the current priority | Wisbech, with different activities
spread across the year

4R’s
Rebranding Restructuring

There is a pronounced requirement Whilst some activities exist in
in Wisbech for clear, positive Wisbech, a place management
branding, promotion and messaging | delivery partnership should be set
regarding the town centre up for maximum effect

Figure 2: Wisbech analysed using the 4R’s Framework

We used all the information we had to identify which of the descriptions above fitted the
evidence we had collected. We collected this evidence from looking at a range of sources as
well as from the Unlocking Your Place Potential visit, including our meeting, discussions,
exercises and the tour of the town. We also reviewed the information we found out about
Wisbech from our desk research.

We then grouped each piece of evidence under the 4R’s headings of Repositioning,
Reinventing, Rebranding, and Restructuring. You can see our working on the Fishbone
Analysis included in this report.

By classifying every clue, we could see how these are grouped and where Wisbech is facing
major barriers. This then allows us to recommend suitable strategies to overcome these
(see Figure 3). These strategies are ways of working, rather than ‘magic bullets’ relating to
any particular intervention in your town. As mentioned at the start of the Unlocking Your
Place Potential visit, you are the experts in your town.

You can see what we consider to be the major barriers to your transformation in the next
section.

High Streets Task Force | 5

Page 128



HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

Fishbone Analysis

Fishbone Analysis

Identifying the many of causes of a problem and way to prioritise solutions

/

36%

EIH

Restructuring
Governance and
spatial layout

\_o

36%

=

\

Rebranding

Perceptions and
communication

/

14%

Reinventing Repositioning

Delivery and
activation

. High priority
I:I Medium priority

14%
T I:I Low priority

Journey
towards
Place

Transformation

Underpinning data and
evidence

HIGH
STREETS

TASK
FORCE

-

lcons made by Pixel perfect from www flaticon.com

Figure 3: Wisbech Fishbone Analysis

High Streets Task Force | 6

Page 129



Diagnosis of main barriers to
transformation

As a result of the diagnostic process, the Experts have identified the need for stronger
branding and promotion for the town, as well as the implementation of place
management as the main barriers to transformation in Wisbech.

Rebranding (36% of need)

Rebranding is considered to be the joint main barrier, as evidenced by the following:
= lack of a strong town centre identity
» Lack of social media channels to promote the town centre
® lack of co-ordinated messaging to promote the town centre
= Relatively poor perceptions of the town centre
» Lack of communication with the wider community

» Feeing from the UYPP that perceptions of the town centre need to be addressed

Restructuring (36% of need)

Restructuring is also considered to be the joint main barrier, as evidenced by the following:
= No place-management partnership currently in place
= The UYPP session expressed support for more effective public-private sector links

= The UYPP session identified a need to work more closely with the Police on antisocial
behaviour issues

= There was a feeling from the UYPP session that the town centre would benefit from
place management

= Relatively little evidence of participation from residents or community groups

= The UYPP session agreed that the type of interventions which would be likely to
result from place management would create a high impact

We therefore consider that the town should focus significantly on rebranding and
restructuring activities as a result of this report and would therefore propose that a range of
partners be brought together to establish an effective place management partnership for
Wisbech town centre. This group should be established to set achievable targets, and
adequate financial and staffing resources appointed.

Importantly, whilst this group should be supported by the Council, it should be directed and
populated mostly by town centre businesses and wider stakeholders and should
complement and be additional to any existing activities currently in place.

High Streets Task Force | 7

Page 130



HIGH

STREETS

TASK

FORCE
.|

We also consider that a degree of attention should be paid to other considerations as
follows although, whilst these factors are considered to be important and need to be
considered in the future, they are not considered to be the most urgent current
requirements for the town centre:

Reinventing (14% of need)

Reinventing is considered to be a barrier to a minor degree, as evidenced by the following:
* The town could benefit from more cultural attractions and experiences

= There was a feeling from UYPP session that existing events could be developed
further

Repositioning (14% of need)

Repositioning is considered to be a barrier to a minor degree, as evidenced by the following:
= High Street is in high need (several IMDs in most deprived)

* No footfall data or clear use of data to influence decision making

It was very clear from our visit that there is an enthusiasm and support for the town from a
range of parties. We recommend the measures as outlined within this report to facilitate a
place partnership approach to improvements, with the public sector, businesses, the third
sector and the community.

High Streets Task Force | 8

Page 131



Recommendations

We are recommending a joint strategy of rebranding and restructuring to refresh your
approach to place leadership. We understand it is not always easy to change cultures,
structures and behaviours to work in a more collaborative way, so we are giving you
immediate recommendations that if you adopt, will lead to some quick improvements.

1. Share the final version of this report with everybody that attended the Unlocking
Your Place Potential meeting — as well as a wider range of key partners to include
town centre businesses, wider stakeholders and the local community.

2. Arrange an event with a wide range of partners to review challenges facing the town
centre and feedback from the UYPP visit and consider how these may inform future
rebranding activities for Wisbech town centre.

3. Work to develop a branding and communications strategy which identifies the
unique qualities of Wisbech and use these as a basis for a range of enhanced
messaging to attract more town centre visitors.

4. Form a new and representative place management partnership for the town centre
that can oversee key projects and coordinate plans and activity. This group should be
focused on promoting a positive image for the town and be genuinely cross-sector,
rather than being solely public sector-led, business-led or community-led. Find a
structure to work together in, which may involve building on an existing structure or
on existing activities.

5. Your new structure should identify who will own or action the areas for
improvement identified in this report and, as indicated, our assessment is that a
place management partnership should be established to oversee, co-ordinate and
deliver a range of improvements.

Given the overwhelming support for the need to act upon the current antisocial behaviour
problems in the town, we would also recommend that the partners in the town work
together to introduce a town centre marshal system, or similar, to complement the
improvements recommended above.

A further recommendation is that the views and feedback of a range of local businesses and
local residents should be regularly sought in order to help shape and validate the range of
town centre improvement plans. We would suggest that surveys are carried out on at least
an annual basis to obtain responses from a minimum of 25 town centre businesses and 100
local residents. The results and resulting actions from such surveys should then be published
and disseminated via a range of media. In this way, the intention would be to build a culture
of inclusivity from the local community.

High Streets Task Force | 9

Page 132



HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

Prescription

We hope these recommendations are useful. As we explained in the Unlocking Your Place
Potential visit, you are the experts in Wisbech, not us. Nevertheless, we have experience of
working with many towns around the country that face similar challenges — so when we
undertake a diagnostic visit, we are well trained in looking for strengths and weaknesses in
the town’s offer, as well as the structures and processes that manage and change the town.

High Streets Task Force Product

Based on our recommendations, we would like to offer you the following products. This has
been decided after considering your key barriers to transformation and what we have
concluded as the best way to help you achieve your transformation goals.

High Streets Task Force Products Prescribed:

Product prescribed

Rationale

Further mentoring support

| have recommended that Wisbech would benefit from
mentoring support in order to maintain momentum on the
previous stages of High Streets Task Force support and to
assist laying the further foundations in advance of and
following the workshop prescribed below.

Workshop

| have recommended that Wisbech would benefit from a
Place Making Programme with a view to agreeing the most
appropriate branding and place management approach.
There will be an opportunity to further discuss this product
with you, to ensure that it is something that you agree you
would benefit from. If, during these discussions, the need
for the programme is agreed, arrangements will begin to
put this in place, and further guidance supplied.

Online learning/resources

You should already be aware that a range of online
resources are available from the High Streets Taskforce
website and we would encourage you to review any
resources which you consider may be useful for Wisbech.
Further details are available here

High Streets Task Force | 10

Page 133



https://www.highstreetstaskforce.org.uk/resources/

HIGH
STREETS
TASK
FORCE

Next steps:

Please liaise with your Operations contact to make arrangements for the delivery of the next stage
of your support. The Operations team are available to assist with any queries relating to the delivery
of the above support, so please do not hesitate to get in touch if any aspect is unclear. More
information about all of these products can be found on the HSTF website here.

High Streets Task Force | 11

Page 134



https://www.highstreetstaskforce.org.uk/products-and-services/needs-based-support/

HIGH
STREETS
TASK

FORCE

Appendix 1 — List of town attendees

Walking tour of the town centre

Cllr Sam Hoy

Clir Steve Tierney
Phil Hughes
Simon Machen
Matt Wright
Shahid Rafique
Sidney Imafidon
Chris Gregory

UYPP workshop

Cllr Sam Hoy
ClIr Steve Tierney
Paul Medd

Jo Blackmore
Phil Hughes
Matt Wright
Austen Adams
Tim Watkins
Nigel Swan

Phil Reiley
Shahid Rafique
Inga Spukiene
Dean Satt
Sidney Imafidon
Terry Jordan
James Ingham
Rob Buswell

Chris Gregory

Wisbech Town, District and County Councillor
Wisbech Town, District and County Councillor
Head of Leisure & Open Spaces — FDC

Interim Corporate Director — FDC

High Streets Projects Officer

Pub & restaurant owner

Representing Norfolk Street

HSTF

Wisbech Town, District and County Councillor

Wisbech Town, District and County Councillor

Chief Executive of FDC

Head of Corporate Support — FDC

Head of Leisure & Open Spaces — FDC

High Streets Projects Officer

Chair of North Cambridgeshire Place Development Board
Head of Service for Planning & Sustainability for CCC
Dark Realms (Market Street)

Sunlounger (Travel Agent in Market Place)

Pub & restaurant owner

Manager of above

Lash & Beauty Lounge & Evie’s Sandwich Bar (Hill Street)
Representing Norfolk Street

Clerk to Wisbech Town Council

Full-Fibre Broadband Internet | Upp

Business Team at Upp

HSTF

High Streets Task Force | 12

Page 135



APPENDIX D

Cambridgeshire

A County Council

Produced by the Cambridgeshire Research Group

1@

Wisbech

Summary Report of Public Engagement Findings

V0.2
March 2019

Page 136



‘Cambridgeshire Research Group’ is the brand name for Cambridgeshire County Council’s
Research function based within the Business Intelligence Service. As well as supporting
the County Council we take on a range of work commissioned by other public sector
bodies both within Cambridgeshire and beyond.

All the output of the team and that of our partners is published on our dedicated website

www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk

For more information about the team phone 01223 715300

Document Details

Title:

| v Wisbech:
Summary Report of Public Engagement Findings

Date Created:

21/03/19

Produced by:

Cambridgeshire County Council Business Intelligence Service

On behalf of: Cambridgeshire County Council
Geographic Coverage: Wisbech
Format: PDF

Key Contacts:

Aaron.Rowinski@cambridgeshire.gov.uk

Diane.Lane@cambridgeshire.gov.uk

Russell@huntsforum.org.uk

Status:

V0.2

Usage Statement:

This product is the property of the Research and Performance
Team, Cambridgeshire County Council. If you wish to
reproduce this document either in whole, or in part, please
acknowledge the source and the author(s).

Disclaimer:

Cambridgeshire County Council, while believing the
information in this publication to be correct, does not
guarantee its accuracy nor does the County Council accept
any liability for any direct or indirect loss or damage or other
consequences, however arising from the use of such
information supplied.

1@

Wisbech

Page 137



Contents
INEFOTUCTION 1.ttt et sa e e e bt e e et e e et e sabe e e eate e sabeeeenneesaaeeesanes 4
BackgroUNd .......coovvuiieeieiiee e e Error! Bookmark not defined.
ANAIYSIS METNOAOIOZY .. .eeiiiceeiiieectiee ettt et e ettt e e e e ttae e e e sarae e e ebbeeeeetaaeeesaraeaaennes 5
QUATTTY ASSUTANCE ...cvreeeeectieieeectie et e ettt e e e et ee e e etaeeeeetaaeaesabaeaessbaeeesansaesesnsaseesasbeeeeennseeensnnes 5
D = N T =T = o Y N 5
Question 1: What do you love about Wisbech? ..., 6
Y =Y ToY o d o T=T 1 0 [=Y TSRS UPPP 6
IMIINOT TREMIES ...ttt ettt b e e s bt e s bt e e st e s sabe e s bt e e sabeeeneeesabeeas 7
Question 2: How would you make it better?. ..o 12
MAIN TREIMES ..ttt et ettt e e bt e e st e et e e sabe e e st e e sbeeenbeesane 12
IMIINOT TNEMIES ..ttt st e e sbe e s bt e et e sabe e e st e e sbee e bee e 13
Question 3: What would you like to do about it? ........c.eeeeiiiiiiiiiee e 19
Y Y ToT o d o T=T 1 0 [T T T U SR 19
MINOT TREMIES ...ttt sttt e et s e e s e e s b e e e r e e 21
(011 Y=Y o =T 0T o 1L UPUPRR 24
3

1@

Wisbech

Page 138



1@

Wisbech

Introduction

‘1 ¥ Wisbech’ is a partnership project involving the following organisations:

e Blackfield Creatives CIC

e Cambridgeshire County Council

e Care Network Cambridgeshire

e Clarion Housing Group

e CPSL Mind

e Diocese of Ely

e Fenland District Council

e Ferry Project

e Hunts Forum of Voluntary Organisations
e Living Sport

e Rosmini Centre

e Wisbech Community Development Association
e Wisbech Town Council

Together we have joined forces to talk to people that live and work in Wisbech about what
they love about the town, what they’d like to change and what they’d like to do about it.

Our collective aim is to find and build relationships with new community leaders, fund new
resident-led projects and create a community mandate to enable those that live and work in
Wisbech to achieve long lasting impacts in the town.

The project has the following objectives:

e To undertake a community conversation with those who live, work and invest in the
town of Wisbech

e To encourage resident involvement in local services and projects which will improve
well-being outcomes

e To collate these responses into a single point narrative which will help direct or
influence future plans, activities and projects

e To encourage small scale social action in Wisbech

e To strengthen the resilience of the Wisbech community

e To help build collaborative working across sectors in Wisbech

There were a total of 967 respondents. These came from:
e Face to face conversations with partners at community events and in community
spaces
e Online responses via social media
e Hard copy responses via community groups, schools and colleges

Page 139



1@

Wisbech

Analysis Methodology

The strategy for analysis of the survey was as follows:

e Duplicate Entries. Measures were in place to avoid analysing duplicated entries. The
online survey software collects the timestamp of entries so patterns of deliberate
duplicate entries can be spotted and countered.

e Partial Entries. The system records all partial entries as well as those that went
through to completion (respondent hit submit). These are reviewed separately and
in a few cases, where a substantial response has been made (as opposed to
someone just clicking through) then these are added to the final set for analysis.

e Within the analysis a search for any unusual patterns within the responses was
carried out, such as duplicate or ‘cut and paste’ views being expressed on proposals.

e This survey consisted of three free text questions, which were analysed using
gualitative methods, namely through thematic analysis. Key themes are identified
using specialist software and then responses tagged with these themes (multiple
tags can be given to the same response). At this stage totals of tagged themes are
created and sample quotes chosen for the final report that typify particular tagged
themes.

Quality Assurance

Data Integrity

e Avisual check of the raw data show no unusual patterns. There were no large blocks
of identical answers submitted at a similar time.

e Date /time stamp of submissions showed no unusual patterns.

e Text analysis showed no submissions of duplicate text.

Page 140



1@

Wisbech

Question 1: What do you love about Wisbech?

895 respondents answered this question. The themes that arose from their comments are
summarised below.

Figure 1: Word Cloud of question 1 responses

architecture beautifut » bUildings ... centre
christmas s CINEMA cwre - COMMUNILY ..y
events family = food free friendly friends georgian
gOOd great heritage historical NISLOrY house . i
live lived local lot lots love lovely market mcdonalds
museum NiCE . ... park parking parks people
pizr PlACES quier river shiap shoppie ShOpS small spaces tesco theatre
town wisbech .-

Major themes

Amenities — Facilities. 27% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents left
comments about the facilities available in Wisbech that they loved. Most of the respondents
discussed facilities such as the cinemas, the museum and theatre, the parks and the library.
Some of the respondents discussed the church, local events, exercise and hobby groups, the
Castle, Octavia House, and the local sports teams. Respondents discussed positive
experiences with The Ferry Project, the Rosmini Centre and the Oasis.

"The free parking. The Queen Mary Centre. The park. Shopping is improving but not
particularly in the town centre. The Luxe cinema is great value and a good venue. | am still
discovering places | didn’t know existed.”

Town centre — Heritage. 18% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents felt
that Wisbech’s heritage was one of the reasons they loved Wisbech, particularly Wisbech’s
architectural heritage and history.

“I was born here so it’s my roots but apart from that | love it’s historical buildings, the
market place, the river, the brinks.....so much history and still a nice market town. The
flowers are beautiful around town ...thanks to all the volunteers and the market place looks
lovely when the trees have all their leaves on. We have two cinemas, a theatre, a great
library, a wonderful museum and now the Castle is being opened...not to mention Peckover
House and the Octavia Hill Museum. | could go on and on”

“Wonderful architecture, having lived here all my life | believe the town can be returned to
it's former glory as a deserving owner of the capital of the Fens description.”

Page 141



1@

Wisbech

Negative/Nothing. 13% of respondents discussed this theme — often saying ‘nothing’ or ‘not
a lot’. Some of these respondents felt there had been a decline in Wisbech’s quality. Some
of these respondents felt there was little to do in Wisbech. A few of these respondents
discussed issues around crime and personal safety.

“Sadly | cannot think of anything that | like, let alone love about Wisbech today. There is no
reason to ever go into the town anymore, there is nothing there.”

Conversely, some respondents responded that they loved everything about the town.
“l was not born in Wisbech, but | think it's awesome.”

Communities — Friendliness. 13% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
felt that Wisbech had a friendly community and a village-feel. A few of these respondents
indicated they loved Wisbech because their friends and family lived there. A few
respondents discussed the volunteer charity groups in the area, which they felt to be very
active.

“Small friendly town where you almost always meet somebody you know when you walk
around. Lots of societies and voluntary work if you want to get involved. Ferry Project, Food
Bank, CAB, Trinity coffee bar, Baptist Church Monday drop-in and other organisations trying
to help those who aren't coping. Wisbech Churches Together. Multi-national get-togethers
from time to time. Angles Theatre and Luxe Cinema.”

“How the locals raleigh round for each other when the chips are down.”

Amenities — Open space. 13% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
indicated they loved Wisbech because of the parks, gardens and rural landscape.

“I like its history and that it’s a market town. | grew up here and it’s changed considerably. |
love that you can be in a rural landscape within 10 mins of leaving the town”

Communities — Cohesion. 12% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents felt
that Wisbech’s diverse community was a positive.

“Many people from different countries”
Town centre — shops. 11% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents felt that
the selection and accessibility of shops was the reason they loved Wisbech. A few of these

respondents said they liked the independent shops and cafes.

“I like the way the shops are laid out because they are all different and there are loads”

Minor themes

~ |

Page 142



1@

Wisbech

Town centre — Misc. The respondents who discussed this theme left general positive
comments about the town centre. These also included comments about its accessibility,
how it felt like a small town, and how it felt calm.

“It's quiet, very little major crime, nice community, people are helpful and friendly.”

Town centre — Events. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the events held
in Wisbech were the reason the loved it. These included Wisbech in Bloom, the Christmas
Fayre, the Rose Fair, and other festivals. Most of these respondents discussed the
community events that are held.

“The market, proximity of facilities, variety of community activities to support, eg. Christmas
market and events in the park, Georgian riverbank, heritage, free parking, flowers, friendly
people”

“The history such as the amazing museum, the castle, the market place, the brink. We love
that the town put on a lot of events such as Christmas, Halloween, beach day. People are

generally friendly. We love the theatre and independent cinema and independent shops.”

Town centre — Food and restaurants. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated
that the selection of cafes and eateries was the reason they loved Wisbech.

“I like that Wisbech has good places to eat, good schools and a good cinema”

Amenities — Services. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the availability of
charities, activities, schools, and health care were the reasons they loved Wisbech.

“There are a lot of places you can go when you need help”

Town centre — Market. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated the market
place was the reason they loved Wisbech.

“The park is beautiful, and the market place. The architecture is amazing.”

Amenities — Accessibility. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated that the
accessibility of shopping, things to do, services, and nearby places of interest were the
reason they loved Wisbech.

“The old buildings and character of the town. The old views looking along the river and out
towards the farmland. The lovely pocket parks within the town. The great assets of Wisbech
need to be protected, North Cambs hospital/bus station and what shops we have within

walking distance of town centre”

Town centre — Parking. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated they loved
Wisbech because of the free and available parking.

“It's quiet and peaceful with free parking which is unusual nowadays.”

Page 143



1@

Wisbech

Communications/Promotion — What’s on. The respondents who discussed this theme
discussed events, leisure facilities and activities that occurred in Wisbech and felt these
were the reason they loved Wisbech.

“I personally never feel the need to travel outside the town for shopping or entertainment
with the Angles theatre and two cinemas.”

Prosperity — Housing. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the availability,
standard, and cost of housing in Wisbech was the reason they loved it.

“Cheap housing and lots of it.”

Prosperity — Education. Respondents who discussed this theme indicated that the
educational facilities were the reason they loved Wisbech.

“Moved here from Herts. Newton first then been in town centre 18 months - very happy,
great supportive school for son. Thomas Clarkson. Dance fit classes. Wisbech forum -
although sometimes negative. Lots going on if you know where to look. Foreign neighbours —

happy”

Rural location. The respondents who discussed this theme loved Wisbech because of its
rural feel, location and surroundings.

“The sweeping ‘Brinks’, Clarkson Memorial, Town Bridge, the ‘harbour’ and the countryside.”

Town centre — Feeling safe. There was debate with respondents who discussed this theme
in relation to their feelings of safety. Some of these respondents felt that Wisbech made
them feel unsafe due to drug use, public drunkenness and lack of visible policing. Some of
these respondents indicated that the felt safe in Wisbech.

“Sadly | don’t. Since | moved here 5 years ago it has deteriorated beyond belief. However,
the church gardens have been stunning and renovation of the Castle etc has been
worthwhile. People don’t go into town as they feel unsafe. The parks are full of drunks and
drug users. Really, what is there to love?”

“It has a very laid back community with a slow pace of life that offers a relaxing
environment. The night skies are brilliant and you can see a sea of stars sprawled above you
at night time. There are always people on patrol and it is a very safe and friendly
environment with lively markets on the weekends”

Town centre — Clean environment. There was debate with respondents who discussed this
theme in relation to their feelings towards the state of the environment. Some of these
respondents felt that Wisbech had issues with litter and waste being unmanaged. Some of
these respondents felt that Wisbech was clean and felt positive about the local
environment.

Page 144



1@

Wisbech

“It’s a small town. It’s clean. It’s friendly.”

Amenities — Misc. Most of the respondents who discussed this theme left general positive
comments about Wisbech’s amenities. A few respondents felt that there was nothing to do
in Wisbech.

“The town is a historic gem with a very diverse population and is comfortably behind the
times when it comes to development and progress. This is what gives the town its character
and laid-back feeling. Long may it remain this way.”

Prosperity — Jobs. Respondents who discussed this theme indicated that the availability of
work was the reason they loved Wisbech.

“The history about Wisbech and the museum. It’s multicultural and there are multiple
opportunities for people in need of work.”

Transport. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated that the availability of
transport links, such as free parking and bus services, were the reason they loved Wisbech.

“It has a shopping centre and has easily accessible public transport (bus, taxi etc)”

Communities — Young people. Most of the respondents who discussed this theme felt that
there wasn’t enough for young people to do in Wisbech. A few respondents highlighted the
availability of clubs and activities for children was the reason they loved Wisbech.

“Nothing for young people to do in Wisbech”

Town centre — Anti-social Behaviour. Respondents who discussed this theme highlighted
issues they had seen around anti-social behaviour, including drug use, public drunkenness,
and fighting.

“Find this very hard to answer because apart from the flower displays during the summer at
various locations and looking at the North Brink in the sunshine, there is nothing else at all
that grabs me! My sister in law visited us from Australia for the second time this year and i
actually refused to show her into Wisbech town the first time, and this year | reluctantly
agreed and walking around the rear of the town church we were face to face with a seriously
nasty physically violent fight betwee two women and four men! Lovely !”

Prosperity — Homelessness. The respondents who discussed this theme highlighted issues
around homelessness in Wisbech. A few of the respondents discussed the work local

charities had done to help.

“Good history in the town. Good opportunities for free food for the homeless - Bygones, Rift
Café, Britannia, Rosmini and others”

10

Page 145



1@

Wisbech
Prosperity — Poverty. The respondents who discussed this theme indicated issues around
poverty in Wisbech. Some respondents felt it was adding to the anti-social behaviour issues.
A few respondents felt Wisbech was in need of renovation.
“The immense sense of depression and poverty”
11

Page 146



1@

Wisbech

Question 2: How would you make it better?

928 respondents answered this question. The themes that arose from those comments are
summarised below.

Figure 2: Word Cloud of question 2 responses

activities a=a areas Dehaviour bring b suisiee buildings
Centre children clean community councii crime drinking drugs
events facilities good high homeless houses improve improved jobs links
litter wea market .... park parking ...
people places POlICE sucine weserce primark public
auality railway roads rubbish sfe schools security shop shopping
ShOpS ocial Station street :ieets tOWﬂ traffic
train transport wisbech young

Town centre — Shops. 27% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents
felt there needed to be more shops with improved variety. A few of these respondents felt
that these shops should be more independently run with less retail or charity shops. Some
respondents felt that the market place should have more investment to allow it expand.
Some respondents felt that the derelict buildings should be reopened as shops.

“Tackle dead town centre - more shopping like there used to be - out of town shopping”

“So dilapidated and run down, nothing to welcome people. Improve the High Street as it's
looking old. Less immigration, less foreign shops, less labels over the windows and more
tradition”.

Town centre — Environment/Clean up. 22% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of
these respondents discussed issues with litter and felt that this needed addressing. Some of
these respondents discussed the condition of the town centre, feeling it needed repair and
regeneration work, including on the roads and pavements.

“Cleaner streets, pavements/roads need repairing. Better street lighting, particularly roads
around Wisbech Park. Wisbech needs the railway station so commuters would buy in the
town. Also, invite retailers such as Marks & Spencer, NEXT etc. to come to the Retail Park.”

Town centre — Feeling safe. 22% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
discussed feeling unsafe and the reasons for feeling this way, including improved policing.

Most of these respondents discussed public drunkenness, drug use and drug availability.

12

Page 147



1@

Wisbech

Some respondents discussed gang culture, violence and vandalism. Some respondents also
discussed ways to make people feel safer. These suggestions included more visible policing,
improved lighting, more CCTV, more activities for younger people, and more community
events.

“Remove/enforce anti-social behaviour on undesirable people, restrict/impose better
conditions on rogue and irresponsible land lords thus restoring a better
population/residents/community. More community events to help bring people together”

Get authorities to “open their eyes and recognise the huge problem the town has with anti-
social behaviour and do something about it, not try to pretend it doesn’t go on & people
avoid the town centre because they are too scared to go!”

“Policing in general seems inadequate.”

Amenities — Facilities. 18% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
discussed various facilities they would like to see developed. These included places for
activities and clubs, places for youth activities, historical places, green spaces, an indoor
market, evening activities such as live music and eateries, and more events.

“To improve Wisbech, | would add leisure centres so children could become more active and
interact with the community”

Town centre — Anti-social behaviour. 17% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of the
respondents who discussed this theme discussed it in relation to ‘Feeling safe’. Respondents
felt there were issues around anti-social behaviour such as public drunkenness, drug use,
vandalism, and violence.

“There is a fear of street drinking and anti-social behaviour, especially around the market
place. There is also a lack of parking enforcement”

Transport. 13% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents felt that
Wisbech could use a train station and the transport links that would bring, particularly to
Peterborough and Kings Lynn. Some respondents felt that transport options needed
improving in Wisbech, including increasing the number of buses and routes as well as
improving road links to improve traffic.

“Better public transport. More bus stops & routes linking local villages to the town. I live on

the outskirts and have no form of public transport to get into town which means me and my
partner have no choice but to run 2 cars. Hopefully the train station to go ahead.”

Communities — Cohesion. The respondents who discussed this theme left comments
indicating that there was a lack of community cohesion. Some of these respondents felt that
more should be done to encourage different communities to work together and share

13

Page 148



1@

Wisbech

experiences. Some of these respondents left comments indicating they had issues with
immigration.

“Not enough integration of communities.”

Negative. The respondents who discussed this theme left negative comments about what
could be done to improve Wisbech. Most of these respondents felt that everything needed
improving, some felt that nothing could be done to improve things mainly due to funding.

“to be honest | really don’t know there does not seem to be the funds to improve things”

Communities — Young people. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that
improvements were needed for younger people, particularly around employment/
educational opportunities and activities.

“Improved youth service for young people that increased aspirations. More funding into
early intervention for families. More jobs.”

Amenities — Open space. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that open spaces
needed improving. Some of these respondents felt that existing play areas needed to be
better maintained. Some of these respondents felt that green spaces should be made more
accessible. A few of these respondents discussed running more events in open spaces.

“Wisbech Park is beautiful. However sadly every time | have taken my children to the
playground there has been vomit and rubbish in the floor. Is it possible to make the area
larger as lots of children use it. Lots of the play equipment is never used i.e. the metal bar
climbing frame. Could a roundabout be fitted that could be used by disabled children too.
Also two small stand on spinners. At the other end where it is the harbour line could another
zip wire be fitted for the teenagers. Can it be monitored more?”

Amenities — Clean up. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the appearance
of many of the buildings and shops in Wisbech needed improving. Respondents felt these
were coming into disrepair, were too industrial or not in fitting with the Georgian feel of
Wisbech.

“Difficult: whilst building new houses, schools and open spaces, it is important to focus on
what is already here and in need of repair/improvement. Many Georgian properties,
including shops, are owned by private landlords; some are in serious need of repair especially
as many are rented out. They should take responsibility for the upkeep to enhance the local
area, not add to its dilapidation!”

Town centre — Parking. The respondents who discussed this theme felt there needed to be
improvements to parking and more of it. Some of these respondents felt there needed to be

more enforcement of illegal parking.

“Police presence. Traffic Wardens. A sensible parking arrangement on the market place.
Council sponsored market stalls for a Saturday ONLY markets.”

14

Page 149



1@

Wisbech

Road repairs/infrastructure. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the road
and pavement infrastructure needed improving. Most of these respondents discussed the
need for better maintenance on the roads and pavements. Some of these respondents felt
that safety improvements were needed on the roads and pavements. A few respondents
felt there needed to be infrastructure improvements to the roads to reduce traffic in
Wisbech.

“Sort out all the pot holes. Do something about parking near schools. Ramnoth road is a
nightmare at sometimes and | dread a child getting hurt by all the cars reversing and
fighting for spaces. Encourage businesses into the town by reducing rents.”

Town centre — Market. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the market
place needed investing in to attract more stalls. Some of these respondents felt that the
market needed specific improvements such as pedestrianisation or developing an indoor
market.

“If we cannot afford to completely rebuild the town centre, why don’t we build a really
decent sized town indoor market where there are permanent stall holders, cafe and room for
travelling market stalls. There has been a total revolution up north somewhere which has
breathed life back into high streets through creating a big indoor market place buzzing with
people both shopping and ‘meeting up’ for coffee.”

Town centre — Food & restaurants. The respondents who discussed this theme felt there
needed to be more eateries, cafes and pubs.

“The town would benefit from some more shops/restaurants/social hubs as there are many
empty units in and around the town centre. | believe the town would benefit by attracting
more visitors.”

Communities — Events. The respondents who discussed this theme felt there needed to be
more events. Some of these respondents felt that events would be used to bring different
members of the community together.

“More access to heritage sites or events on how to find out about Wisbech hidden
archaeology and history. More variety of shops. Rather than big retailers offering smaller
business opportunity. More seasonal activities and evening lecture series. Historic craft fares
go down very well.”

Prosperity — Jobs. The respondents who discussed this theme felt there needed to be more
jobs available in Wisbech. Some of these respondents felt these needed to focus on youth
employment. A few of these respondents discussed reducing business rates in order to
attract more business to bring in more jobs. A few of these respondents felt that a rail link
would help increase employment opportunities.

“Would like to see regular farmers market set up. Would like to see the young people with

additional needs given employment opportunities, there is a fantastic special school who try
hard to be more visible within the community. Would be great to see more collaboration

15

Page 150



1@

Wisbech

between businesses and local schools. Would love to improve our transport links out and into
the town to assist access to employment, leisure and services for the outlying villages that
Wisbech serves as a hub for. More cycle paths! Would love to have a theatre that could
attract acts like Lynn’s Corn Exchange.”

Prosperity — Education. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that there needed
to be more investment in educational facilities across the board. This included improving
current facilities and adding more.

“Improved youth service for young people that increased aspirations. More funding into
early intervention for families. More jobs.”

Prosperity — Housing. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that Wisbech needed
more affordable housing. Some of these respondents felt that there needed to be more
housing for the homeless as this was felt to be a serious issue in Wisbech. A few
respondents felt that more should be done to control irresponsible land lords.

“More social housing and places for the homeless to live - maybe "homes first" as some
towns do. More opportunities for the vulnerable and those with mental health problems to
be helped. Need more doctors' surgeries and more accessible public toilets. A proper
supermarket in the Horsefair.”

Communications/Promotion — What’s on. The respondents who discussed this theme felt
that more events/activities should be available and these should be advertised so residents
knew what was happening in Wisbech.

“Advertising for events like the Christmas market.”

Council and Policing issues. Some respondents mentioned the commitment of all Councils
and the Police, to work together to improve the town and involved communities more in
decision-making.

“As an individual what can | do about it? It's down to the 3 layers of politicians/councils, i.e.
WTC, FDC, CCC, all of which don't or won't pull together for Wisbech”

“It needs more consultation with young people, business and the movers and shakers in the
town.”

“The council needs to do more public engagement and fewer plans”

Amenities — Services. Some of the respondents who discussed this theme felt there needed
to be more health care facilities in Wisbech. Some respondents felt there needed to be
more security features, such as lighting, CCTV, or police presence. Some respondents
discussed the need for more places that run health, leisure and educational activities. A few
respondents felt there needed to be somewhere central to find out what events/activities
were available within Wisbech.

16

Page 151



1@

Wisbech

“Some restaurants, big name stores, more police, more doctors and dentist surgeries, 24:(
minor injuries unit, railway line to Cambridge/London and to kings Lynn, better road repairs,
another bridge over the river, vibrant market place, independent bakers.”

Amenities — Accessibility. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that accessing the
amenities and facilities in Wisbech needed to be made easier, particularly for those with
young children and disabilities. These respondents felt this could be done through better
transport links, better parking facilities, and more centralised locations.

“Making it better for the disabled to get a round more parking Facilities would be nice, also a
meeting place for the people of Wisbech poorer side of the town so they can use it for things
like arts and crafts, dance, keep fit and make them cheap as possible or free. Also help
people how have no heating get some like if they have oil make it gas or electric storage
heating.”

Town centre — Toilets. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that there needed to
be more accessible public toilets.

“Many people will name shops like Primark etc, which the town centre does not have, to a
certain degree this may help as long as people can afford to park etc. Town centre seems to
lack food shops since Co-op has gone from Horsefair. Then there's the lack of toilets, payable
ones or any that are open.”

Prosperity — Poverty. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that poverty was an
issue within Wisbech and that more should be done to tackle this. These respondents felt
that more facilities for the homeless, improved education and job prospects would help
with this.

“Better and more varied shops. More employment and better employment. More disposable
income for people.”

Town centre — Heritage. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that more should
be done to highlight Wisbech’s heritage, including restoring old buildings, opening more
historical locations for visitors, and running more historical events.

“Spend money on restoring said buildings as | feel once restored the town would attract
more people from outside the area thus bringing additional prosperity to the town.”

Communication/Promotion — Press. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that
more publically available information should be available. Some of these respondents felt
that Wisbech needed more positive press, including from a tourism board. Some
respondents felt the council needed to provide more public information and be generally
more engaged. A few respondents discussed the loss of local newspapers.

“When you google Wisbech the first sites that come up are negative reviews about the area.
Wisbech needs a tourism marketing plan update and some positive pro Wisbech journalists.

17

Page 152



1@

Wisbech

This place is a hidden treasure with so much history. We need to put Wisbech on the map for
the right reasons.”

Communication/Promotion — Celebration. The respondents who discussed this theme felt
that more needed to be done to show off Wisbech’s history and positive aspects.

“If the image of the town could be changed to reflect all the amazing people, places and
History that town has.”

Communications/Promotion — Tourism. The respondents who discussed this theme felt
that more should be done to promote tourism and attract visitors.

“More hotels to cater for tourists and more tourist promotion as well.”

Communities — friendliness. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that there
could be more respect and friendliness between people in Wisbech.

“More Housing and a rail station. A bit more respect and love amongst people.”

18

Page 153



1@

Wisbech

Question 3: What would you like to do about it?

301 respondents answered this question. The themes that arose from those comments are
summarised below.

Figure 3: Word Cloud of question 3 responses

ctivities area are@as behaviour DINS beng buildings business buy
centre charity clean cothes ... COmMmunity
counicil doNAEE suwy: encourage s . 5 food
ccod GrOUp happy homeless .. improve involved
litter local market money neighbours open park parking
pay people DGHCE positive promote rates shop ShOpS social
spend s Street streets support LOWN volunteer
wisbech work young o

Major themes

Happy to help/Anything. 21% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
indicated that they would like to help improve Wisbech in some way. Most of these
respondents indicated they would or already do volunteer in a number of capacities.

“I already volunteer and organise a variety of community events in the town.
Write to town council to ask them to follow up on owners of buildings that are in disrepair/
to consider being creative when it comes to use of disused buildings.”

“I'd gladly be involved. Have worked with some groups via my work and volunteered time,
but I’'m always keen to work on networking individuals for the betterment of the town.”

Amenities — Facilities. 20% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents
discussed the places and facilities they felt were needed to improve Wisbech. These
included fixing the derelict buildings, improving transport, improving educational facilities,
increasing the toilets in the town centre, improving security, improving healthcare, and
improving the shopping facilities. Some of these respondents discussed improving/starting
up clubs and activities.

“Wisbech needs a very well structured plan to return it to its former glory, for those who can
remember this wonderful market town was once the envy of many, this is no longer the case

and the whole package needs to be addressed by looking into business plans, tourism, leisure
and the policing in general, there is no quick fix to the issue and filling empty spaces with

19

Page 154



1@

Wisbech

unsuitable shops is simply not the answer, for example the new Cromwell Road trading park
has attracted a selection of retailers of which none have the capability to draw customers on
a regular basis.”

Council issues. 16% respondents discussed this theme. Many respondents said it was the
authorities’ responsibility to deal with the wider issues.

“It is not what would | like to do about it. It's more about what the Combined Authority, the
County Council, Fenland District Council and Wisbech Town Council can and will do about it”

Communities — Events. 15% of respondents discussed this theme. Some of these
respondents discussed events they already volunteer to help run. Some respondents
discussed events they would like to volunteer to help run. Suggestions included
entertainment events, community outreach events, and community cleaning.

“Help organise events, push for more funding to help get support and promote events.”

Town centre — Feeling safe. 13% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
felt there needed to be more enforcement in Wisbech, particularly around anti-social
behaviour, littering, public drunkenness and drug use. Some of these respondents felt that
an improved police presence would aid this.

“The police need to be pushed to provide more readily visible patrols especially in the town.
There is a disturbing increase in anti-social behaviour including graffiti, damage and abusive
behaviour. Public drinking needs to be curtailed urgently.”

Negative/Nothing. 11% of respondents discussed this theme. Some of these respondents
indicated they did not feel they could help for various reasons, such as free time, their
financial situation, or health.

“I don't the time unfortunately”

Town centre — Environment/clean up. 10% of respondents discussed this theme. These
respondents felt that Wisbech needed to be cleaned of litter. Some of these respondents

indicated they would help with some form of community cleaning project.

“Happy to get involved. | would like to see an anti - litter campaign on the streets with local
people involved.”

Town centre — Anti-social behaviour 10% of respondents discussed this theme. These
respondents indicated there were issues around anti-social behaviour in Wisbech. Some of

these respondents felt that more police presence and enforcement would help.

“Stop anti-social behaviour.”

20

Page 155



1@

Wisbech

Communities — cohesion. 10% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents felt
that events and community engagement should work on helping the community feel more
connected.

“Be part of the process of pulling people together.”

Communities — Young people. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that events
and community engagement should focus on things that would benefit younger people,
such as clubs and activity areas.

“Activities for kids or hire a hall or run a weekly club”

“Set up a website or social media site to inform young people on what's happening in
Wisbech”

Amenities — Services. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that services, such as
food banks, policing, healthcare, the council, and homeless facilities could be helped or
improved.

“Wisbech food bank”

Amenities — Open space. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that
improvements could be made to Wisbech by increasing the amount of green spaces, such as
parks, and increasing planting around Wisbech.

“More parks, places to go, more towns”

Prosperity — Homelessness. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that more could
be done to aid the homeless in Wisbech.

“Help the homeless or people that are struggling”

Communication/Promotion — What’s on. The respondents who discussed this theme felt
that more could be done to promote what events/activities were occurring in Wisbech. A
few of these respondents indicated they were already, or would like to be, involved in these
events/activities and their promotion.

“More positive PR - More events and things to do.”

Road repairs/infrastructure. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that the roads
and pavements around Wisbech needed more maintenance and safety improvements, such

as crossing points. A few of these respondents felt that Wisbech needed to be more
accessible by road, particularly around the A47.

21

Page 156



1@

Wisbech

“Until Wisbech is more accessible by road with more free car parking with more shops in the
Town centre you will not encourage people to visit or shop in the Town. If the infrastructure
is not in place there will be no improvements.”

Town centre — Parking. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that issues around
illegal parking needed to be addressed.

“Have more police patrols, or people with the power to move people on and ticket bad
parking on a daily basis.”

Town centre — Shops. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that Wisbech could be
improved with a larger selection of shops and that incentives should be put in place to
encourage this.

“Cheaper rents for shop keepers so we get shops that stay in town rather than being empty.”

Transport. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that improved transport links,
such as increased bus routes and a train station, would help Wisbech. A few of these
respondents indicated they had supported the development of a train station.

“Bring back the railway! Improve public transport. Duelling the A47. Publicise more plans for
development etc”

Town centre — Market. Some of the respondents who discussed this theme felt that the
market place could be improved by adding more stalls. A few respondents felt that the stalls
should be reduced or newer stall holders located elsewhere.

“Create a market place in a centre to allow entrepreneurs to show what they can offer
before getting a stall in the actual market place.”

Prosperity — Jobs. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that a more diverse range
of jobs would improve Wisbech.

“Take advantage, more community. Better jobs than cleaning. Better paid, worthwhile —
progression. Volunteered for museum - interested in heritage”

Communication/Promotion — Celebration. The respondents who discussed this theme felt
that more could be done to promote the positive aspects of Wisbech, such as its history and

community.

“Advert in paper asking for info about everything individuals are participating in to get a true
picture of how incredible Wisbech is - very passionate discussion”

Town centre — Heritage. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that events and
facilities focused on Wisbech’s heritage would help improve it. A few of these respondents
indicated they have volunteered for the museum.

22

Page 157



1@

Wisbech

“Develop links between the museum, library and Castle - possible joint Heritage Lottery Bid —
volunteers, funding, cultural quarter”

Town centre — Food & Restaurants. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that
more places to eat, particularly restaurants, would help Wisbech.

“Get some other places to eat other than fast food”

Prosperity — Education. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that improvements
should be made to educational facilities, particularly making links with the community and
businesses.

“Education needs to support the next generation to invest and remain in the local areas if
not Fenland will die. It will literally be a place for cheap housing and an elderly population.
But no one will spend and therefore buy into their community the money always goes

elsewhere because people complain there’s nothing here?”

Communication/Promotion — Tourism. The respondents who discussed this theme felt that
more could be done to promote tourism in Wisbech.

“I already volunteer at one of the tourist attractions in the town. | talk Wisbech up at every
opportunity | would like to see more tourist promotion.”

23

Page 158



1@

Wisbech

Other responses

420 respondents were asked a slightly different question for question 3, “What would you
do about it if you had £50?”. Responses were mostly similar but differences were seen in
the major themes.

Prosperity — Homelessness. 30% of respondents discussed this theme. These respondents
indicated they would give the money to the homeless or use the money to buy food, living
essentials for them.

“Buy food for homeless”

Prosperity — poverty. 26% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents
indicated they would give the money to someone who would financially need it or donate it
to a charity/food bank. Some of these respondents indicated they would use it to buy
essentials for themselves.

“I would donate the money to the people that really need it”

Town centre — Environment/clean up. 12% of respondents discussed this theme. These
respondents indicated they would use the money to provide more bins or pay for cleaners
to remove litter from the streets.

“I would spend it on employing more people to collect litter/trash”

Amenities — facilities. 11% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents
indicated they would donate the money to local charities and places of interest. A few of
these respondents indicated they would put the money towards opening something for the

community, such as a youth club or community centre.

“I would open a free youth club with things like arcade games, computers, TV and
entertainment for young people”

Negative/Nothing. 11% of respondents discussed this theme. Most of these respondents
indicated they would spend the money on themselves on non-essential purchases such as
entertainment. Some of these respondents felt that £50 would not make any difference or

that they were not sure what they would spend it on.

“You can't do anything with 50 quid”

24

Page 159



APPENDIX E

GROWING

- ENLAND

Wisbech:

Market Town Masterplan

< enland
7 '), CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH
{\) COMBINED AUTHORITY CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Cambridgeshire

PN County Councll

Wisbech Town Council

Page 160



GROWING
FENLAND
Contents
INEFOAUCTION .ttt ettt e ettt s e e s bt e e s ar e e s b e e e seeesabeeeneeesnreesneeesareeas 3
Wisbech — what residents and the data is SAYiNG........ccevciieiiiiiiie e 5
Our key asks of the Combined AULNOTItY ......cccuieiiiiiiie e e e e e 10
1. Provide immediate connectivity to key employment centres.......cccoevcveveveiieeiincieeeenciee e 11
2. ATown Centre Improvement INItiative .........eeeieiiiiii e 13
3. Support cohesion and community shared SPace.......cccvcuveiiiiiieei i 16
5. Open up countryside access, and develop the Wisbech Country Park .........ccccceeevvieeiiiiiinnnnns 18
6. Develop a workplace health award SChemME .........ccuviiiiiiiiii i 20
/2 e Tol ¥ Lo T I o 10 4 ] o PP PP PO PPPPTOPPRRIt 21
8.  Repair Derelict BUIlAINGS ....ccciciiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt e s st e e e st e e s seatneeesnreeeesans 21
9. Commercialisation of Wishech POrT .......ccuiiiiiiiiiieieeee e 21
LTV g = g F=T o o= o T o LY T 22
2

Page 161



Introduction

This piece of work is a response to the Combined Authority’s plans for Market Town Masterplans.
These are being brought forward across the district.

This report is unlike the other three market town reports (Chatteris, March, Whittlesey). This is
because Wisbech has done a lot of its strategic thinking already. Throughout the Wisbech 2020 Vision
work, there has been extensive consultation of residents to understand the mood of the town. The
Wisbech 2020 Vision work is currently being refreshed to create an action plan for the year 2019/20.
The Wisbech Garden Town proposals have also been developed, and we are securing buy-in for these.

This document, then, does not represent another strategy, or a totally new set of ideas. Nor will it
constitute a new workstream on top of the significant activity already going on in Wisbech.

However, we are excited about the new opportunities that the advent of the Combined Authority
brings. We invite the Combined Authority to get involved in the work we are leading on to transform
the town of Wisbech: focused on improving economic, social, and environmental outcomes for the
benefit of all our residents. We have worked with the Wisbech 2020 Vision team to understand which
of the long list of actions are the key proposals where Combined Authority support would be most
helpful.

A strategy that works across Fenland

As well as this report, we are also bringing forward a set of strategy proposals for the whole district.
These will move the dial on many of the big challenges experienced right across the district.

It is at this level that we hope to tackle challenges around health and education, where the
opportunities from acting at a district level are much greater.

A mandate to be bold

We are acting with courage to transform the town of Wisbech. This reflects our history. Thomas
Clarkson was a leading abolitionist, who courageously challenged the dominant views of his day to
bring about the end of the slave trade. The Peckovers were philanthropists who stood for
improvements in education and pacifist causes. Octavia Hill was a pioneer in creating new models of
social housing and founded the National Trust. We have never been cautious of embracing change, or
speaking out against the consensus.

Now, more than ever, we need to draw on this tradition of doing things differently. There are many
brilliant things about our town — but we have some serious challenges we need to work on, including
education and health. And we need to think creatively about how we manage factors which are not
directly under our control, such as land values, flood risk, and climate change. We want Wisbech to
be a resilient town of the future, ready to adapt to whatever challenges come our way.

This call for resilience is in particular reflected in our longer-term ambitions for future housing growth.
Our plans embrace the need to be resilient to the impacts of climate change, particularly flooding. This
reflects the recommendation in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Economic Review

Page 162



GROWING

FENLAND

(CPIER) that Wisbech becomes a “UK testbed for new flood-resistant approaches to development”?.

And by being fully integrated within the Wisbech community, we can also strengthen community
resilience.

Now is the time for those standing in the model of our radical past to embrace the opportunity.

L https://www.cpier.org.uk/media/1672/cpier-report-151118-lowres.pdf p92

4

Page 163


https://www.cpier.org.uk/media/1672/cpier-report-151118-lowres.pdf

Wisbech — what residents and the data is saying

A strong local centre

Wisbech, unlike other towns in Fenland, acts as a magnet — it draws in more people than it sends out
for work. We can see this by looking at commuting patterns for the town:

Commuters out.... ...and commuters in

STAMFORD
.

o

3 s i
\ J x,\}_\ /
- \ //J

JARKET DEEFING

JMRKET DEEPING

DOWNHAM HARKET STAMFORD

NHTTTLESEY m JFETERBOROUGH

PETEREOROUGH
. DDVNHAM MARKET

-
WHITTLESEY

Number of workers JCHATTERIS Number of workers.

[1¢-50
50- 100
100 - 250
B 250 - 500
B 500 - 1000
. 1000 - 1500
Bl 1500+

M

JRAMSEY 3 o-50
50 - 100
100 - 250

B 250 - 500
// W 500 - 1000
B 1000- 1500
HUNTINGDON (5T IVES Bl 1500+
o

CHATTERIS
FAHSEY .

Source: Analysis of Census 2011

This is the result of a few things. Firstly, Wisbech? is by some margin the largest of the Fenland market
towns. While it is still some way off city size, in the absence of another city nearby, this makes Wisbech
an important local centre.

Secondly, Wisbech has high employment — with many larger firms. Total employment is 13,750 in
Wisbech, and 15.2% of all business have ten or more staff — very high compared to Fenland (10.1%)
and the England average (10.5%).

This ca.n be seen in the Iar‘ge 'ir‘ldustrial c‘Iusters a?round th('e town. “We’re a bit in-betweeny
But Wisbech also offers significant retail and leisure services, as ; i 4
well as healthcare services at the North Cambridgeshire Hospital. in terms of size. -
The local importance of Wisbech can be seen from the variety of ~ VWWisbech resident

different land use types in the town.

Land use in Wisbech

2 Our geographical definition is based upon ward boundaries. For more details, please see Appendix

5

Page 164




» -

Land use classes
Bl Residential
I WMixed residential
[ Retail
Mixed retail
B commercial services
Mixed commercial services
Industry
I Mixed industry
Mixed use
I Healthcare
I Education
Public services
B Leisure
I Otherfunknown

1 —iL\
pam—— T E

05

0.25 0 0.5 Km

l".»l.'_C_ ﬁé’@%‘ﬁm“'@gnwn Copyright and database right 2018

Source: Metro Dynamics analysis of Ordnance Survey Points bf Interest data

One cause for concern, though, is the lack of substantial amounts of people commuting west to
Peterborough. While this may have grown since the data was recorded in 2011, Peterborough is our
nearest city, which contains higher-paid employment. There is virtually no commuting south to
Cambridge. Much of this comes down to issues with transport —inadequate road links which are prone
to closure, and poor public transport provision.

An educational offer that needs
support Educational Deprivation in Wisbech (2015)

While recent improvements have been seen at
several schools in Wisbech, educational
deprivation remains a big challenge. There are a
few elements to this. Firstly, when children
arrive at primary school in Wisbech, they are
generally preforming less well than their peers
elsewhere. Phonics skills among young children
are among the worst in the country.

Secondly, rates of children staying on for sixth
form have historically been low — though this
has not been the case at the grammar school.

Page 165



Thirdly, there are many different cultures in

Wisbech, which brings diversity to our town, but Source: Analysis of Home Office data (2015)
can also put extra pressure on resources — with

the need to teach children who don’t have English

as a first language, and who may come from a culture where schooling starts later.

Low unemployment — but also low wages

Unemployment is low in Wisbech — with only 2.2% of the working age population claiming Job
Seekers’ Allowance (JSA). The large industrial cluster which has grown up around the town testifies
to the fact that people work hard in Wisbech, and employers recognise this.

At the same time, much of this work is in lower skilled occupations. At the time of the last census
(2011) 43% of Wisbech residents were in occupations that were either “Elementary Occupations”
or “Process, plant, and machine operatives”, compared to 29% in Fenland and 18% in England>. This
lower skilled work is linked to generally low wages — which lag behind Cambridgeshire across
Fenland as whole.

Wages at different deciles for different areas

70,000
60,000
([
E 50,000
>
S w
S 40,000
(%]
: 8§
E 30,000 g P
C [ L J
c
<C 20,000 - o
A4
"
10,000 -~
0
10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90
(median)
Decile

® England East @ Peterborough Cambridgeshire Fenland

Source: ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings. Data not available for Fenland and Peterborough
at the 90" decile.

3 Analysis of ONS Annual Population Survey data

Page 166



A mixed picture on the high street

Wisbech High Street has seen conversions from shops to  “There’s no real night

restaurants, cafés, pubs and bars over the last fifteen years — time economy” _

with the amount of floorspace for shops decreasing by Wisbech business owner

2,500m? between 2002 and 2017, while the amount of
floorspace for eating and drinking increased by 2,350m? over
the same period®.

In many ways, this is in line with national trends, where retailers have struggled with the increase in
online shopping. But the increase in cafés, restaurants and pubs has not yet translated into a busy
evening economy for the town, which generally feels quiet post 7pm. This is probably in part due to
the leisure and dining facilities which exist out to the west of the town (including the Light Cinema)
which may draw people away from the town centre at this time. Wisbech also suffers somewhat from
not having a “flagship store” to bring footfall to the town centre.

However, the town is weathering the declining retail trend well with a busy market and few vacant
units. A recent report on the market commented that “the traditional market days are Thursday and
Saturday which still appear to be strong trading days as does not unsurprisingly Friday”>.

At the same time, the town is blessed by a wealth of brilliant architecture and cultural attractions,
including Peckover House, Wisbech Castle, and the Wisbech & Fenland Museum, meaning there is
plenty for visitors and residents to see and do. There is a full calendar of events, and numerous
community organisations.

Some challenges with health

Health outcomes are generally worse in Wisbech than England averages (though not on every
measure). Most notably, hospital stays for alcohol related harm are 46% above the England average,
cancer incidence is 10.6% above the England average, and rates of emergency admissions for heart
disease, heart attack, and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) are all over 50% above
England averages. As a consequence, premature mortality rates for those under 75 are 30.9% higher
than in England, and for those under 65 are 43.8% higher — indicating a significant challenge here.

In terms of lifestyle factors, the available data is less detailed, but there is a notable gap with England
in the rates of healthy eating adults — 22.7%, compared to 28.7% in England, and 32.4% in
Cambridgeshire®.

A town that is taking the initiative

Wisbech is very unusual for a market town in being very proactive about its future. Through the
Wisbech 2020 Vision, the town has actively engaged with the Government, which has resulted in visits

4 Source: Cambridgeshire County Council. Based upon change of use applications for planning categories A1, A3
and A4. Figures rounded.

5> NABMA: Market Health Check Report

6 All figures taken from Public Health England data, available through the Local Health tool

8

Page 167



GROWING

FENLAND

from ministers and senior civil servants, signalling support. While cities tend to have more resources
for this type of activity, Wisbech has used its assets to make a strong case for investment. A recent
visit from Their Royal Highnesses The Prince of Wales and The Duchess of Cornwall has raised the
profile of the town still further.

The town also benefits from a strong community spirit. In recent surveys undertaken for the ‘I Love
Wisbech’ work, the friendliness of the town was frequently referenced, as well as voluntary sector
organisations such as the Ferry Project and local churches. Wisbech Town Council have also tried to
be as proactive as possible in enhancing community integration through their wide range of
community events.

Page 168



GDO\/\/lNG

FENLAND

Our key asks of the Combined Authority

We invite the Combined Authority to be a part of transforming our town. The Combined Authority has
recognised, through its response to the CPIER, the importance of the Fens as a separate economic
area to both the Greater Cambridge and Greater Peterborough economies. Wisbech is the largest
town in the Cambridgeshire Fens —so realising the potential of this economy has to mean a prosperous
and inclusive future for Wisbech.

Our key asks are:

1.

WD

N o o

8.

Provide immediate connectivity to key employment centres
A Town Centre Improvement Initiative
Support cohesion and community shared space

Open up countryside access, and develop the Wisbech
Country Park

Develop a workplace health award scheme
Focus on Tourism
Repair Derelict Buildings

Commercialisation of Wisbech Port

We now unpack each of these in turn.

10

Page 169



GROWING

FENLAND

1. Provide immediate connectivity to key employment
centres

Wisbech suffers from poor transport connectivity. According to Wikipedia, it is among the twenty
largest towns in England not to have a train station’. The fact that the A47 is single carriageway for
much of its journey east and west from Wisbech makes it unsafe and slow. Cycle infrastructure to
connect the town to other places is virtually non-existent. All of the above means that it is difficult to
work in any of the East of England’s primary employment centres — Peterborough, Cambridge, and
Norwich — while living in Wisbech.

The economic impacts of this are clear. Within Wisbech there are low levels of professional
employment, meaning that many who want to move on in their career feel they need to leave the
town. This takes people and resources away. It is also a missed opportunity to bring more money in
to flow around the town, which would help the high street immensely.

IM

We know what the real “game-changers” are to make changes to this in the long run, which are
covered in the strategy paper. The A47 needs to be fully dualled to open up employment opportunity.
In the longer term a rail link to the town will mean young professionals, who are increasingly unlikely
to drive, will base themselves in the town. A 45-minute link to Cambridge would increase employment
and allow for people working in Cambridge to access more affordable housing. Further ahead,
Wisbech may be able to become part of the Cambridge Autonomous Metro (CAM) network, which is

initially being developed in the south of the county.

But, even if all goes as best as it possibly can on these projects, construction of heavy infrastructure
inevitably takes a long time in both the planning and delivery. It is highly unlikely that either project
will be complete before 2030. This is too long to wait — we need solutions now. Business cases for
ambitious schemes will also stack up more readily if we can nurture patterns of commuting out of the
town. Fenland Association for Community Transport (FACT) is working to help address this — but much
more needs to be done, which goes beyond the limits of what a volunteer organisation can provide.

Some ideas which should be developed, tested, and if viable rolled out include:

e A shuttle bus service to key transport hubs. Both March and Watlington stations are within
25 minutes’ drive from Wisbech. These enjoy quick connections to Cambridge (and
Peterborough, in the case of March). A shuttle service which was designed to coincide with
train departures would make public transport commuting a feasible option.

e Testbed for the Cambridge Autonomous Metro (CAM). The technology for the Cambridge
Autonomous Metro will need to be trialled. According to the Strategic Outline Business Case,
the CAM will use “high-quality, zero-emission ‘trackless metro’ vehicles, powered by electric
batteries recharged overnight and at route termini throughout the day, without the need for
overhead wires”. This technology could be trialled to connect Wisbech on the course of one
of the old railway line connections. This would help as a proof of concept both for the CAM,
and also for future connectivity to Wisbech.

7 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of largest_towns_in_England_without_a_railway_station

11

Page 170



GROWING

FENLAND

These suggestions are fixes for the short term — but impetus must be kept up for Wisbech Rail and the
dualling of the A47.

12

Page 171



GROWING

FENLAND

2. A Town Centre Improvement Initiative

Throughout the Growing Fenland project, among the normal rivalries between towns, one refrain
has been clear from other towns that they believe Wisbech has been the focus an undue amount of
resource and attention. That there has been real focus on Wisbech is clearly true. This is to a degree
justified by the socio-economic and demographic statistics in the town which are particularly
challenging.

In our view, a focus on Wisbech is justified over and above the proposals suggested by the town
team, but the focus should be on giving the town the support it needs to capitalise on its assets and
deal with its issues so that it has a momentum of its own going forward. We think it is possible and
necessary to get Wisbech even more firmly on the right path. This is because the context has
changed or is set to do so.

The strategy paper includes a range of transport proposals. Alongside the revenue proposals also
considered for improvements to education and health, these capital proposals, if implemented,
would change the potential of Wisbech Town Centre, making it both possible and necessary to
improve the town’s offer.

This is a project that other key stakeholders have a concern with. NPP, owners of the Horsefair
Shopping Centre, have reported a marked decline in footfall and wish to work with the Town and
District Council and others to develop proposals to improve footfall in the town centre. At the
moment, footfall is not tracked in the Town Centre — but as this initiative is taken forward it will be
important to do so.

Based on all of these factors, we propose a Wisbech Town Centre initiative.

Its aim should be to make Wisbech a venue of choice for retail, leisure and culture for the widest
possible cross-section of local people as well as to a growing number and range of visitors.

The way this will be achieved is through a combination of measures designed to:

e increase footfall in the town centre, thereby embedding and sustaining the existing retail
offer as well as creating new opportunities. Footfall counters to be introduced to monitor
changes in footfall i.e. when events are held or if a new store is opened. It will be important
to do so as anecdotal evidence suggests the market place and surrounding streets are doing
better than the Horsefair shopping centre — the only place footfall is currently counted.

e improve the attractiveness of key gateways to the town centre including by potentially
remodelling the Horsefair carpark

e improve the range of hotel accommodation on offer

e investigate the possibility of covering the market, or other creative approaches to
maximising its potential, while exploring whether there is a case for more retail space in the
town centre (or whether existing large retail space in the centre can be made more
attractive for large retailers).

e develop a distinctive food and beverage offer which reflects the rich agricultural offer of the
Fenland area

13

Page 172



GROWING

FENLAND

e develop the area around the Wisbech Castle and Museum as a cultural quarter, with space
for artists to display and sell their products.

e create community owned and managed space as a home for community groups

e Fund and work with Wisbech Town Council to introduce their plans for Wisbech Market
Place which includes pedestrianisation as well as visual features

e Introduce policies to encourage nightlife such as restaurants into the Town Centre

We believe that there is a valuable opportunity to take forward these proposals in a joint
partnership between the Town and District Councils the owner of the Horsefair shopping centre,
NPP, and potentially others including Elgood & Sons Brewery.

This approach would need to be accompanied by other policy changes, including a commitment to
more effective policing of the Town Centre and a commitment on the part of the District Council to
focus development on the Town Centre, curtailing further developments on the outskirts of town for
activity that could reasonably find a location in the town centre.

King’s Lynn was improved by a focus on a large retail offer, whilst this is difficult to do in the existing
High Street, sites very close to the existing centre should be identified as possibilities to improve the
shopping precinct.

As well as improving the digital offering for the town, there is an important role for doing things
around the town which will help to generally improve the “feel” of Wisbech.

But there are some smaller things we can do as well.

Attractive Totem Signage to improve legibility

Wayfinding totems are smartly presented, with
well-designed maps, clean text, and attractive
colour palette. These will help to improve the town
centre aesthetic. They also send a clear message
that the town expects visitors to come and look
around — which grows a sense that the town is “on
the map” and reminds locals about reasons to take
pride in their town. Including historical sections on
the signs about key features of the town can also
help connect people to the town’s heritage.

The importance of navigability, or “legibility” of
places is becoming increasingly appreciated. People
will spend longer, discover more, and have a more
positive experience if a place has an effective
wayfinding strategy.

14

Page 173



Support a “digitally-enabled” town centre which can thrive in the era
of online shopping

Online sales as a percentage of total retail sales has grown from 3.4% to 18% between 2007 and
20182, This has been blamed for the challenges we have seen on the high street in Wisbech. Retail
space has fallen by 2,500m? between 2002 and 2017°, though much of this has been absorbed by
another trend — towards café culture, pub, and restaurant space.

However, many town centres are thriving, which shows the link between growth in online shopping
and high street decline is by no means cast in iron. Shops which are innovating to bring together
their digital and physical offerings can continue to maintain a high street presence, where customers
can continue to appreciate using the store, even if they then wait until returning home to order. The
integration of the physical and digital offering is a key trend of the moment.

To adapt to this trend, we need to enact the following:

e On-street Wi-Fi across the town centre. This currently exists in Cambridge, and has recently
been launched in Ely. As well as giving people a reason to be on the high street, it also
increases digital inclusion, by supporting those who would be unable to afford a data-heavy
phone contract. In Ely, it has also been shown to really boost the takings of local market
stallholders — as it enables them to use contactless for payments, instead of having to take
cash. More work needs to be undertaken to identify current Wi-Fi ‘white spots’ and provide
coverage in these areas.

e  Working with Wisbech Town Council, the potential for enhancing the existing Town Council
website to be explored, using search engine optimisation to make it easier for potential
visitors to see the main attractions in the town.

8 https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/retailindustry/timeseries/j4mc/drsi
9 Cambridgeshire County Council data on changes of use

15

Page 174



3. Support cohesion and community shared space

A cohesion programme, drawing on the example of Peterborough

Peterborough has been chosen by the Government as one of the UK’s five “integration areas”. This
means it has had funding to respond to some of the challenges associated with high levels of
international immigration, and develop responses accordingly. The interim strategy for the
programme, “Belonging Together” has been developed, which sets out four key areas of work:

1. Economic Opportunity — which focuses on removing barriers to the labour market through
interventions such as childcare support and careers fairs

2. Bringing Communities Together — which focuses on improving community relations, through
support for community projects, and using planning approaches to improve cohesion and
control the number of Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs)

3. Young People — which focuses on how to develop a shared sense of citizenship among the
young, and understand their perspectives on integration

4. English Language — with tailored English for Speakers of Other Languages training (ESOL),
particularly focused on allowing those with skills to put them to use where English Language
is a barrier, and developing a partnership of providers

Within the Belonging Together strategy, partners state that: "we welcome the opportunity to share
our learning"'®. We believe Wisbech could offer a great opportunity to apply many of the lessons
learnt in Peterborough to our context — where we share many of the same challenges, as well as the
same ambitions to ensure our town is inclusive, welcoming, and cohesive. We are already making
progress, with mandatory licencing that came into effect in October 2018 is beginning to address the
issue of the overabundance of HMOs.

We also believe that some initiatives can be trialled most successfully within a town setting, where
the scale of the challenge is lessened. We would welcome the opportunity to be involved in
conversations with government about the future of Peterborough’s Integration Area —and by working
with Peterborough we can evidence the benefits of the Integration Area being felt beyond the city
itself.

A public indoor space to bring the community together

In order to deepen a sense of community in the town, we need to create spaces where people can
come to dwell together. The historic market square is one such key space, which could undergo
improvements while preserving the heritage. There is also work ongoing to bring in heritage funds to
this area.

Another approach which some towns are taking across the UK is to create a new indoor shared space.
Altringham, Cheshire (see example) has used a food court with independent traders to bring people
into the town centre, helping to bring it back to life. In Great Yarmouth, a vacant M&S store has been
transformed into an art gallery for showcasing work by local talent. An initiative which helps local
entrepreneurs — be they artists, craftspeople, or chefs — to display and sell their work in an attractive

10 https://pcc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-

plans/BelongingTogether-AConversationAboutOurCommunitiesAndFuture-May2019v2.pdf?inline=true p16

16

Page 175


https://pcc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/BelongingTogether-AConversationAboutOurCommunitiesAndFuture-May2019v2.pdf?inline=true
https://pcc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-polices-and-plans/BelongingTogether-AConversationAboutOurCommunitiesAndFuture-May2019v2.pdf?inline=true

T"’J‘ ‘ﬁ‘q .
GROWING

FENLAND

setting would make our town centre more vibrant. We also know that in and around Wisbech there
are many affluent families — testified to by the popularity of the fee-paying grammar school and
presence of numerous asset management firms. We need to give these people something unique
which cannot be found online to bring them into the town centre and spend their disposable income.

This event space could also be used for town events — such as the annual Wisbech beer festival.
Elgood’s brewery is one of the town’s foremost assets — a beautiful Georgian brewery on the North
Brink with a long history of beer making. At a time when interesting beers are in vogue, we will use
our association with beer making to attract people to spend time in the town and advertise our offer.

Case Study: Reviving the town centre in Altrincham

Altrincham, in Cheshire, has managed to buck national trends by reducing its shop vacancy rate — from
25% in 2014 to 10% in 2018. This dramatic reversal of fortunes was sparked by a proactive market
development strategy, which has looked to bring in independent “street food” suppliers, breweries,
and other retailers. The market has become the new “anchor” for the town, in a way that department
stores have traditionally acted in other towns.?

1u https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/sep/16 /uk-market-towns-embrace-foodie-wave-to-

revive-ailing-centres

17

Page 176


https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=1bqT3Rsncn5TS9Ou2T7YADqLOmsBeQMUDUS0bYXMOA&s=1100&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2etheguardian%2ecom%2fuk-news%2f2018%2fsep%2f16%2fuk-market-towns-embrace-foodie-wave-to-revive-ailing-centres
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=1bqT3Rsncn5TS9Ou2T7YADqLOmsBeQMUDUS0bYXMOA&s=1100&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2etheguardian%2ecom%2fuk-news%2f2018%2fsep%2f16%2fuk-market-towns-embrace-foodie-wave-to-revive-ailing-centres

.é 4>0 a0

GROWING

FENLAND

A continuation of public events

As one of the Partners of Wisbech 2020 the Town Council was tasked with delivering community
events to help cohesion. These events such as the Rock Festival and the WisBEACH Day are attended
by thousands. Other organisations in the town are also putting on a number of great free events. We
should aim to encourage these events to take place as frequently as possible and aim to reduce
bureaucracy as much as possible to allow people to put on more events.

4. Open up countryside access, and develop the Wisbech
Country Park

While Wisbech is well placed in a rural area, opportunities for access to the countryside are limited.
This is due in part to the historic nature of the land — much of which was brought above water with
the express purpose of farming it, and therefore doesn’t have many rights of way across it (the Nene
Way being the only footpath of any length that comes near the town).

Physical activity is one of the most effective ways to tackle the health problems our town faces. As a
former Chief Medical Officer for the NHS has commented: “The potential benefits of physical activity
to health are huge. If a medication existed which had a similar effect, it would be regarded as a
‘wonder drug’ or ‘miracle cure’.”!2 The Active Fenland programme is working to promote physical
activity in various different forms across the District, but we need to join this up with making the
countryside more accessible to people.

We will work with the Department for Farming, Environment, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and
Cambridgeshire County Council to explore where we might be able to create extra rights of way to
make it easier for residents to access the countryside. This process requires new creation orders,
which it is within the power of the County Council to generate. We will use our relationships with
local landowners where we have them to smooth this process.

We will explore the inhibiting factors around
walking and cycling in the town with the aim of
helping people to walk or cycle in atown where
rates are currently low compared to
Cambridgeshire averages. We could be a trial
area for the use of new lightweight recycled
plastic bike lanes. These have been developed in
the Netherlands, where the geographical terrain
is identical to our landscape. They have the
added benefit of being much lighter than
asphalt, and more durable, so don’t need
repairing anything like as often.

Within the town itself, a country park is central to the Garden Town vision. Work can begin on this
now, even while we wait for support to come in around transport and housing. This will bring a

12 http://nbhottopics.blogspot.com/2014/01/helping-gps-promote-exercise-motivate.html

18

Page 177



GROWING

FENLAND

pleasant, green, shared space to the heart of Wisbech, increasing the presence of blue and green
infrastructure. This will have numerous benefits:

- The health and wellbeing of residents will be improved. Extensive research has shown the
benefits which greenery in the local environment provides for tackling stress and lifting
mood. The World Health Organisation comments that: “Having access to green spaces can
reduce health inequalities, improve well-being, and aid in treatment of mental illness. Some
analysis suggests that physical activity in a natural environment can help remedy mild
depression and reduce physiological stress indicators.”3

- Social interaction will increase. The Country Park will be a place to meet people and dwell
together.

- Attractive visitor facility. As the town looks to become more attractive for visitors, having a
Country Park will be a big part of the draw.

- Flood attenuation. The Country Park will serve as a basin for holding floodwater in the event
that the River Nene floods. This will make construction of housing and infrastructure more
viable.

13 https://www.who.int/sustainable-development/cities/health-risks/urban-green-space/en/

19

Page 178



e il
GROWING
FENLA

Z

D

5. Develop a workplace health award scheme

Q

Our big action on health is the North Cambridgeshire Health Opportunity Area. This is covered in
the strategy paper and will hold across all four market towns.

However, one big opportunity here in Wisbech is to respond to challenges around workplace health.
Many of Wisbech’s biggest employers are factories where much of the labour is manual and heavy
going, with long shifts. This increases health risks — therefore it is especially important here to
guarantee good working conditions.

One of the most significant impacts on a person’s health, both mental and physical, is their
workplace. Employers need to recognise the responsibility they have for supporting the health of
their workforce, and by doing so they can enjoy the benefits of more productive workers. Therefore,
we propose to launch an occupational health award scheme, which employers can choose to sign up
to if they want to make a priority of this issue. This has been developed successfully in Cornwall (see
case study) and ties into our aim of developing the degree of networking between businesses in
Wisbech. In order to support this, we will work with the health opportunity area, local Clinical
Commissioning Group, and Cambridgeshire County Council to develop a clear set of health standards
for the workplace.

Case Study: Occupational Health in Cornwall

Ten years ago, Cornwall Council appointed a Workplace Health Co-ordinator with the sole remit of
engaging businesses on this issue. After discussions with businesses about what could help, an
award scheme was launched, where businesses would be recognised as bronze, silver, or gold for
their contribution to worker health and well-being. A framework and toolkit are published, which
is regularly updated to reflect new public health initiatives (such as the recent National Sugar
Smart Campaign). Businesses who want to participate then assess themselves against criteria
relating to ten key areas, including mental well-being, back pain, smoking, alcohol and substance
misuse, and healthier eating, with the Co-ordinator visiting to confirm this assessment.

Companies have really seen the benefits — a director commented: “We recognise that employees
perform at their best when they are happy and healthy, and that optimal employee performance
is necessary for the company to be a leader in its field.” Another smaller company managed to
reduce sickness rates by 10%, saving £20,000, which was put into further worker health initiatives.
These examples demonstrate that an interest in worker health can have transformational
productivity benefits for business, and transformative lifestyle impacts for workers.

20

Page 179



6. Focus on Tourism

Wisbech has a very rich heritage with a number of significant buildings which many people come to
see. Our history includes Clarkson and Wilberforce fighting against slavery, The Jesuit movement
which has roots to Wisbech Castle, The Peckovers who were one of the founders of Barclays Bank
and Octavia Hill who founded the National Trust. It also has an extensive network of underground
tunnels that have had many uses such as smuggling. This is seen most clearly on Heritage Open Day,
where people always come away pleasantly surprised about the amount of heritage the town has to
offer.

A focus on tourism will help the town by bringing prosperity. We can do this by:-

- Developing a Cultural quarter in Museum Square and link to the proposed FDC Cultural
Strategy

- Look to reopen the tunnels under the town as a tourist attraction

- Reinvigorating the Wisbech Tourism group, using it as a forum to bring together the
different visitor attractions in Wisbech to co-ordinate on

- FDC Economic Development team try to focus on attracting hotel and leisure services

- FDC Economic Development Team and Wisbech Town Council to work together to push
Wisbech Tourism nationally and increase dwell time in the town by promoting ‘The Wisbech
Experience’

7. Repair Derelict Buildings

Wisbech has a number of derelict buildings which have been caused by neglect and/or arson. It is
highly unlikely that these will ever be bought back into use due to viability issues — in particular, the
Phoenix Hotel. Work has been done to draw up a list of these buildings and develop approaches to
each. With the Phoenix Hotel, a strategy which may succeed is to use a CPO and build flats at the back.
Other buildings would simply look better with a fresh lick of paint or cleared gutters. A small fund that
was tied to owners making improvements to their properties would incentivise the town being well
kept, helping to attract visitors.

8. Commercialisation of Wisbech Port

Wisbech is unique in Fenland in the fact it is a port town — a fact which has played a key role in the
town’s history. The port supplies timber to a local business and has the potential to be more of a
commercial opportunity. The land surrounding the Port has also been earmarked for development for
a number of years and to begin this could bring up that whole area which is currently not very visually
appealing. Providing attractive 1- and 2-bedroom apartments would give the area a big lift. This could
be the ideal place for the Combined Authority to trial its plans for the £100k home.

21

Page 180



Regarding the commercialisation of the port, it is currently hard for larger vessels to turn in the port
due to the tight circle. We also need to think about how the port relates to a possible future Nene
barrage — which may require creative solutions to maximise the benefits to the town as whole from
both initiatives. The capital works to enhance this are in the region of £1 million. The actions falling
out of this are for CPCA to help:

- Accelerate development round the port
- Fund, or help seek funds, to enable works to increase commercialisation

What happens now?

We have set out a plan for Wisbech which, along with the Fenland-wide strategy document, can
transform the town, showing which interventions can make a real difference.

We now look forward to working constructively with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Combined Authority (CPCA), and its Mayor, James Palmer, to implementing these ideas. This will
require both direct support from the Combined Authority, and the resources needed to take these
ideas to key government funds such as the Stronger Towns Fund, as and when they come forward.

This work will be overseen by Fenland District Council, working in conjunction with the town team
that was put together for this work.

22

Page 181



APPENDIX F

Plan for Neighbourhood
Survey Results

Wisbech |
" |l
J u I y 2 0 2 5 L Local Government

Introduction

As part of a £1.5 billion investment programme to foster stronger, better-connected and healthier
communities across the UK, Zencity has partnered with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) to help capture community sentiment on the PFN and the future of local towns.

Zencity digitally engaged with residents and businesses across the selected 75 towns, gathering voluminous,
inclusive and valuable feedback on where people want to see investment in their local areas, as well as their
views on a range of other important topics.

The insights collected have been compiled into both a nationwide aggregate report and 75 individual town-
level reports, designed to help empower central government and local authorities to make informed
decisions that reflect the priorities of their communities.

What yoU’ll find here is the town-level report, which highlights key findings from the survey.

Zencity Sampling

The data presented in this report was collected from the 9th of April to the 26th of May, 2025. 127
respondents from Wisbech were digitally recruited (e.g., over social media, mobile apps, and survey panels).
Zencity built a representative sample by matching respondent data to UK Census race, ethnicity, age, and
gender distributions for the town. Rake-weighting was then also applied as a statistical safeguard to balance
out any remaining discrepancies in distribution, such that no demographic group was overrepresented or

underrepresented in the final score.

Respondents under the age of 18 and those who did not give a valid postcode were
excluded from the sample.

The questions that were included in this survey can be found here.

Page 182



Powered by c Zencity

Satisfaction with Local Area

Q2: Your local area is the area within 15-20 minutes walk from your home. How
satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your local area as a place to live?

Most respondents in Wisbech are not satisfied with their local area as a place to live
(52%).

- ) -

BN Very satisfied N Fairly satisfied Neither satisfied or dissatisfied
[0 Fairly dissatisfied ~ W Verydissatisfied B Dontknow

Q3: Would you say that in the past 12 months, your local area has improved or
declined?

Most respondents in Wisbech feel their local area has greatly declined (45%) in the
past 12 months.

I : -

N Greatlyimproved I Somewhat improved Generally stayed much the same
[ Somewhatdeclined B Greatly declined N Dontknow

Q4: Generally speaking, do you expect your local area to get better or worse to live
in 2 years from now?

Most respondents in Wisbech expect their local area to will get much worse to live in
(64%) in the next 2 years.

OI : _

B Will get much bettertolivein I Willget somewhat betterto live in Willnot change much won t get better orworse
00 Willget somewhat worse tolivein B Will get much worse tolive in I Have not lived here long enough to say

Page 2

Page 183



Powered by e Zencity

Pride in Local Area

Q5: How much do you agree or disagree with the following statement: | am proud
to live in my local area.
Most respondents in Wisbech are not proud to live in their local area (58%).

25%

BN Definitely agree W Tendtoagree Neither agree nor disagree
[ Tendtodisagree W Definitely disagree W Dontknow

Q6: What are the main reasons you agree with the statement that 'l am proud to
live in my local area'?
Number of respondents who are proud = 30

Among respondents who are proud to live in their local area, the top reasons they are
proud are "because of the green and natural spaces here" (73%) and "because of the
culture heritage and history of the local area" (46%).

Because of the green and natural spaces here 73%

Because of the culture heritage and history of the
local area

46%

40%

It is a safe area to live in

There is a strong sense of community here 39%

There are good transport links 17%
There is a good range of local facilities 14%
It has good work or job opportunities 13%

It has lots of activities and fun things to do 8%

There are a range of shops - 8%

7%

Because of the schools

Other 33%

Page3

Page 184



Powered by e Zencity

Pride and Satisfaction in Local Area

Q7: What are the main reasons you disagree with the statement that ‘1 am proud to

live in my local area’?
Number of respondents who are not proud = 64

Among respondents who are not proud to live in their local area, the top reasons are
"the area is run down" (58%) and "safety concerns" (55%).

58%

The area is run down

55%

Safety concerns

Some people here can be disrespectful or
troublesome

52%

33%

There is a lack of shops or local facilities

30%

There is a lack of a sense of community here

19%

There is a lack of good transport links

There is a lack of activities and fun things to do 15%

10%

There is a lack of good work or job opportunities

Because of the lack of green and natural spaces
here

Because of the absence of culture heritage and
history of the local area

The schools are poor~| 1%

8%

7%

Other 12%

Q8: Generally, how satisfied are you with the local services and amenities in the
town centre closest to your local area?

Most respondents in Wisbech are very dissatisfied (42 %) with the services and
amenities in their closest town centre.

18%

N Very satisfied [ Fairly satisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied
[0 Fairlydissatisfied ~ B Verydissatisfied I Notsure

Page 4

Page 185



Q9: The following questions cover different parts of life in your local area. For each,
respondents rated whether they felt they were good or excellent.

Powered by e Zencity

This chart shows how the proportion of respondents rating features in Wisbech as good or excellent
compares to the average across the 75 Plan for Neighbourhood towns.

In Wisbech, residents rated all features less positively than residents across the 75 Plan for

Neighbourhood towns. The biggest gaps were for 'Ease of getting around by public transportation' (-30%)
and ‘Availability of green and other attractive public spaces' (-29%).

% Rate "Good" or "Excellent"

(Q9: Town features and infrastructure)

Sense of community
Availability of affordable housing

Availability of jobs that pay aliving wage

Access to quality health care services/NHS
services

Access to quality education and otherlearning
opportunities

Access to youth and family services

Availability of a variety of arts and cultural
events

Ease of getting around by public transportation

Support forvulnerable individuals, such as
homeless people and rough sleepers

The high street

Quality of parks and sporting or similar
recreational amenities

Availability of green and other attractive public
spaces

Sense of overall safety
Dealing with crime

Dealing with anti-social behaviour

1
0%

18%
21% _ 22%

2% 16%

1
25%

33%

&

33%

37%

36%

31%

i
19%
'
16%

, .

7% 520%
, ,

8% A2
I

14%
, _
6% 16%
@
, |
4% 19%

@

I
20%
I
7%
I
12%
, !
6% 18%
, ,
4% ® A1<s%

43%

46%

1
50%

A Average across 75 towns

@ Wisbech

I
75%

Page 186

100%

Page 5



Powered by c Zencity
Improving Local Area

Q10: Which of the following needs the most improvement in your local area?

In Wisbech, the top areas residents would like to see improvements in are Tackling crime
(53%) and anti-social behaviour (52%).

Tacking crime - 537
Anti-social behaviour - 52%
Attractiveness of the town centre -1 32%
Range of shops and services (e.g. banks, bargg:rs) I 32%
Cleanliness of streets 4 27%
Public transport 4 19%
Public services4 | 15%
Lack of housing 4| 13%

Cultural creative and arts events and spaces _ 12%
Youth and family services 1| 8%

Sports facilities - 6%
Access to skills (e.g. provision of training and 59
development) - °

Digital connectivity- 3%
Green spaces (e.g. parks, community gardens) -. 2%

No improvements needed 4| 1%

Other- 1 11%

Q11: Which of the following are the biggest problems in your local area?

In Wisbech, residents identified street drinking or drunken behaviour (54%) and drugs or
evidence of drugs (50%) as the most pressing problems in their area.

Street drinking or drunken behaviour

54%

Drugs or evidence of drugs 50%

Vehicle related anti-social behaviour, e.g.
abandoned vehicles, speeding, off-road bikes

37%

Litter or rubbish or dog mess 32%

People hanging around or loitering 26%
Public harassment, intimidation or abuse

Vandalism, criminal damage or graffiti

Begging

People committing inappropriate or indecent sexual - 6%
acts in public or sex work

Loud music or other loud noises 2%

Other - 8%

Page 6

Page 187



Poweredy 3 Zencity
Perceptions of Children & Young People in the Local Area

Q12: Thinking about your local area, how much do you agree or disagree with the
following statements:

This chart shows how the proportion of respondents agreeing with each statement in
Wisbech compares to the average across the 75 Plan for Neighbourhood towns.

In Wisbech, residents agreed with the statement 'It is easy for children to get involved in
crime or join gangs in my local area' more than the average across the 75 Plan for
Neighbourhood towns (+17%), but agreed with the statement '"My local area is a good place
to bring up children'less (-28%).

% Agree (Tend to / Definitely)
(Q12: Children & young people)

A Averageacross75towns

@ Wisbech
. . _ 1% 38%
My local areais agood place to bring up children °. A -
I 1
L , _ 14% 36%
There are activities for childreninmy local area o. A -
Childrenthat live in my local area have a good 14%. A36%
quality of life
[ I 1
Children that liveinmylocal area have 7%. A3O%
opportunities available to them
[ i | | 1
Itis easy for childrento getinvolvedincrime 53%A .69%
orjoingangsinmylocal area
| 1 1 1 1
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Page 7

Page 188



Powered by c Zencity
Perceptions of Local Community

Q13: Thinking about the people who live in your local area, to what extent do you believe
they can be trusted?

In Wisbech, most respondents trust a few people in their local area (37%) for this question.

- ) .

I Many of the people canbe trusted [ Some of the people canbe trusted Afew of the people can be trusted
" Noneofthe people canbe trusted I Just moved here 0 Dontknow

Q14: Do you feel your local area is ‘left behind’ in comparison to the rest of the country?

Most respondents in Wisbech think that their area has been very left behind in comparison to
the rest of the country (63%) in comparison to the rest of the country.

1I . _

I Ithink my local area is much better off than the rest of the country I | think my local area is somewhat better off than the rest of the country | think my areais similar to the rest of the country
[ Ithink my areais somewhat left behind B | think my area is very left behind

Q15: To what extent do you agree or disagree that you personally can influence decisions
affecting your local area or influence what happens in your community?

Most respondents in Wisbech disagree that they can influence decisions affecting their local
area (63%).

I ) -

I Definitely agree [ Tendto agree Neither agree nor disagree
[ Tendtodisagree W Definitelydisagree B Unsure

Page 8

Page 189



Powered by e Zencity
Empowering Residents

Q16: In the last 12 months, have you been consulted about local services or issues in your
local area through any of these methods?

Most respondents in Wisbech report that they have not been consulted about local services
or issues in their local area (80%).

| have not been consulted about local services or

: 5 80%
issues in my local area

Completing a paper or online questionnaire 14%

Attending a public meeting 7%

Being involved in a face to face or online group 5%

Other- 2%

Q17: Do you feel your voice is listened to when decisions are made about your local area?

In Wisbech, most people report that their voice is never listened to when decisions are made
about their local area (50%).

IB%_

B Always Sometimes B Never
[ Veryoften [ Rarely

Page9

Page 190



Powered by e Zencity

Q18: Your local town has been selected to receive £20 million of funding as part of the
Government’s Plan for Neighbourhoods programme. Prior to this survey, how familiar are
you with this programme?

Most respondents in Wisbech reported that they have never heard of the Plan for Neighbourhoods
(50%).

I've never heard of this programme 50%

I've heard of it but I'm not familiar with the _ 40%
details

Somewhat familiar with the details - 10%

Completely familiar with the details 1 1%

Q19: What would your number one priority be for use of the £20 million of funding
through the Plan for Neighbourhoods programme in your area?

The word cloud below shows the top priorities suggested by residents for how the £20 million
funding should be used in Wisbech.

Wisbech
shopping  families actvites enov: Removebecome safe
1ShOPSFwerWVis b Chwill =3
[ | G le lyoun akeady
Update 447 wantgr Sen Revitalise x g ) P feeln services teens food :_:
* o c hard Br 2
.9 4 51
q = §. g 8 § Wtree
§ (7) anti done @ ] E ‘h'nkgi
iah S8 cn RS A attractive fay 11+ g
high schoolag2g¥ebullt d-32
©
H fair - - 1 o 4
job . 7 [ lite =203
5 . @ -
mega g : ful : £ QO2
rubbish E Gerelict ms(ead @ o')C‘D
' atonaites Tackling pothole Groesnant .
ng ~~pu bI|c Nl
person® OCntIS(Cn r@“\uy A s Repair 1 yospita choice

immigrants house year

Buil

SI'E'atlonm
gnki%ngouth behaviourBringetc wa?;:"ato[@lnSp AL baCk

2
o
3 fll townsago

Currently
adulits

government

Page 10

Page 191



Matt Wright

From: BARNES, Natalie <natalie.barnes@parliament.uk>
Sent: 08 October 2025 10:39

To: Matt Wright

Cc: lain Kirkbright; Simon Machen; BARCLAY, Stephen
Subject: October 7th Town Board Documents

Dear Matt

Steve has looked through the regeneration plan and is happy to endorse it.

Kind regards
Natalie

Natalie Barnes

EA to Rt Hon Steve Barclay MP

MP for North East Cambridgeshire

> MJS House, Wisbech Road, Westry, March, PE15 OBA
“%  natalie.barnes@parliament.uk

& 01354 707005

From: Matt Wright [ -
Sent: 06 October 2025 14:05
To: BARNES, Natalie <natalie.barnes@parliament.uk>

ce: fain Kirkorit N> 5imon Machen I

Subject: RE: October 7th Town Board Documents

Thanks for the update Natalie.

Could | please ask that in their absence they send their written endorsement of the
regeneration plan (appended last week).

Itis a gov requirement that the MP is sighted and has had the opportunity to be involved in the
shaping of this document. This meeting is the last one ahead of our planned submission so it
would be good to get the signoff from Steve please.

Kind Regards,
Matt

Matt Wright
High Streets Programme Manager

www.fenland.gov.uk

<image002.jpg>

Page 192



No:

Agenda Item 9 Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Agenda Item 9

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date:

Report Title:

1.2
1.3

2.2

7 November 2025

Manor Leisure Centre - Fenland Inspire! Redevelopment
Project Update

Purpose / Summary

To update Cabinet regarding progress of the Manor Leisure Centre
redevelopment project. This report will cover:

¢ An up to date design which includes Sport England input

e Community and Stakeholder consultation and feedback

e Sport England’s feedback on designs and additional inclusions stipulated
in order for the Council to seek significant Sport England funding

e Local elected Member feedback regarding access for disabled people and
the proposed community events space, associated bar and kitchen areas

e The elected Member feedback regarding the inclusion of an enhanced
rifle range within the project footprint

To highlight the current estimated costs of the project.

To seek Cabinet’s decision to the ‘freezing’ the footprint of the substantive
elements of the design in order that the project team is then able to submit a
planning application and continue the Royal Institute of British Architects
(RIBA) Stage 3 design process as well as starting the RIBA Stage 4 process.

Overview

The redevelopment of the Manor Leisure Centre is a Fenland Inspire! project.
The existing facility has reached the end of its useful life with an expected
conditions survey cost identified as £4.331m to allow the existing facility to
‘stand still’. The existing pool was built as an outdoor lido and then covered in
the early / mid 1980’s. The Sport Hall building contains the hall and changing
rooms for football. Football is no longer played at the Manor, with the rest of
the facility being exceptionally tired. Additionally, managing 2 buildings is
inefficient, not customer focussed and increases operational and maintenance
costs.

This project will redevelop and expand the pool building and demolish the
sports hall building, leaving the local community with a facility fit for purpose
for the next 20+ years. The focus is on financial viability by attracting more
users whilst keeping operational and maintenance costs low. The footprint for
the redevelopment (please see Appendix 1 — proposed redevelopment facility
footprint) is a very tight design, reducing unnecessary space and the
subsequent cost of that space. The focus on financial viability also means
that space that is not going to generate revenue is not possible to be included.

Page 193



2.3

2.4

3.2

3.3

4.2

4.3

In February 2025 Cabinet approved the project to move through the Royal
Institute of British Architects pre-construction phases (RIBA Stages 2 — 4) to
deliver a scheme that would have planning consent, a firm contractual
construction cost and a construction partner on board by mid-2026. The
approved RIBA Stage 2 - 4 work is a significant project and will cost around
£1m.

Completion of the RIBA 2 - 4 Stages of pre-construction work will provide the
Council with cost certainty, along with a detailed construction programme
allowing Council to decide to proceed with construction or not. The current
project programme expects a Council decision in July 2026, with construction
commencing on site in August 2026 and completing the main swimming pool
redevelopment and extension work in December 2027, should a construction
decision be made.

Key Issues

The Council has appointed Alliance Leisure through the UK Leisure
Framework to take the redevelopment of the Manor Leisure Centre through all
pre-construction stages to the end of RIBA Stage 4. This work is progressing
with a project team consisting of leisure specialists from Alliance, architects,
mechanical and electrical (M & E) specialists and, importantly, the
construction company. This multi-disciplinary approach is tried and tested
through the UK Leisure Framework with the inclusion of the construction
company meaning that by the end of the process the Council will have a firm
contract price to construct the facility and no further procurement to carry out.

This report is submitted at the end of RIBA 2. Freezing the substantive
elements of the footprint for the new building is critical at this point in order
that RIBA 3 and 4 can move the detailed design and planning submission
forwards. Minor adjustments will be necessary in the future, likely as a
function of the complex M & E requirements or planning feedback during the
planning application process, with the substantive elements remaining fixed.

Any further changes to the substantive elements of the building are likely to
add delay and increased costs to the project.

Financial concerns

Based on current interest rates and MRP over 30 years, for every £1m
borrowed, it is estimated that it will cost the Council £81.3k for each year that
it is borrowed.

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28. Although there are currently many uncertainties
regarding the budget for 2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant
structural deficit which the Council will need to address

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28.

Page 194



4.4  Although there are currently many uncertainties regarding the budget for
2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant structural deficit which the
Council will need to address.

5 Recommendations

5.1 For Cabinet to note the report and the progress of this important community

project.

5.2  That Council notes the significant financial situation that the Council faces and
pays close attention to the financial assessment section of this report in 12.1.

5.3 To note and consider that potential cost mitigation measures that could be
taken to reduce the overall project costs as identified in section 11.

5.4 To discuss and approve the attached footprint in order that the substantive
elements of the footprint remain fixed allowing the project to progress
smoothly through RIBA stages 3 and 4 and the planning process.

5.5 To note that the Council is working with Sport England to secure supportive
funding that will offset design improvements required by Sport England that
have enhanced initial designs.

Wards Affected

Forward Plan

Reference

Portfolio Holders

Report Originators

Contact Officers

Background Papers

Whittlesey and the surrounding area

Users for the Manor facility also travel from the March area
as well as from Peterborough

KEY/24AUG23/02

KEY/22JAN25/02
KEY/22JAN25/03
KEY/22JAN25/04
KEY/22JAN25/05

CliIr Steve Count

Clir Chris Boden
Phil Hughes
Carol Pilson

Peter Catchpole
Sian Warren

Portfolio Holder for Fenland Inspire!
Leisure Centre Projects

Leader of the Council and Portfolio
Holder for Finance

Head of Leisure and Open Spaces

Monitoring Officer and Corporate
Director

S151 Officer and Corporate Director
Chief Accountant

Cabinet Report June 2025

Cabinet Report February 2025

Cabinet Report November 2023

Cabinet Report January 2025

2021 Condition survey reports
Alliance Leisure documentation

Page 195


https://moderngov.fenland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=3071&Ver=4
https://moderngov.fenland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=3071&Ver=4
https://moderngov.fenland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2986&Ver=4
https://moderngov.fenland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2908&Ver=4
https://moderngov.fenland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2941&Ver=4

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES

The redevelopment of the Manor Leisure Centre is a Fenland Inspire! project.
The existing facility has reached the end of its useful life with an expected
conditions survey cost identified as £4.331m to allow the existing facility to
‘stand still’. The existing pool was built as an outdoor lido and then covered in
the early / mid 1980’s. The Sport Hall building contains the hall and changing
rooms for football. Football is no longer played at the Manor, with the rest of
the facility being exceptionally tired. Additionally, managing 2 buildings is
inefficient, not customer focussed and increases operational and maintenance
costs.

This project will redevelop and expand the pool building and demolish the
sports hall building, leaving the local community with a facility fit for purpose
for the next 20+ years. The focus is on financial viability by attracting more
users whilst keeping operational and maintenance costs low.

The February 2025 Cabinet report highlighted indicative costs as follows:
Core facility cost  £10.24m

Sports Hall £ 2.50m
Rifle Range £ 0.75m
Padel courts £ 0.45m
Total: £13.94m

The Cabinet report also highlighted pre-construction costs for RIBA stages 3
and 4 of £626,000 for the core facility. This cost, following the additions
highlighted in paragraphs 6.3 and 6.5, has increased to £876,000.

In addition, during the February Cabinet meeting, Members decided that it
was desirable to enhance the rifle club to allow its use for regional events,
ensuring a wider appeal for the facility, attracting a larger membership from
across the Peterborough region. The current project achieves this, following
consultation and discussions with Whittlesey Rifle Club, by way of the addition
of a 10m air rifle range, as well as a widening of the 25m small bore range.
Importantly the new facility will meet accessibility requirements. This work
means that the enhanced facility will be much larger than the footprint of the
original rifle venue and this has impacted cost.

Members have previously been informed that Sport England grant funding is
likely to come with conditions that will increase construction cost, whilst also
enhancing the building — following Sport England’s published design
guidance. Members are keen to see Sport England’s involvement, despite
potential additional costs, if that involvement and subsequent grant funding
would mean an enhanced facility at a net cost that is the same or lower than a
building lacking the enhancements that Sport England will stipulate. This is
the case as demonstrated in the financial section of this report. The project
team is engaged with Sport England, has received feedback from the Sport
England team, and has incorporated this feedback into the current design.

The project team has also engaged with the local community, key
stakeholders and local elected Members. An engagement report is attached in
Appendix 2, with a summary within the report below regarding community
feedback.

Page 196



6.8

6.9

6.10

A significant issue identified by local elected Members was the planned use of
outside caterers for all hall functions and events, with no permanent kitchen to
be fitted in the redeveloped building. Feedback from local Members is that this
would be a serious omission as Whittlesey has no quality event hall and the
current offer from the Manor is only underused due to the poor condition and
quality of the building. This feedback has been addressed by the project team
with a kitchen space being added to the footprint. This space is 225% the
size of the existing Manor kitchen and will be kitted out as a commercial
kitchen including appropriate flooring, stainless surfaces and wall backing,
appropriate ventilation and fire suppression system. This approach will give
the redeveloped facility every opportunity to attract conferences, events and
functions from the local community, with a potential reach into the eastern
Peterborough catchment are as well — if the offer and pricing is compelling
and competitive. It is anticipated that Freedom would work with a catering
partner to ensure that every opportunity is made of the new event space and
adjacent kitchen and bar areas.

As highlighted in paragraph 2.2 the focus on the redevelopment is ensuring
that the facility is financially viable for the future. Additional space has been
removed to reduce costs and ensure that the new facility is attractive to the
local community and is generating as much footfall (and subsequent income)
as possible to ensure financial viability. Unfortunately, this approach does
mean that space that might be nice to have, but not is revenue generating,
cannot be afforded within the construction cost. Good examples of this might
be the addition of a small meeting room, a staff only toilet, an external toilet
for field users, a first aid room that is not shared as a timing space for galas,
space for Whittlesey Emergency Food Aid, external storage rooms for
equipment that the community or non-facility clubs may want to use on the
fields - this list could be expanded. Adding space costs money and if it is not
generating footfall and income it would impact on both the cost of construction
and impact the future financial viability of the facility.

Any change in the footprint past this point will incur delays and additional
costs.

Summary

This project will redevelop and expand the pool building and demolish the
sports hall building, leaving the local community with a facility fit for purpose
for the next 20+ years. The focus is on financial viability by attracting more
users whilst keeping operational and maintenance costs low. The footprint for
the redevelopment (please see Appendix 1 — proposed redevelopment facility
footprint) is a very tight design, reducing unnecessary space and the
subsequent cost of that space. As highlighted above, the focus on financial
viability also means that space that is not going to generate revenue is not
included.

Page 197



71

8.2

8.3

8.4

Redevelopment Proposal

Appendix 1 — proposed redevelopment facility footprint

The attached Manor RIBA Stage 2 redevelopment floorplan demonstrates
how the new facility will appear. The are some minor adjustments to be made
to this diagram, including:

Reassessing external door positions in the hall for event access

Adding an external serving shutter to facilitate catering vans

Fencing and gates between the plant room and kitchen buildings
Removal of the hall storage area

Some amendments to the poolside storage / first aid areas

Stakeholder, Community and Member Engagement

As part of the RIBA 2 process the project team has carried out face to face
stakeholder engagement sessions, as well as a face-to-face Member
engagement session. Alongside this work, a survey was conducted that has
received 581 responses. An additional drop-in session was also provided in
the town marketplace for community members to attend and discuss and
feedback regarding the footprint and the same took place in the foyer of the
leisure centre for centre users to engage with project officers.

The engagement report following this work is attached at Appendix 2 for
reference.

The engagement work highlights the following, with project team comments
below in blue;

There is a strong, consistent public desire for significant investment, as the
current Manor Leisure Centre is widely considered outdated, cramped, and
poor value for money when compared to modern alternatives. The primary
barriers preventing greater use are the poor, dirty, and outdated facilities
(28%) alongside membership costs deemed too high relative to the low quality
(22%).

Feedback regarding ‘dirty’ facilities has been passed onto Freedom
Leisure and monitoring will remain in place regarding these comments
across all FDC leisure centres. An older facility such as the Manor
lends itself to these comments, with a forthcoming deep cleaning
session, though positive and welcomed, likely to make little significant
difference to these comments and the appearance of this elderly
leisure centre.

The current configuration of the changing rooms is an issue when
attempting to clean. The male / female split means that unless closed,
staff of the opposite gender cannot access the facilities to inspect or
clean them or support team members doing the same.

A village style facility — as proposed — will address this issue.

Users overwhelmingly prioritize substantial improvements to the main
amenities, demanding modernised and accessible swimming facilities (17%}
that include warmer water and better public timetables, alongside the urgent
need for improved changing rooms and toilets (16%). The gym is criticised for

Page 198



8.5

8.6

being too small and lacking equipment, necessitating a larger, modernised
gym (20% of suggestions), ideally with 24/7 access.

The pools are run at appropriate temperatures following national
guidance from the Pool Water Treatment Advisory Group.

Public timetables are difficult to manage alongside demands from
schools, learn to swim programmes and swimming clubs. The
management team aims for a balanced programme but is unlikely to be
able to please everyone.

A major finding is the need for the centre to evolve into a true community
destination, with the addition of a cafe/social space (27% of suggestions)
being the single most common free-text request to encourage longer visits
and social interaction. There is also consistent demand for reintroducing spa
and wellness amenities (10% of suggestions), such as a sauna and steam
room, and integrating health services like physiotherapy or mental health
support.

A spacious reception area and café space is included in the proposed
development and is crucial for the success of modern leisure centres.
The additional revenue is important from an operational perspective,
but the sociability that a café and seating space offers to customers is
the key aspect. Customers will become social, will enjoy the activity
element, but even more so the social element. This supports
community mental health and community resilience and cohesion. For
the facility this means that customers are likely to continue to use the
facility with their new friends — ensuring that the facility remains more
financially viable as a result.

A spa and wellness facility is not a commercially viable facility and will
not be included. The current sauna and steam facilities have not been
in use since covid.

The planned development includes community space that is
anticipated to be used by NHS colleagues / the CCC Behaviour
Change Team, for Cardiac Phase IV, mobility, falls prevention classes
and older people’s sessions, as well as potentially supporting youth
work in the town.

Specific local clubs require facility improvements; the Rifle Club's preservation
and enhancement (18.6% of specific priorities) and the resurfacing of Netball

and Tennis Courts (13.7%) are concerns.

Improvements in the new rifle club have been highlighted by the
Leader of the Council as a Member priority in February Cabinet and
are reflected in the proposed footprint for the redeveloped facility.

The tennis / netball courts were repainted, with some minor surface
works carried out, in 2024. As a result of this feedback, FDC will seek
a third-party assessment of the surface. Please note that the tennis /
netball facilities do NOT form part of the scope of this Fenland Inspire!
project.

It should also be noted that the facility had limited tennis use over the
summer and that netball is played one evening a week. The new

Page 199



PlayZone, due to be developed adjacent to the tennis / netball courts is
likely to be opened in February 2026 and will accommodate netball,
albeit on a smaller court, as determined by Netball England and the
Football Foundation’s design guidance for the PlayZones.

8.7  Crucially, disabled people and those with accessibility needs (12%) are the
most cited group requiring better support, including equitable pricing,
improved physical access, and specific pool access equipment.

This is noted and has also been discussed with Sport England and
significant accessibility improvements are included as part of the
proposed redevelopment.

8.8  Operational planning for the move to the new facility involves significant
coordination, including operator preferences for Life Fitness gym equipment
and the Lynxsight pool swimmer safety support system.

Noted.

8.9 Logistical actions include confirming the Skatepark relocation prior to main
works and remediating existing changing rooms for temporary gym use.

FDC has the changing rooms and temporary gym work in the planning
stage.

Skatepark project work is likely to commence with engagement and
consultation with local young people in late November 2025.

8.10 Swimming clubs requested a 3-month delay to construction to mitigate
financial deficits.

Accommodating such a request will increase FDC’s development costs
because of inflation and will also mean that the project would
commence in the winter.

The project is seeking to support the swimming clubs (March Marlins
and City of Peterborough) by way of the Social Value opportunities that
the project may present.

8.11 External safety is also a concern, requiring improved parking, lighting for
walkways, and external CCTV coverage.

Noted
Face to face engagement day — 30 October 2025

8.12 The face to face engagement day on 30 October saw around 70 people
engage with project members at Whittlesey Marketplace and the Manor
Leisure Centre. These sessions reflected the feedback gathered online with
the community excited regarding the redevelopment and looking forwards to it
moving forwards.

8.13 Across the day three people raised concerns about the village changing
approach that will be adopted for the swimming pool, as it is in most modern
pools, and has been in operation in Wisbech and March swimming pools for
more than a decade:

The vast majority of the local community who attended are knowledgeable
and satisfied about the swimming pool changing village approach. This was

Page 200



particularly the case for families who recognise the issues that the current split
facilities mean for parents of the opposite gender attending with their child
over 8 years old. People were familiar with these changing rooms in other
facilities within Cambridgeshire, but also in holiday resort swimming pools and
particularly Center Parcs in the UK.

Blue text denotes initial project feedback.

Comments were made regarding:
e Cubicle height above the floor;
These will match Sport England guidance

¢ Could visibility of the changing facility be increased from poolside;
The project team will consider this possibility whilst being mindful of cost and
ventilation requirements for the changing facilities

The project team will consider if an all-gender private changing room could be
fitted within the facility space

It should be noted, for the avoidance of doubt and misunderstanding, that the
changing rooms afford all individuals privacy by way of:
1. Private cubicle showers
2. Private cubicles for changing in — including family sized or 2 person
cubicles for family use or increased space should an individual require
this, alongside single person cubicles
3. Separate male and female toilet areas

This facility design approach will allow:

e Improved safeguarding of children as families will be able to change in the
same location and monitor their children

e Reduced chance of children being bullied as they have their own changing
cubicle and the facility’s high footfall would naturally prevent unwelcome
behaviour

e Anincreased level of cleanliness as cleaning for the staff team will be
possible, whatever gender the team members are.

e The increased footfall within the facility means that the area will have more
users milling around in the area preventing any unwelcome behaviour — for
instance vandalism, poor language.

The facility layout has been reviewed and by Sport England’s facility team and
the technical facility officer from Swim England with no concerns regarding the
current layout.

8.14 Sauna Room
One consultee mentioned adding a sauna.

Local authority facilities do not usually offer this sort of facility due to the cost of
running, cleaning and maintenance compared with user numbers and the
subsequent net cost of providing the facility.

Page 201



9 Financial Assessment
Review and update to the original budget of February 2025

9.1 The original project budget, including sports hall / padel and original rifle club
replacement from Cabinet in February 2025 was £13.94m with additional
RIBA Stage 3 and 4 pre-construction costs of £876,000 (increased above the
report value of £626,463 to accommodate the addition of the sports hall /
padel courts and rifle range above the base cost project).

9.2  Additionally, for a project of this size a contingency budget is necessary. The
size of the budget is a function of the cost of the project and in this case the
contingency budget is £676,000. The Council must allow the budget for this
within the project cost estimates, whilst also anticipating that this contingency
should be significantly underspent if the project is well-managed and that the
site does not hold any unexpected issues discovered during the construction
phase. There is a project risk register and, whilst risks cannot be fully
mitigated during project development, the formal approach to the
management of a substantial project like this one, should ensure that risks
that do crystalise into an issue are anticipated, though not expected, with a
pre-determined approach to hand, with other risks logged and mitigated to
become insubstantial through the project management process.

9.3 A further significant cost that the project budget must bear is inflation. The
original cost of the project was estimated in December 2024. Construction is
not anticipated to commence until July / August 2026. There is an inflationary
impact across this timeframe and then also built into the construction period
that is currently in excess of 1 year. The current inflationary budget for this
project is £570,000. If the Council moves into construction, this figure will be
confirmed within the contract and form a cost of the construction contract.

9.4 Rifle club enhancements requested by Cabinet have increased the floor area
of the facility significantly. It was anticipated that such a change in size would
require a proportionate increase in construction cost. However, the rifle range
is a relatively low-value element of the overall build. This is primarily due to its
simple construction and reduced requirements for glazing, finishes, and
mechanical and electrical installations when compared to the leisure and pool
facilities. It also benefits from cost efficiencies through the utilising the
planned roof structure, external wall and reduced need for cladding upgrades
to the existing pool hall wall. This being the case, the expected increase in
cost for the enhancements to the range are just £200,000 above the original
£750,000 estimate.

Page 202



9.5 The additional of a commercial kitchen is does add a significant cost increase
to the project. The building of the space, at 90 square metres, adds
approximately £306,000 - £400,000 to the construction cost, with fit out costs
estimated at between £300,000 and £400,000, including early costed items as

follows:
Main Kitchen £170,000
Finishing Kitchen £60,000
Extraction canopy £25,000
Buffet Service Items/ Service Pass £13,000

A prudent estimate for the cost of the completed kitchen is currently £800,000.
It is anticipated that once an equipment list is confirmed, the cost will be
reduced to some extent. At this early stage assuming a cost of £800,000 is
the safest way to budget for the development of a kitchen in this project.

9.6 Paragraphs 9.1 to 9.5 can be summarised as below highlighting the
estimated budget, including elected Member-led enhancements and
necessary project provisions for inflation and a contingency budget, at a
total of £17.062m:

Manor Leisure Centre Redevelopment Project

February 2025 Cabinet Report £m £m

Base cost 10.24

Sports Hall estimate 2.5

Rifle range per current 0.75

Padelcourts 0.45

Original Cabinet report construction costs total 13.94 Para 4.2 of Feb 2025 Cabinet Rpt Costs determined in December 2024, excl. inflation & contingency

ADD RIBA 3 & 4 costs 0.876 Para 4.2 of Feb 2025 Cabinet Rpt (Actual sum is higher due to incl. of additional aspects - rifle / SH / Padel)
Cabinet Paper initial budget 14.816

Cabinet discussions added:
Enhancements torifle range 0.2 Determined by increased size of facility, though essentially a box, so lower comparitive cost to rest of facility

Necessary potential Project Costs added:
Add necessary contingency 0.676 Necessary for a project this size, but cost control to reduce the majority of it's use will be in place
Add inflationary estimate 0.57 Estimate at 30 September 2025
1.446
Revised Initial budget from February 2025 Cabinet 16.262
Subsequent Member addition - kitchen budget cost 0.8 Early estimate £606,000 - £800,000. £800,000 is prudent approach at this early stage
Budget following Feb 2025 Cabinet & Memberinput 17.062

RIBA Stage 2 current cost estimates

9.7 The RIBA Stage 2 cost estimate sits at £17.18m, including the contingency
budget, an inflationary estimate, the addition of a kitchen, enhanced rifle
range and sports hall space for events.

9.8 As anticipated, Sport England’s assessment of the early RIBA Stage 2
footprint for the facility highlighted enhancements that will improve the facility
that come at additional cost. These enhancements are as per Sport England’s
published design guidance for leisure facilities. They enhance a facility, but
do not add any further commercial advantage to the facility. These
enhancements are detailed, with cost estimates, as follows. Note that the
total additional cost is currently estimated at £1.489m. These enhancements
considerably improve provision for disabled people and also increase space
within both changing facilities.

Page 203



9.9

9.10

9.1

9.12

9.13

Add Sport England variations

Building Increase - 5m wide circa 250m2 0.5

addition Increase in size for additional changing area space per Sport England design guidance
Amended WC provision to reception 0.01 Improved disabled persons provision

Changes to Learner Pool 0.297 Stepped entry and wall between main and learner pool for safety
Changes to Main Pool 0.178 Stepped entry

Changes to incorporate disabled seating 0.089

provision to spectator seating

Firstaid room 0.059

Significantlyincreased village change 0.196

(circa+100m2 to 100% increase) Fit out of additional space

Significantlyincreased dry side changing 0.16

facilities (circa +100m2 to 50% increase) Fit out of additional space

Sport England enhancements total 1.489 Sport England enhancements - total budget cost

The Council will apply to Sport England for a grant of £2m (the maximum
financial support available). Netting the potential grant off against the cost of
the enhancements stipulated by Sport England would mean a net financial
contribution to the project of £511,000.

The addition of the £1.489m estimated costs for the Sport England
enhancements brings the total current estimated project budget to £18.67m.
The potential of a £2m grant from Sport England would reduce that total cost
to £16.67m.

The Council is at the initial stages of the grant process with Sport England
and will not know what level of grant would be available to the Council until
2026 — likely March or April, but in advance of the Council’s decision to
construct the building or not.

It is anticipated that the Council will also discuss opportunities for financial
support for this project - that is significant to the Peterborough sub-region -
with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority.

The end of RIBA Stage 2 cost estimates for the project can be summarised
as follows:

End of RIBA 2 estimated cost

Projected Fee total 30 September 2025 15.81 Incl.RIBA fees, £500k provisional sum for sports hall demolition /car park & £676k contingency budget
ADD inflationary estimate 0.57
ADD - kitchen budget estimate 0.80 Added late October

17.18
Add Sport England variations
Building Increase - 5m wide circa 250m2

addition 05 Increase in size for additional changing area space per Sport England design guidance
Amended WC provision to reception 0.01 Improved disabled persons provision

Changes to Learner Pool 0.297 Stepped entry and wall between main and learner pool for safety
Changes to Main Pool 0.178 Stepped entry

Changes to incorporate disabled seating 0.089

provision to spectator seating

Firstaid room 0.059

Significantly increased village change 0.196

(circa+100m2 to 100% increase) Fit out of additional space

Significantly increased dry side changing 0.16

facilities (circa +100m2 to 50% increase) Fit out of additional space

Sport England enhancements total 1.489 Sport England enhancements - total budget cost

Total revised projected cost 18.67

LESS - potential Sport England grant -2

Total cost estimate, net of potential Sport England Grant 16.67

Page 204



Financial summary

The following table combines the information above into one financial table
highlighting in one place the original budgeted costs, additions that have
been added following discussions with elected Members, costs that are added
in as necessary when considering the project on the whole (inflation /
contingency) and the costs of enhancements stipulated by Sport England.

Manor Leisure Centre Redevelopment Project

February 2025 Cabinet Report
Base cost

Sports Hall estimate

Rifle range per current
Padelcourts

Original Cabinet report construction costs total

ADD RIBA 3 & 4 costs
Cabinet Paper initial budget

Cabinet discussions added:
Enhancements torifle range

Necessary potential Project Costs added:

Add necessary contingency
Add inflationary estimate

Revised Initial budget from February 2025 Cabinet
Subsequent Member addition - kitchen budget cost
Budget following Feb 2025 Cabinet & Member input

End of RIBA 2 estimated cost
Projected Fee total 30 September 2025
ADD inflationary estimate

ADD - kitchen budget estimate

Add Sport England variations

Building Increase - 5m wide circa 250m2
addition

Amended WC provision to reception
Changes to Learner Pool

Changes to Main Pool

Changes to incorporate disabled seating
provision to spectator seating

Firstaid room

Significantly increased village change
(circa +100m2to 100% increase)
Significantlyincreased dry side changing
facilities (circa +100m2 to 50% increase)
Sport England enhancements total
Totalrevised projected cost

LESS - potential Sport England grant

£m

10.24
2.5
0.75
0.45

13.94

0.876

14.816
0.2
0.676
0.57

1.446

16.262

0.8

17.062
15.81
0.57
0.80

17.18
0.5
0.01
0.297
0.178
0.089
0.059
0.196
0.16

1.489

18.67

2

16.67

Total cost estimate, net of potential Sport England Grant

Para 4.2 of Feb 2025 Cabinet Rpt Costs determined in December 2024, excl. inflation & contingency
Para 4.2 of Feb 2025 Cabinet Rpt (Actual sum is higher due to incl. of additional aspects - rifle / SH / Padel)

Determined by increased size of facility, though essentially a box, so lower comparitive cost to rest of facility

Necessaryfor a project this size, but cost controlto reduce the majority of it's use will be in place
Estimate at 30 September 2025

Early estimate £606,000 - £800,000. £800,000 is prudent approach at this early stage

Incl.RIBA fees, £500k provisional sum for sports hall demolition /car park & £676k contingency budget

Added late October

Increase in size for additional changing area space per Sport England design guidance
Improved disabled persons provision

Stepped entry and wall between main and learner pool for safety

Stepped entry

Fitout of additional space

Fit out of additional space
Sport England enhancements - total budget cost

Page 205



10
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

11
111

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

The redevelopment of the Manor Leisure centre is necessary for the growing
community of Whittlesey and surrounding villages. It will also benefit from an
increase in revenue and footfall by continuing to import demand from
residents in the eastern area of Peterborough.

The project team has focussed on the design of an operationally financially
viable facility that generates increased footfall and income whilst keeping the
capital costs as low as possible.

The redevelopment replicates the commercially viable aspects of the sports
hall building, alongside the modernisation of the swimming pool building and
pool changing area. The gym has been made slightly larger to anticipate
latent demand within the area, with the necessary gym changing rooms being
added. These works will enhance the facility increasing footfall and financial
viability.

The reception area is enhanced and will offer a café suitable for facility users
and will also cater for children’s parties in the adjacent soft play space. These
works will enhance the facility increasing footfall and financial viability.

Sport England has added enhancements that improve changing provision and
disabled access to all facilities. Whilst at a significant cost, this cost is
anticipated to be a negative net cost if a grant from Sport England is
forthcoming. These works will enhance the facility increasing footfall and
financial viability.

The sports hall area remains a sufficient size for 2 exercise class areas, as
well as a badminton court space. These three areas can be combined into
one large space that can be used for community events, functions and
conference meetings. The adjacent kitchen will cater for those events.

Space that was part of the swimming pool area has been used to
accommodate a community room that is anticipated to be used for meetings,
training, activity sessions for older people or people with specific medical
needs, for example healthy heart classes. This space will enhance the facility
increasing footfall and financial viability.

The proposed footprint is the minimum necessary footprint for the
redevelopment, considering Member priorities regarding event and kitchen
space, the rifle club and its enhancements, and Sport England’s stipulations
regarding changing facility and disability access enhancements.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The Cabinet Report of February 2025 identified two other options instead of
the redevelopment of the pool, namely:

e Build a new facility adjacent to the current facilities.
This option is estimated to cost a further £10m and was deemed
unaffordable.

e Instead of a redevelopment, the existing facilities condition survey
spending of £4.331m would allow the buildings to stand still.

Page 206



It was considered that this would be sunk money on a facility that is no
longer fit for purpose and would not serve the community for the next 20+
years.

Reductions in the current estimated cost could be made as follows:
11.2 Padel Courts:

The padel courts are an enhancement to the existing facility. The cost of
construction is currently estimated at between £350,000 to £450,000. Whilst
this cost could be removed from the project, it should be noted that the padel
courts are expected to have a fast payback period, bringing in a net income in
excess of £90,000 in year 1 rising to £215,000 in a mature year.

A prudent estimate of the payback period for the facility is 5 years.

This financial performance suggests that the removal of padel courts from the
project would be both a community and financial detriment.

11.3 Rifle Range:

The rifle range will be used by a limited number of the community and could
be viewed as not representing good value for money. Options to reduce the
cost of this facility include:

e Reduce the rifle range footprint to the original size, reducing costs by
£200,000.

e Remove the rifle range altogether, reducing costs by £950,000.

Elected Members have been clear that these aspects of the project are
essential for the local community and should remain included in the project.

11.4 Kitchen and Events Space

The kitchen and events hall aspect of the project adds significant cost for an
as yet unproven community and commercial gain. This might also be
considered a poor investment and not good value for money.

Options to reduce the cost of this element of the existing footprint include:
e Remove the kitchen element, reducing costs by an estimated £800,000.

¢ Remove the badminton court aspect of the hall, saving a significant sum —
as yet uncosted.

11.5 Whilst the savings in 11.2 to 11.4 are significant, elected Members have been
clear that these aspects of the project are essential for the local community
and must remain included in the project.

12 IMPLICATIONS

12.1 Financial Implications

12.2 Based on current interest rates and MRP over 30 years, for every £1m
borrowed, it is estimated that it will cost the Council £81.3k for each year that
it is borrowed.

12.3 The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting

Page 207



12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

12.8

12.9

to around £3.4m by 2027/28. Although there are currently many uncertainties
regarding the budget for 2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant
structural deficit which the Council will need to address

The General Fund Budget Estimates and Medium-Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) Report, agreed by Cabinet and Council in February, projects a
financial shortfall for 2025/26 of £1.432m increasing year on year amounting
to around £3.4m by 2027/28.

Although there are currently many uncertainties regarding the budget for
2025/26 and the MTFS, there remains a significant structural deficit which the
Council will need to address.

It is noted that the minimum spend required for the existing Manor Leisure
Centre to stand still by way of conditions survey works is £4.331m.

Estimates from January 2025 discussions with Freedom regarding the uplift in
FDC revenue from Freedom as a result of the initial base redevelopment of
the facility was £345,000 p.a. This is sufficient to fund borrowing of £4.85m. It
is likely, with the added community space and sports hall and events kitchen
that this sum will be increased — albeit insubstantially.

The conditions survey works are necessary, and the redevelopment negates
this cost. The net additional borrowing can be calculated as:

Total cost, net of Sport England potential grant: £16.67m
Funded by:

Conditions survey budget (£ 4.33m)
(as detailed in 12.6 & Feb 2025 Cabinet Report)

Borrowing funded by increased revenue (£ 4.85m)

(as detailed in 12.7 & Feb 2025 Cabinet Report)

Borrowing funded by an average of Padel income

(Not incl in Feb Cabinet report & detailed in 11.2) (£ 1.88m)
Additional borrowing requirement £ 561m

As detailed in paragraph 12.2 the cost of borrowing £1m is currently £81,300.
This means that the additional net borrowing required for this project will be
approximately £456,093p.a. This will be in addition to the borrowing required
for the conditions survey works that this project negates.

Equality Implications

The redevelopment significantly enhances equality of use and access to the
facility.

Page 208



“iLI -

Page 209

"

==
m Ax g
[

P ——

Appendix 1 — proposed redevelopment facility footprint

13

l_ 1
T , OO e :
m M . O O o S i w“
— | ClE I \ [\ T %

-] - il QM m ,__k = “wl_l_L -
e I e Dol = |2 ¥
" L J
4 | j

m M: % it
N {ih
o 5 1 -_|_u.
ik - g M| _.__r m“
e A .
a: . _W« mu N m
ke B | 1 gl hr, &
[ --.m---,_u__
E,

|||||||||||||||||||||

o

Plan

emolitions

xisiing MUGA Cutline
erioC

Appendix 2 — Stakeholder, community and elected Members
Engagement report

14



APPENDIX 2

. Post Survey Analysis and Engagement Insights

Allianceleisure October 2025




TTZ abed

1. Introduction

Fenland District Council is undertaking a major
development to replace the existing Manor Leisure
Centre in Whittlesey, with a proposal to move from
two current buildings to one refurbished

facility that integrates leisure, health, and
community services.

The engagement report was commissioned to
gather essential insight from residents, service
users, and stakeholders regarding this
redevelopment, thereby ensuring the facility
design reflects local needs, enhances community
access, and supports healthier lifestyles across the
district.

The research explores current centre usage,
priorities for improvement, and barriers to
participation, all of which will directly inform the
design and planning of the redeveloped Manor
Leisure Centre.

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 2

Objectives were to:

() Understand usage and engagement;
(ii) Define priorities and barriers;

(iii) Outline community expectations for the
new facility.




Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 3

212z abed

2. Executive Summary

The engagement project utilised an online survey which ran
in September 2025 and received 581 responses. This was
supplemented by four public engagement sessions (focus
groups) held during September 2025, and stakeholder
meetings completed on 15t and 16" September, to ensure
comprehensive feedback on the redevelopment of Manor
Leisure Centre.

Public feedback reveals a strong desire for significant
modernisation, as the existing facility is widely viewed

as outdated, cramped, and poor value for money compared
to alternatives.

Usage is constrained primarily by poor facilities
(28%) and high membership costs relative to quality (22%)

Around half of the respondents indicated they would use
the centre more if it were refurbished and more affordable.

The top suggestions for the redevelopment include
introducing a café/social space (27%) and providing

a larger, modernised gym (20%). Users also

prioritise improved swimming facilities (18%), addressing
changing facilities, pool temperature and availability.

Other key demands involve better support for disabled
people and those with accessibility needs (12%) is also
strongly recommended. preserving and enhancing the Rifle
Club (18.6% of open text priorities), resurfacing

the Netball and Tennis Courts (13.7%) to support local
clubs.






a Alliance

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 5

3. Survey Results

Sample Profile (Demographics and Context)
The report provides context on the survey participants:

= Sample Size: 581 participants.

2% Age

1% (
2%

m Under 18
18-24
m 25-44
m 45-64
m 65+
Prefer not to say

¥T¢ abed

0% Gender
1%

0%

m Male
Female
m Non-Binary
m Prefer to self-describe
m Prefer not to say

Long-term physical or mental illness,
impairment or disability?

mYes
No
m Prefer not to say




‘, Alliance Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 6

3. Survey Results What is your relationship to the
Manor Leisure Centre?

Sample Profile (Demographics and Context) _
Health/education/care

. rofessional I 1%
» Location: 80.14% of the respondents (456 people) reside in P

the PE7 postcode area. Local business or organisation I 2%
representative °

Top 5 Areas:
Other (please specify) I 2%
Postcode Number % of Total Do not currently use it . 5%
PE7 456 80.14% .
Community or Sports club - 8%
oEs - 2.64% member

PE15 10 1.76% Occasional user - 13%
PE7IR ? 1:58% Regular user of the centre _ 26%
PE6 7 1.23%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

GTz abed



” Alliance

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 7

3. Survey Results

1: How often do you use the Manor Leisure Centre?

Never

Rarely

A few times a month

Once a week

Several times a week

0%

9Tz abed

9%

10%

13%

16%

20%

24%

30%

38%

40%

2: What facilities do you currently use at the centre?

Health or wellbeing programmes l 1%

Community rooms or meeting o
spaces . 3%

Sports hall (e.g. badminton or o
other activity) . 3%

Other (please specify) [ 6%

Children's or familit activities _ 10%

Fitness classes [N 12%
Gym/fitness suite  [NNNEGEG 14%
Outdoor facilities ||| GG 9%
swimming pool [ G 32

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

Open Text Detail for "Other" Facilities Used: Whittlesey Rifle Club / Rifle
Range / Shooting: 43.5% of "Other" responses Dog Walking / Fields for
Walking: 9.7% of "Other" responses. Dancing / Ballroom Dancing / T
Dance: 8.1% of "Other" responses



Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 8

/T2 abed

3. Survey Results

3: If you do not currently use the centre, please tell us why:

The reasons for non-use are dominated by dissatisfaction
with facility quality and cost. The main barriers cited were that
Facilities do not meet my needs (32%) and the Cost is too
high (29%). Other common reasons, such as preferring other
venues (7%), inconvenience (3%), or lack of awareness (2%),
played a much smaller role.

4: What are your top priorities for the redeveloped Manor
Leisure Centre? (Multiple-choice)

Respondents prioritised upgrading core amenities, comfort,
and social capacity. The three highest priorities selected
were modernised and accessible swimming facilities (17%),
improved changing rooms and toilets (16%), and the
addition of a Café and social space (14%). Refurbished gym
facilities (12%) and improved parking and access (10%) were
also prominent concerns.

Open Text Detail for "Other" Redevelopment
Priorities (Specific Demands)

While the multiple-choice focused on general
amenities, the specific open-text priorities
highlight crucial niche requirements.

The top specific priority requested was the
Support and Improvement of Rifle Club /
Shooting Facilities (18.6%), with users
requesting the maintenance, upgrade, or
expansion of the existing facilities.

The second most specific demand was for
Improved Netball and Tennis Courts (13.7%),
directly linked to enabling local clubs (such as
Whittlesey Warriors) to host home matches due
to poor surfaces



Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 9

81z abed

3. Survey Results

5: Open Text Question: What would encourage you (or your
organisation) to use the centre more regularly? Are there
barriers that stop you using the facility at the moment?

Analysis of this feedback revealed a widespread negative
sentiment toward the existing infrastructure, often described as
dated, run-down, and overpriced.

Approximately 28% of responses cited poor facilities, including
outdated, dirty, or refurbishment-needed areas. The issue of
Cost being too high / poor value for money accounted for ~22%
of comments, frequently comparing the centre unfavourably
against cheaper, better-equipped competitors like PureGym.

Furthermore, the gym was criticized for being too small,
cramped, or lacking equipment (~18%), and swimming issues,
primarily the pool temperature being too cold or restricted
public timetables, accounted for ~15% of barriers.

6: Open Text Question: Are there particular groups or
communities you feel should be better supported at the
centre?

The two groups most frequently identified for needing better
support were Disabled people and those with accessibility
needs (approx. 12%), who requested improved physical
access (e.g., pool entry) and fairer membership pricing.

This was immediately followed by the Whittlesey Warriors
Netball Club / Netball Users (approx. 10%), due to the poor
condition of the courts preventing them from hosting
matches.

Young people / Teenagers (under 18s) (9%) and Older
Adults (60+) (7%) were also highlighted as groups requiring
specialized activities or spaces.



Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 10

6T¢ abed

3. Survey Results

7: Open Text Question: Please share any other comments, suggestions or
ideas that could help shape the redevelopment of the Manor Leisure Centre.

The single most common suggestion was the addition of a Café / social space
(~27%), emphasizing its role as a family-friendly community hub and potential
revenue generator.

The need for a bigger, modernised gym & fitness spaces was cited by ~20%, with
demands including 24/7 access and improved ventilation.

Other key themes included Swimming pool improvements (~18%) such as
warmer water and family fun features, and improvements to Parking, access &
external facilities (~15%).

Approximately 10% of suggestions requested the reinstatement of spa / wellness
facilities (sauna, steam room, jacuzzi).



' Allianceleisure

Overview of Survey Results

Overall Sentiment and Modernisation

Public feedback demands significant modernisation, as the
current centre is widely considered outdated, cramped, and
poor value for money compared to alternatives. Despite these
concerns, engagement was high. Overall sentiment is
supportive of a project that would spearhead a comprehensive
refurbishment to meet modern standards of quality,
cleanliness, and accessibility.

Primary Barriers to Participation

Usage is significantly constrained by poor and outdated
facilities (28%) and high membership costs relative to quality
(22%). Other major barriers include the small, overcrowded
gym (18%) and persistent issues with pool temperature and
restricted public timetables (15%).

Top General Facility Priorities
Core facility upgrades are prioritized, led by the need for

modernised, accessible swimming facilities (17%) and improved

changing rooms and toilets (16%). Users also strongly
requested a refurbished gym with better equipment (12%) and
improved parking and site access (10%).

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 11

Niche Community and Outdoor Sports

Specific community groups require support, particularly the
Whittlesey Rifle Club (18.6% of open text priorities) and the
Whittlesey Warriors Netball Club (10%). There is a strong desire
and demand for resurfacing the Netball and Tennis Courts
(13.7%) and improving accessibility for disabled users (12%).

Social and Wellness Demands

The single most common suggestion was the addition of a
Café/social space (27%) to function as a family-friendly
community hub. There is also strong demand for reintroducing
spa and wellness amenities, such as a sauna, steam room, and
relaxation facilities (10% of suggestions), to broaden appeal.






Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 13

2ze abed

4. Stakeholder Engagement
15 September 2025

Attendees:

Alliance Leisure, Fenland Council , Rifle Club, Friends of Manor, Disabled Group , Local Clergy and Social Dance Club Chair, Whittlesey

Manor Dolphins Swim Club, March Swim Club, COPS - Swimming Club.

Preserving and Enhancing Niche Facilities (Rifle Club and
Swimming)

There was a strong sentiment among existing clubs to ensure their
highly specific needs were met in the new design. The Rifle Club
emphasised the need for power in the shooting area for
computers/machines, security doors, separate IT, and provisions for
Paralympic access.

Similarly, the competitive swim clubs (Whittlesey Manor Dolphins,
March Swim Club, and COPS) focused on retaining starting blocks,
ensuring dedicated storage for equipment (floats, timing pads), and
suitable lighting for galas.

Addressing Accessibility and Safety

A major focus was placed on improving accessibility across the site.
The need for Wheelchair accessibility for all areas was noted by the
Rifle Club, alongside specific mentions of disabled group provisions

like a pool pod (from the Fenhands group). Safety around the site
was also discussed, including external CCTV coverage (for car park,
play/skatepark), lighting for walkways, and necessary safeguarding
specifications for changing cubicles during galas.

Operational and Logistical Concerns

Stakeholders raised practical logistical issues related to the
construction and operation of the new facility. This included
concerns over parking for galas (with a need to retain field access
for overflow parking), the requirement for an accessible toilet off the
corridor rather than the clubroom for privacy and hygiene, and the
need to relocate the skatepark prior to the main works.

There was also a notable request to bring two existing changing
rooms back into use for gym relocation during the build.



Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 14

gz abed

4. Stakeholder Engagement

Operational Preferences and Technology

Freedom Leisure provided clear preferences for operating the new
facility. They favoured the Life Fithess brand for gym equipment over
the currently used Techno. For the life support system, Lynxsight
was the preferred supplier. They also expressed a preference for
padlocks on lockers and using the Gladstone system (Omega) for
access gates.

Swimming Pool and Competition Readiness

The discussion included specific technical requirements for the
pool to support high-level competitive use, indicating an intent to
host Level 3 competitions. Operational storage was a concern,
specifically the need for adequate storage for pool equipment.
There was also a question regarding the retention of feature walls in
the pool hall and confirmation that contractors are investigating a
Hydrolyser preference for the swim pool.

Development Opportunities and Future Amenities

The operator and Council explored potential revenue-generating
additions and upgrades. These included introducing soft play and
ensuring the gym size accommodates latent demand.
Consideration was given to the external layout, specifically the
potential for Padel courts to be moved adjacent to the building.

Construction Logistics and Site Preparation

Several actions were noted to prepare the site for the main
construction works. This includes confirming that Fenland District
Council will organise the gym kit move and that the Skatepark
relocation must occur prior to the main works. Additionally, two
existing changing rooms need to be remediated (brought back into
use) to allow for the gym relocation during the construction period.
The creation of a new play zone adjacent to the tennis courts is also
planned for early next year through to March.






. AlliancelLeisure Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 16

5. Summary of Public Engagement Sessions

The public engagement sessions were conducted during September 2025 & October. There were four public engagement sessions in
total, split equally between two groups of current users of the facility and two groups of non-users, plus a drop-in session at the
market square and Manor Leisure Centre. In total, 12 people attended the four groups, with 70 people attending the drop-in session.
The attendance featured an even split between genders and a good range of ages. All focus group sessions were held online and
lasted approximately 60 minutes. The drop-in session held face-to-face discussions with the public, elected members and user
groups. The focus group sessions were conducted by Active Insight Directors Julie Allen, Mike Hill and Dave Monkhouse, the drop-in
session was conducted by Fenland DC representatives and Alliance Leisure.

Activity Levels and Importance of Wellbeing

Participants highlighted that wellbeing is supported by accessible,
comfortable, and inviting spaces that facilitate both physical activity and
social connection.

* Social Role: Social interaction was deemed vital for mental well-being,
with activities like netball clubs or group walks considered crucial.

« Community Hub: For some, the centre already serves as a community
hub, fostering a sense of belonging that enhances overall mental health.

* Welcoming Environment: Participants emphasised the importance of
well-lit, welcoming, and inclusive facilities that encourage confidence,
especially for new users. Visits were often valued as enjoyable "treats,"
essential for maintaining mental and physical health




' Allianceleisure

5.1 Summary of Public Engagement Focus Group Sessions

Barriers to Use
Focus group participants identified several significant

barriers that discourage regular use of the existing facilities:

* Childcare: The lack of a creche was mentioned, making
it difficult for young parents to participate confidently.

« Activity Timetables: Limited Group Exercise (GX)
classes, particularly on evenings and weekends, restricts
access for working or busy families.

« Parking and Social Space: Parking difficulties limit
accessibility during peak times, and the absence of a
café or social area was repeatedly mentioned as a
deterrent for attendees who wished to stay longer and
socialise.

» Physical Condition: Frustration was expressed over the
current physical condition of the centre’s sports courts
and surfaces, with attendees emphasising the need for
upgrades and future-proofing, especially for tennis and
netball.

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 17

Desired Additional Facilities

Participants called for a comprehensive upgrade to create a
modern, brighter, and more welcoming leisure centre. Key
facilities suggested included:

« Social & Support Infrastructure: A creche or childcare
facility and a café or social area to encourage longer stays
and facilitate community socialising were highly requested.

» Core Upgrades: The need for modern, clean, and upgraded
showers and changing areas to improve hygiene and
comfort was emphasised, with most attendees at the face-
to-face sessions pleased to see the changing village
approach for swimming, with less than 5% expressing a
dislike for that approach.

* New Activities & Spaces: Suggestions included outdoor
sports courts (tennis and padel courts) with future-proofed
surfaces, multi-purpose sports halls (for gymnastics, dance,
etc.), and the addition of climbing or bouldering walls to
diversify activities.

« Community Space: Participants requested larger
community halls suitable for weddings and larger groups,
alongside versatile indoor spaces for a broad range of
community and sporting activities.



‘ AllianceLeisure Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 18

5.2 Summary of Public Engagement Focus Group Sessions

Additional Health-Related Services
Participants expressed strong interest in expanding support
beyond traditional fitness to include holistic health services:

« Health Assessments: Requests were made for fitness
assessments (like Bodytrax), health MOTs, and health
screening sessions.

* Holistic Support: Participants desired facilities for
physiotherapy, reflexology, or alternative therapies.

* Education and Mental Health: Suggested workshops
included nutrition education (e.g., healthy eating
programmes), health promotion, and access to counselling
and mental health support services within the centre.



' Allianceleisure

5.3 Drop-in Session - Feedback on the design.

Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Summary

Overall feedback on the proposals for Maor Leisure
Centre was strongly positive, with many attendees
expressing enthusiasm about the benefits to the local
community. There was particular interest in the future of
the swimming pool and repeated questions regarding
funding sources. Opinions on the proposed changing
village were mixed at earlier stages; however:

Pool Changing Rooms — The vast majority of the local
community who attended are knowledgeable and
satisfied about the swimming pool changing village
approach. This was particularly the case for families who
recognise the issues that the current split facilities mean
for parents of the opposite gender attending with
younger children. People were familiar with these
changing rooms in other facilities within
Cambridgeshire, but also in holiday resort swimming
pools and particularly Center Parcs in the UK.
Comments were made regarding:

*Cubicle height above the floor; these will match Sport
England guidance.

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 19

*Visibility of the changing facilities from poolside, the project
team will consider this possibility whilst being mindful of cost and
ventilation requirements.

*Potential for an all-gender private changing room; the
project team will consider this within the available space.

For clarity and reassurance, all individuals are afforded
privacy via:

1.Private cubicle showers.

2.Private changing cubicles, including family and two-person
options where additional space is required.

Additionally, the changing village approach will allow:
sImproved safeguarding, as families can change together.
*Reduced the likelihood of anti-social behaviour due to
private cubicles and higher footfall.

*Higher levels of cleanliness and simpler cleaning processes,
regardless of staff gender.

*Increased passive supervision, discouraging vandalism or
inappropriate behaviour.



' AllianceLeisure Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 20

5.3 Drop-in Session - Feedback on the design.

*Sauna Room - One consultee mentioned adding a sauna. Other feedback included interest in car park access (with

Local authority facilities do not now offer this sort of facility a preferred one-way approach), access to toilets for

due to the cost of running, cleaning and maintenance Parkrun users, improved lighting, reassurance that the

compared with user numbers and the subsequent net cost building will be retained and upgraded rather than

of providing the facility. replaced, and opportunities for outdoor seating to
support community groups, dog walkers and pets. Some

The facility layout has been reviewed by Sport England’s comments queried the distance between the kitchen and

facility team and the technical facility officer from Swim bar. Renewable solutions such as solar panels and server

England, with no concerns raised. banks supporting pool heating were positively received






' Allianceleisure

6. Overview of Public Engagement

Importance of Wellbeing and Social Connection - Participants
consistently emphasised that wellbeing requires spaces that are
accessible, comfortable, and inviting.

The centre is valued as a community hub that fosters a sense of
belonging, with social interaction from activities like netball or
group walks deemed crucial for mental wellbeing. Visits are
considered enjoyable "treats" essential for maintaining health.

Primary Barriers Restricting Use - Major deterrents identified

included practical and facility-based issues:

« Parking difficulties during peak times and the absence of a
café or social area discouraged attendees from staying
longer.

» Lack of a creche or childcare facilities made confident
participation difficult for young parents.

« Limited Group Exercise (GX) classes in the evenings and
weekends have restricted access for working families.

* Frustration was expressed over the poor physical condition of
the sports courts and surfaces, particularly for tennis and
netball, necessitating upgrades.

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 22

Desired New Facilities and Services The groups called for a
comprehensive upgrade resulting in a modern and brighter
centre. Key requests included:

« Adding a créche/childcare facility and a café/social area to
encourage longer visits and community socialising.

* Modern, clean, and upgraded showers and changing areas.

* Introducing diverse activities like climbing or bouldering
walls, and outdoor facilities such as Padel courts.

* Integrating holistic health support, such as fitness
assessments (like Bodytrax), health MOTs, nutrition
education, and access to physiotherapy or mental health
support services.






' Allianceleisure

7. Key Findings and Themes

There is a strong, consistent public desire for significant investment, as
the current Manor Leisure Centre is widely considered outdated,
cramped, and poor value for money when compared to modern
alternatives. The primary barriers preventing greater use are the poor,
dirty, and outdated facilities (28%), alongside membership costs deemed
too high relative to the low quality (22%).

Users overwhelmingly prioritise substantial improvements to the main
amenities, demanding modernised and accessible swimming facilities
(17%) that include warmer water and better public timetables, alongside
the urgent need for improved changing rooms and toilets (16%). The gym
is criticised for being too small and lacking equipment, necessitating a
larger, modernised gym (20% of suggestions), ideally with 24/7 access.

A major finding is the need for the centre to evolve into a true
community destination, with the addition of a café/social space (27% of
suggestions) being the single most common free-text request to
encourage longer visits and social interaction. There is also suggestions
for integrating health services, physiotherapy or mental health support.
Wellness amenities (10% of suggestions).

Fenland DC - The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report — Page 24

Specific local clubs require facility improvements; the Rifle Club's
preservation and enhancement (18.6% of specific priorities) and the
urgent resurfacing of Netball and Tennis Courts (13.7%) are key concerns
to enable local teams, like the Whittlesey Warriors, to host home
matches.

Crucially, disabled people and those with accessibility needs (12%) are
the most cited group requiring better support, including equitable
pricing, improved physical access, and specific equipment like a pool
pod.

Operational planning for the move to the new facility involves significant
logistics. Logistical actions include confirming the Skatepark relocation
prior to main works and remediating existing changing rooms for
temporary gym use, while swimming clubs requested a 3-month delay to
construction to mitigate financial deficits. External safety is also a
concern, requiring improved parking, lighting for walkways, and external
CCTV coverage.



This page is intentionally left blank



No:

Agendaltem , Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Agenda Item 10

Commiittee: Cabinet

Date:

7 November 2025

Report Title: Wisbech High Street Update

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

Purpose / Summary

To provide Cabinet with a monthly update regarding the ongoing construction
work at 24 High Street, Wisbech and the pre-construction design and planning
work for 11-12 High Street, Wisbech.

Key Issues

24 High Street Construction progress

The building is now completed, with some minor snagging and painting
required to the shop window outstanding.

Unfortunately Building Control has identified that the bin store to the rear of
the building must not have a keypad lock as designed and requires a typical
key approach. This has meant that a new door has been ordered — with a
lead time of approximately 5 weeks, as it is a specialist fire prevention piece.
Once the door is in place, Building Control certification will be completed, and
the building will then be accepted by the Council with practical completion
undertaken.

The Council expects to hold an official completion ceremony in November.
Once there is certainty regarding the necessary Certification, a date will be
arranged.

11-12 High Street, Wisbech

The Council’s appointed architects have been commissioned and are working
on the revised design for the new building, the procurement pack and taking
the new design through the planning process and on to the procurement
stage.

The current programme for this work is for a procurement process (subject to
planning consent) to have been completed by 4 April 2026, for an FDC
Cabinet recommendation and Council decision to proceed into construction in
the following 4 weeks. This is assuming that the cost of any build is within
FDC'’s expected affordability envelope.

At present a quantity surveyor calculated cost for the revised building scope
puts it at £2.9m.

The Council is awaiting feedback from National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF)
regarding the overall, pre-2020 Wisbech High Street NLHF project. NLHF are
considering formally re-starting the Wisbech High Street grant process, which

Page 235



will then open up the originally planned £1m grant funding to support the
development of 11-12 High Street.

3 Recommendations
3.1 That Cabinet notes the report.

Wards Affected Medworth ward

Forward Plan KEY21APR22/01

Reference

Portfolio Holders Clir Chris Seaton  Portfolio Holder for Social Mobility

and Heritage
Clir Chris Boden Leader of the Council and Portfolio
Holder for Finance

Report Originator Phil Hughes Head of Service
Contact Officers Phil Hughes Head of Service
Mark Greenwood Head of Service
Paul Medd Chief Executive

Peter Catchpole Corporate Director and S151 Officer

Background Papers Previous monthly Cabinet reports regarding Wisbech
High Street

July 2022 Cabinet and Council reports regarding 24 High
Street, Wisbech

June 2025 Cabinet papers regarding the Fenland Inspire!
project and 11-12 High Street, Wisbech

Page 236



Agendgytem, 11

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

DRAFT 6 MONTH CABINET FORWARD PLAN -

Updated 30 October 2025
Fenland District Council

(For any queries, please refer to the published forward plan)

CABINET
CABINET ITEMS LEAD PORTFOLIO
DATE HOLDER
15 Dec 2025 | 1. Draft Business Plan 2026/27 Clir Boden
2. Draft Budget & MTFS 2026/27 ClIr Boden
3. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update Cllr Boden
4. Pride In Place Funding Allocation Clir Boden
5. Planning Enforcement Policy ClIr Laws
6. Wisbech High Street Update ClIr Seaton
Clir Hoy
ClIr Tierney
7. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan Clir Boden
26 January 1. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update Clir Boden
2026 2. Fees and Charges Clir Boden
3. Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) Update Clir Boden
Cllr French
4. Air Quality Update, Wisbech Clir Wallwork
ClIr Imafidon
5. Grounds Maintenance Contract Cllr French
6. Wisbech High Street Update ClIr Seaton
Clir Hoy
ClIr Tierney
7. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan Clir Boden
23 February | 1. Business Plan 2026/27 Clir Boden
2026 2. Budget & MTFS 2026/27 ClIr Boden
3. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update Cllr Boden
4. RECAP Waste Strategy ClIr Tierney
5. Wisbech High Street Update ClIr Seaton
Clir Hoy
ClIr Tierney
6. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan Clir Boden
23 March 1. Investment Board Update & review of the Clir Boden
2026 Commercial & Investment Strategy Clir Tierney
ClIr Imafidon
2. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update Cllr Boden
3. Wisbech High Street Update Clir Seaton
Clir Hoy
CliIr Tierney
4. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan ClIr Boden
27 April 2026 | 1. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update Clir Boden
2. Fenland Inspire! Project — 3G Artificial Turf Pitches Cllr Seaton
3. Wisbech High Street Update ClIr Seaton
Clir Hoy
ClIr Tierney
4. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan Clir Boden

Page 237



CABINET ITEMS LEAD PORTFOLIO
DATE HOLDER
18 May 2026 | 1. Fenland Inspire! Projects Update ClIr Boden
2. Wisbech High Street Update ClIr Seaton
Clir Hoy
ClIr Tierney
3. Cabinet Draft Forward Plan Clir Boden

TBC = To be confirmed

Page 238




Agenda Iltem 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	5 Fenland Inspire! - Wisbech Park Orchard
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues and Background
	3 Recommendations
	4 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES
	5 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
	6 IMPLICATIONS
	7 CONSULTATION
	8 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	9 IMPLICATIONS

	6 Extension of the Norfolk Street Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO)
	7 Acceptance of £1.5m Pride in Place Impact Fund Allocation
	8 FDC Endorsement of Plan for Neighbourhoods Regeneration Plan for Wisbech
	P4N Town Board Regeneration Plan Endorsement DRAFT - 15.10.25
	Cover sheet:
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues
	3 Recommendations

	Report:
	1 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES
	2 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
	3 CONSULTATION
	4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	5 IMPLICATIONS
	6 APPENDICES


	Appendix a) Plan For Neighbourhoods Prospectus
	Appendix b) Draft Wisbech Regeneration Plan 22 October
	Appendix c) High_Streets_Task_Force_report_2023
	Appendix d) I_Love_Wisbech_consultation_findings_2019
	Appendix e) Wisbech_Growing_Fenland_report
	Contents
	Introduction
	A strategy that works across Fenland
	A mandate to be bold

	Wisbech – what residents and the data is saying
	A strong local centre
	An educational offer that needs support
	Low unemployment – but also low wages
	A mixed picture on the high street
	Some challenges with health
	A town that is taking the initiative

	“We’re a bit in-betweeny in terms of size.” – Wisbech resident
	“There’s no real night time economy” – Wisbech business owner
	Our key asks of the Combined Authority
	1. Provide immediate connectivity to key employment centres
	2. A Town Centre Improvement Initiative
	3. Support cohesion and community shared space
	4. Open up countryside access, and develop the Wisbech Country Park
	5. Develop a workplace health award scheme
	6. Focus on Tourism
	7. Repair Derelict Buildings
	8. Commercialisation of Wisbech Port

	1. Provide immediate connectivity to key employment centres
	2. A Town Centre Improvement Initiative
	Attractive Totem Signage to improve legibility
	Support a “digitally-enabled” town centre which can thrive in the era of online shopping

	3. Support cohesion and community shared space
	A cohesion programme, drawing on the example of Peterborough
	A public indoor space to bring the community together
	A continuation of public events

	4. Open up countryside access, and develop the Wisbech Country Park
	5. Develop a workplace health award scheme
	6. Focus on Tourism
	7. Repair Derelict Buildings
	8. Commercialisation of Wisbech Port
	What happens now?

	Appendix f) Plan_for_Neighbourhoods_survey_July_2025
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10

	Appendix g) Endorsement from MP Steve Barclay_Redacted

	9 Manor Leisure Centre - Fenland Inspire! Redevelopment Project Update
	071125 UPDATED Manor Leisure Centre Redevelopment Project Report (1)
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Overview
	3 Key Issues
	4 Financial concerns
	5 Recommendations
	6  BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES
	7 Redevelopment Proposal
	Appendix 1 – proposed redevelopment facility footprint
	8 Stakeholder, Community and Member Engagement
	9 Financial Assessment
	10 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
	11 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	12 IMPLICATIONS
	13 Appendix 1 – proposed redevelopment facility footprint
	14  Appendix 2 – Stakeholder, community and elected Members  Engagement report

	071125  Appendix 2 - Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report
	Slide 1: The Manor Leisure Centre Engagement Report.
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Survey Results
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: Stakeholder  Engagement
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: Public Engagement
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21: Overview of Public Engagement
	Slide 22
	Slide 23: Key Findings & Themes
	Slide 24


	10 Wisbech High Street Update
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues
	24 High Street Construction progress
	11-12 High Street, Wisbech
	3 Recommendations

	11 Draft 6 Month Cabinet Forward Plan
	13 Port Operations Update Report (Confidential)



